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This year was an important turning point for Mobily, in which the 
Company developed and articulated a new corporate strategy for growth 

to 2019 and beyond.
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Etihad Etisalat (Mobily) was established in 2004 by 
a consortium led by Etisalat, the UAE-based telecom 
conglomerate. The Company’s major shareholders 
are Etisalat Emirates Group (27.99%) and the General 
Organization for Social Insurance (11.85%). The remaining 
shares are owned by institutional and retail investors.

As the winning bidder for Saudi Arabia’s second GSM 
license in 2004, Mobily ended a monopoly in the wireless 
industry to provide mobile telcom services nationwide. After 
a six-month preparatory phase, it launched commercially 
in May 2005, acquiring over 1 million subscribers in its first 
90 days of operation. In 2006, the GSM Association named 
Mobily the fastest-growing mobile operator in the Middle 
East and North Africa. The same year, it launched 3.5G 
services, with 4G services introduced in 2011.

Mobily’s growth has been characterized by a series of 
significant strategic acquisitions. In 2008, it obtained 
approval from the Communication and Information 
Technology Commission (CITC) to acquire Bayanat al-Oula, 
a licensed data service provider, for SAR 1.5 billion. Later 

that year, it acquired an absolute majority stake in Zajil, 
the leading Saudi internet service provider. Mobily owns 
66% of the Saudi National Fiber Network (SNFN), one of 
the world’s largest fiber-optic networks. This enables the 
Company to rely on strong backhauling capacity, allowing 
it to offer its customers comprehensive communication, 
mobile and broadband services. 

Mobily’s network is composed of its own infrastructure 
as well as those of Bayanat al-Oula and SNFN. This is 
the Kingdom’s newest fiber-optic network, with access to 
all major cities and more than 32,000 km of roads. The 
network has been expanded to connect to neighboring 
countries including Yemen, the United Arab Emirates, 
Bahrain, Qatar, Kuwait and Jordan.

Mobily has been listed on Saudi Arabia’s Tadawul stock 
exchange since 2004. It has a share capital of SAR 7,700 
million, comprising 770 million shares of SAR 10.00 each, 
paid in full as at 31 December 2017. Total equity as at 
31 December 2017 was SAR 14.25 billion. Passionate

•  Relentless pursuit of excellence
•  Warm and engaging
•  A positive attitude to go the extra mile

Caring
•  Focused on you and your needs
•  Takes the long-term view and 

builds a great relationship
•  Clear and accountable 

Progressive
•  Self-assured and forward-looking
•  Experienced and dynamic
•  Driving toward Saudi Arabia’s future

Values

To be one of the most 
admired Saudi companies, 

creating superior value for our 
stakeholders

Vision

Vision and Values About Mobily 
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It is my pleasure to introduce Mobily’s Annual Report for 
the year ended 31 December 2017. It provides a summary 
of our performance and activities in a year that was 
characterized by the introduction of our new corporate 
strategy – RISE – which is explained in detail on the 
following pages.

Our economic environment
The macroeconomic environment remained challenging, 
with sustained low oil prices putting continued pressure on 
the GCC’s economies. Oil prices did, however, stabilize at a 
higher level than in 2016 and there was positive news that 
OPEC’s production cuts will remain in place in 2018. Deficit 
reduction measures in Saudi Arabia have already borne fruit 
and the outlook is promising. 

For now, we remain in a period of transition, with 
considerable pressure on consumer spending driven by 
reduced subsidies and the departure of a large number of 
expatriate workers from the market. Mobily is confident 
that the Saudi Government’s National Transformation Plan 
(NTP 2020) and Vision 2030 will create growth and we 
are pleased to be playing our part in the Kingdom’s exciting 
social and economic development.

Highlights in 2017
Milestone events in 2017 included the appointment of a 
new Chief Executive Officer (CEO) at the start of the year. 
Engr. Ahmed Abdelsalam AbouDoma has more than 24 
years’ international ICT and telecom experience and is a 
most welcome addition to the Mobily team.
 

Mobily was awarded a Unified License by the 
Communications and Information Technology Commission 
(CITC). The license runs until 2043 and will be important 
for our positioning as an operator providing a broader range 
of IT and telecom services. The Company completed its 
transition to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), a process that began in 2016. Our financial results 
for Q1 2017 were prepared in accordance with IFRS and 
achieved full compliance. 

A busy year also saw the acquisition of additional network 
spectrum from CITC. This 2x5 MHz block in the 1,800 MHz 
band will be paid for over a ten-year period. Available from 
2018, the additional spectrum will increase our network 
capacity, improve customer experience and help limit future 
Capex. In addition, we completed a series of three-year 
framework agreements with Nokia, Huawei and Ericsson. 
These will see Mobily renew a major portion of its mobile 
infrastructure, providing an advanced technology platform 
that will enable us to handle growing subscriber demand, 
while optimizing operating costs.

At the end of the year, we were pleased to announce the 
appointment of Engr. Abdullah Mohammed Al-Issa as Vice 
Chairman of the Board. Engr. Al-Issa will hold this position 
until the Board’s current term ends in December 2018 and 
we look forward to benefiting from his wise counsel and 
guidance. 

Our commitment to society
During the year, we continued to recognize the important 
role we play in the lives of our subscribers, employees 
and wider Saudi society. As a leading local corporate, we 
provided a wide range of professional opportunities to 
young and motivated Saudi nationals, thereby contributing 
directly to the Kingdom’s socioeconomic growth. We also 
played a prominent part in a variety of charitable and 
philanthropic programs, with a strong focus on orphan care 
and health issues. We are proud of the commitment shown 
by staff to our CSR initiatives and will continue to make 
active and positive social contributions in 2018. 

With thanks
I would like to express my personal gratitude to the Board 
of Directors for the robust and constructive support they 
continue to provide to Mobily. On behalf of the Board, 
I would like to place on record our gratitude to the 
Company’s senior management for the innovation and 
determination that they have shown in embarking on our 
new strategic pathway. I would, lastly, like to thank our 
shareholders for their ongoing trust and loyalty. We look 
ahead to 2018 with the confidence that we will achieve 
fundamental growth – and the aim of exceeding our 
stakeholders’ expectations.

Suliman Al Gwaiz  
Chairman of the BoardDuring the year, we continued to recognize 

the important role we play in the lives of our 
subscribers, employees and wider Saudi society.

Chairman’s Statement 
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REGAIN 
COMMERCIAL 

STRENGTH

R S EI

STRIVE TO GAIN 
AGILITY AND 
EFFICIENCY

IGNITE CUSTOMER 
EXPERIENCE AND 

DIGITAL EXCELLENCE

ENABLE 
WORLD-CLASS

EXECUTION

Mobily aims to become a strong and clearly 
differentiated brand. Within its operating 
environment, the Company will create a 
distinct segment focused on offering value 
propositions to customers. By exploiting 
a revamped and relevant distribution 
network, it will achieve growth that directly 
supports Saudi Arabia’s transformation 
agenda.

Mobily’s simplified and agile IT systems 
will enable the development of a future-
proof network that allows greater levels of 
operational efficiency and the optimization 
of its resources. 

Mobily will deliver an enhanced and 
seamless customer experience that 
includes customer care, omnichannel and 
digital platforms. A full digital offer will 
be available across customer interaction 
points. 

Mobily’s leading corporate culture and 
employee engagement model will facilitate 
an improved organizational structure 
and enhance its capabilities. Customer-
centric end-to-end processes within the 
Company will strengthen and empower its 
governance architecture. 

Rising to the Challenge 
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Mobily’s modernized and industry-leading network is 
supported by corporate headquarters in Riyadh and covers 
subscribers across the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. It provides 
99.42% of the population with access to 2G, 97% to 3G 
and 80% to 4G. The Company’s Metropolitan and Fiber-
to-the-Home (FTTH) network extends for 32,000 km, 
encompassing various major Saudi cities. 

State-of-the-art data centers are located in Riyadh, Dammam 
and Jeddah, with Mobily the only hosted managed services 
provider in the Middle East to have achieved a Tier IV 
Certification for a Constructed Facility (Malga 2 in Riyadh). 
The facility is one of just 9 of its class globally and is the first 
and only such facility in Asia, Africa and the Middle East. 

Mobily’s total retail footprint comprises 587 outlets (59 
flagship stores, 251 fully branded outlets and 277 modern 
trade outlets) and more than 3,900 third-party retailers.

Mobily’s International Gateway is operated in partnership 
with a range of global players, supported by overland, 
submarine and terrestrial cables. International Gateway 
destinations include Egypt, Jordan, Iraq, Kuwait, Bahrain, 
Qatar, Yemen, India, Singapore, the wider Asia Pacific region, 
the USA and Europe.

Mobily National Fiber Network
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January

• Mobily was officially honored for its support of the Sanad 
Children’s Cancer Support Association

• Mobily launched the #1100_أنا campaign to develop new 
concepts in customer service and deliver the 

 highest-quality service to customers
• The Governor of the Communications and Information 

Technology Commission (CITC) honored Mobily for its 
participation in the Stimulation of Investments and ICT 
Trends Forum

February

• Mobily announced the issuance of a Unified License to 
provide a full range of telecom services 

• Mobily announced the conclusion of a new technical 
services and support agreement with Etisalat Group

• HH Prince Khalid Al Faisal honored Mobily for being 
ranked among the Saudi Best 100 Brands Awards 

• A group of Saudi banks confirmed their confidence in 
Mobily with a SAR 7.9 billion refinancing facility 

March

• Mobily and Ericsson signed an agreement for partnering 
on the Company’s Central Office Transformation program

• Mobily signed an agreement with Cisco to modernize the 
Enterprise and Data Center networks

• The Company signed a cooperation agreement with the 
Al Madina Al Munawarah Development Authority

April

• The Royal Commission of Yanbu, in collaboration with 
Bayanat Co, a subsidiary of Mobily, inaugurated Saudi 
Arabia’s first ‘smart city’ at Yanbu

May

• Engr. Maziad Alharbi was awarded ‘Operator CTO of the 
Year’ at the 5G MENA Awards 2017

• Mobily was awarded ‘Best Use of Influencer’ at the MENA 
Festival of Media 

• Princess Reema Bint Talal Bin Abdulaziz honored Mobily 
for its technical sponsorship of the Saudi Women 
Exhibition

June

• Mobily acquired a 2x5 MHz block in the 1,800 MHz 
band through its participation in the spectrum auction 
conducted by CITC 

• During the Holy Month of Ramadan, Mobily hosted Iftar 
for the Takaful Charity Association for Orphan Care in 
Al Madinah Al Munawara, the Ekhaa Charity Association 
for Orphan Care in Khobar, the Aaba Charity Association 
for Orphan Care in Asir region and the Ensan Charity 
Committee for Orphan Care in Riyadh

• Mobily launched its Award for Volunteer Work 
 in the Holy Month جائزة_موبايلي_لالعمال_التطوعية#
of Ramadan, with the aim of encouraging a volunteer 
culture and contributing to achieving the Kingdom’s 
vision for an active society

July

• Mobily enhanced its international network connectivity by 
launching a submarine cable for Asia, Africa and Europe, 
totalling 25,000 km in length

August

• HH Prince Khalid Al Faisal, Advisor to the Custodian of 
the Two Holy Mosques, Prince of Makkah and Chairman 
of the Central Hajj Committee, honored Mobily for its 
strategic sponsorship of the National Awareness Media 
Campaign for the Guests of Al-Rahman

September

• Mobily Investor Relations was nominated among three 
companies for Most Improved IR Team in the Middle East 
2017 at the MEIRA Awards, due to improved transparency 
and disclosure with the shareholders

• Mr. Tareq Alangari was nominated for Best Investor 
Relations Professional in Saudi Arabia 2017 at the MEIRA 
Awards

October

• Mobily conducted a Leadership roadshow for its 
employees in the Kingdom’s major cities of Riyadh, 
Jeddah and Dammam

• The Company introduced a new composition and 
structure of its leadership, effective from December 2017, 
to enable the successful implementation of the RISE 
strategy

Achievements and Awards 
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35.2%
Individual

64.8%
Corporate/
institutional

As at 31 December 2017, Mobily had a total of 156,345 
shareholders. Corporate and institutional investors 
accounted for 64.8% of total share ownership, with 

individual or retail investors holding 35.2% of shares. A 
graphic summary of Mobily’s shareholding is shown below.

International shareholders

•  Emirates Telecom Corporation
•  Merrill Lynch International
•  Parametric P. Associates
•  Goldman Sachs Intl
•  Deutsche Bank Ag
•  JP Morgan Chase & Co
•  ADCB Fund Management Sarl
•  BlackRock

Key announcements

Mobily announced the resignation of its CEO and the 
appointment of a new CEO (9 January 2017)
Mobily announced the resignation of Mr. Ahmad Farroukh 
as CEO, with the Board of Directors appointing Engr. 
Ahmed Abdelsalam AbouDoma as CEO with immediate 
effect. Engr. Ahmed has extensive ICT and telecom 
experience, with more than 24 years in the sector, including 
the role of CEO at companies where he led successful 
expansion. 

Mobily announced the signature of a SAR 7.9 billion 
refinancing facility with a group of Saudi banks
(1 February 2017)
Mobily announced the conclusion of a SAR 7.9 billion 
refinancing facility with a group of Saudi banks, covering a 
significant portion of its debt. The new facility has a seven-
year maturity with a two-year grace period and a five-year 
repayment period. This allows the Company to reprofile 
its debt in a manner more consistent with its cash-flow 
generation and release refinancing risk over the medium 
and long term. The participating banks were National 
Commercial Bank, Banque Saudi Fransi, Samba Financial 
Group, Saudi British Bank, Riyadh Bank and Al-Rajhi Bank. 

Mobily announced the award of a Unified License to provide 
all telecommunications services (22 February 2017)
The Communications and Information Technology 
Commission (CITC) awarded Mobily a Unified License to 
provide all licensed telecommunication services, including 
fixed-line voice services and fixed internet, against a fee of 

SAR 5 million. The Unified License is valid until 21 October 
2043. Mobily believes the Unified License will have a 
positive impact on the business, improving its competitive 
position and enabling the provision of convergent offers to 
customers. 

Mobily announced the progress of its transition to IFRS 
reporting standards (30 March 2017)
The Company reached the final phase of its transition to 
adopting International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
and was therefore able to prepare its Q1 2017 financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS. 

Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting confirmed 
shareholder approval of Etisalat Group technical services 
and support agreement (4 June 2017)
Shareholders at the Extraordinary General Assembly 
Meeting approved a new technical services and support 
agreement with Etisalat Group.

Mobily announced the acquisition of additional network 
spectrum (8 June 2017)
Mobily successfully acquired a 2x5 MHz block in the 
1,800 MHz band through its participation in the auction 
conducted by CITC in May 2017. The value of the acquired 
additional spectrum was SAR 422 million, with 30% paid 
in 2017 and the remaining installments paid annually over 
a ten-year period. The acquisition is funded by Mobily’s 
existing cash flows and available facilities. The additional 
spectrum is available from 2018, allowing increased network 
capacity, improving the customer experience and containing 
future Capex. 

Mobily shareholders by type

Investors
by type

Investor type No. of investors No. of shares held Ownership percentage
Corporate / institutional 183 498,714,391 64.8%
Individual / retail 156,162 271,285,609 35.2%
Total 156,345 770,000,000 100%

Nationality
Saudi 155,428 535,884,844 69.6%
Other 917 234,115,156 30.4%
Total 156,345 770,000,000 100%

Size of ownership (no. of shares held) No. of investors Ownership percentage
More than 1,000,000 54 74.8%
500,000 – 999,999 37 3.3%
100,000 – 499,999 310 8.1%
50,000 – 99,999 292 2.5%
10,000 – 49,999 2,139 5.6%
5,000 – 9,999 1,897 1.6%
1,000 – 4,999 7,664 2.1%
Fewer than 1,000 143,952 2%
Total 156,345 100%

Shareholder Information and Key Announcements 
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Mobily announced the conclusion of framework agreements 
with Nokia, Huawei and Ericsson (14 August 2017)
The Company signed 3 three-year framework agreements 
with Nokia, Huawei and Ericsson to modernize its mobile 
network. The aggregate amount of the agreements is SAR 
2.4 billion over the three-year period, which will be funded 
by Mobily’s cash flows and available facilities. These 
agreements will enable the Company to renew a significant 
portion of its mobile infrastructure, as well as to expand 
it, providing advanced technology to handle current and 
future customer needs. The framework agreements will also 
optimize future network capital and Opex. 

Mobily announced the appointment of a Vice Chairman of 
the Board of Directors (14 December 2017)
The Board of Directors appointed Engr. Abdullah 
Mohammed Al-Issa (independent member) as Vice 
Chairman of the Board, ‘until its current term ends on 1 
December 2018’ 
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This year was an important turning point for Mobily, in which 
the Company developed and articulated a new corporate 
strategy for growth to 2019 and beyond. The strategy aims 
to upgrade Mobily’s infrastructure from a strategic, technical, 
operational and human capital perspective. In a challenging 
marketplace, we now have a clear set of objectives, which will 
start being realized in 2018. Work has begun in earnest; both 
management and staff have shown a great deal of passion and 
commitment for a process that is still in its infancy. 

Mobily’s marketplace
Several important developments in the Saudi telecom market 
had a direct impact on the Kingdom’s operators. Regulatory 
challenges included various Customer Protection Rights (CPR) 
measures. These included limits on outgoing call rates for 15 
countries, as well as new rules on Fair Usage Policies (FUP) for 
unlimited data packages, in favor of subscribers. In October, 
the CITC announced the approval of substantial cuts to local 
voice call termination rates across mobile networks, from 
SAR 0.10 to SAR 0.055, which will have a negative impact 
on interconnection termination rate income for all three Saudi 
operators. In addition, a regulatory 2-SIM limit was introduced 
for non-Saudi mobile subscribers. 

Within this challenging environment, Mobily continued to 
realize success. The Company acquired new spectrum in the 
form of a 2x5 MHz block in the 1,800 MHz band, awarded by 
the CITC through auction for the first time in the Kingdom’s 
telecom history. In addition, we have participated in a range 
of discussion papers and engagements with the CITC and 
the government, with the mutual objective of fulfilling the 
development goals of our sector.

The RISE strategy
In light of challenges within our marketplace, Mobily required 
a fresh new approach to growth. The pillars of RISE are to 
Regain commercial strength, Ignite customer experience 
and digital excellence, Strive to gain agility and efficiency 
and Enable world-class execution. This overarching strategic 

program is built on an unbreakable commitment to customer 
experience, a faster and more effective network infrastructure, 
improved and efficient workstreams and a level of operating 
agility that will be unrivalled by our peers.

Ultimately, Mobily seeks to attain profitable growth and 
RISE will be the foundation of that achievement. Customer 
satisfaction and the proactive development of our workforce 
will be at the heart of this process. In terms of our existing 
infrastructure and asset base, the Company continues to 
find innovative solutions for reducing capital and operating 
expenditure, while at the same time monetizing assets and 
programs that have received heavy investment over the years. 
The aim of RISE is to deliver long-term and sustainable 
growth, which is why we wasted no time in rolling the 
program out in 2017. The RISE strategy is explained in more 
detail by the following chapters, where its impact on our day-
to-day operations is already apparent.

Improved human capital
We remain dedicated to the development of our employees 
at all levels. Our team is instrumental to our success and 
Mobily plays an important role in providing opportunities for 
Saudi Arabia’s young and talented recruitment pool. In 2017, 
we improved our Saudisation rate to 80%, maintaining our 
platinum-level rating. In addition, we successfully implemented 
a structural reorganization of the Company’s human resources, 
delivered leadership assessment and development programs 
and revised our HR practices. 

As part of RISE, we focused our efforts on creating 
opportunities for Saudi graduates, with the increasingly 
popular Mobily Elite scheme increasing considerably by 
number of candidates, 28 of whom were young Saudi women. 
Mobily presents highly attractive opportunities to ambitious 
young Saudi men and women and we are proud of our role in 
developing careers for the next generation of business leaders.

A view to 2018
As in 2017, we will continue to strengthen our foundations 
in the year ahead. We are creating a new position for the 
Mobily brand, while tailoring value propositions to subscribers. 
Customer care will remain our highest priority as we improve 
the performance of our call centers, digital touchpoints and 
physical points of sale. Efficiency remains at the heart of 
our operating philosophy, at every level of the organization, 
and we are excited by the enhancements planned for our 
IT and network infrastructure, in partnership with blue-chip 
international vendors.

It remains for me to thank Mobily’s staff – and our customers 
– for their continued loyalty and passion for our products 
and services. We look forward to continuing the RISE journey 
together. 

Eng. Ahmed Abdelsalam AbouDoma
Chief Executive Officer

The strategy aims to upgrade Mobily’s 
infrastructure from a strategic, technical, 
operational and human capital perspective.

CEO’s Message 
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2017 saw the introduction of a new corporate strategy, in the 
form of RISE. RISE follows four overarching strategic tracks: to 
regain commercial strength (R); to ignite customer experience 
and digital excellence (I); to strive to gain agility and efficiency 
(S); and to enable world-class execution (E). 

To achieve the objectives of RISE, Mobily has clarified its 
fundamental purpose, which is anchored around a set of 
customer-oriented priorities that distinguish it from the 
competition. The building blocks for Mobily’s purpose are 
threefold:

• Our Saudi identity, based on the pride, admiration and 
positive association that the Kingdom’s consumers have 
with leading Saudi brands. Mobily is proud to be one 
such brand

• A better choice, giving consumers the choice of superior 
services and products. Mobily is the Saudi telecom 
market’s original challenger brand

• A better life, with Mobily’s services both functionally and 
emotionally vital to consumers. By providing a superior 
mobile and internet offer, Mobily has a meaningful 
impact on subscribers’ lives

RISE will ultimately drive a turnaround at Mobily. Our strategic 
priorities are aimed at improving our brand, better segmenting 
our customers, revamping our product offering and enhancing 
our distribution network. This will result in a strong and 
meaningfully differentiated brand promise, clear and distinct 
segments focused on products and services, and a superior 
distribution architecture. 

By overhauling our customer service model, we will deliver 
a segmented and personalized Customer Experience (CEX), 
supported by fully digitalized customer interactions. Extensive 
IT and network enhancements will create a more agile and 
streamlined IT infrastructure and a future-proof network with 
the capacity to meet the challenges and opportunities ahead. 
By refreshing our internal culture and capabilities, Mobily will 
achieve a leadership position that attracts talent, streamlines 
operational processes and ensures balanced governance. 

The path ahead
RISE’s initiatives will be executed through a phased approach, 
which began in 2017:

2017-2018
With the Company ‘back on track’, we began strengthening 
our foundations. This is being achieved by creating a new 
position for a more powerful brand and tailoring value 
propositions for all subscriber types. We have made major 
improvements to our call centers and are enhancing our sales 
and distribution network by upgrading our owned shops and 
franchises, as well as revamping our indirect and wholesale 
channels. A culture of efficiency within Mobily will lead to an 
improved operating model, while the transformation of our 
IT infrastructure will enhance agility and increase capacity for 
growth.

2018-2019
From 2018 to 2019, we will focus on impressing our 
subscribers by achieving excellence in customer experience. 
Customer-centric business processes will enhance the 

customer journey, supported by a seamless omnichannel 
experience. This experience will be further improved by the 
background of a simplified IT landscape and a digital-first 
mindset, which will have a basis in strong and informed 
business intelligence and market analytics.
 
2019 and beyond
Mobily’s future is to be one of the most admired Saudi 
companies, creating superior value for stakeholders. This will 
be achieved by delivering world-class performance. Mobily 
will lead the market by being the first to introduce innovative 
new products and services, while achieving a fair share in 
higher-end segments. The Company will provide a superior 
digital offering and a future-proof network, ranking among the 
Kingdom’s most sought-after employers with a lean asset base 
that is fully monetized. 

Leading Customer Experience

Revamped sales 
and distribution

Agile IT Future-proof
network

Customer care
performance

Appealing value
propositions

Procurement
agility 

and spend
optimization

Stronger operating model (simplified organization and streamlined processes), capabilities and culture

New positioning & strengthened brand

Enhanced
operational
efficiency

(cost 
optimization; 

assets 
monetization)

Key Performance Indicators
Mobily has a set of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to measure success in achieving our strategic objectives.

Regain commercial
strength

Ignite customer experience 
and digital excellence

Strive to gain agility and 
efficiency

Enable world-class 
execution

Strong, meaningfully 
differentiated brand

Clear and distinct 
segment-focused value 
propositions

Revamped and relevant 
distribution network

Support Saudi Arabia’s 
transformation agenda

Enhanced and seamless 
customer experience 
(including customer care, 
omnichannel, digital)

Fully digital across all 
customer interactions

Simplified and agile IT 
systems

Future-proof network

Optimized resources

Leading culture and 
employee engagement

Improved organization and 
capabilities

Customer-centric end-to-end 
processes with strong yet 
empowered governance

Strategy and KPIs 
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Our objectives in 2017 were to refinance a significant amount 
of our debt to release the liquidity wall of Q1 2017, continue 
deploying our deleveraging strategy to create additional 
flexibility for the business, continue increasing the efficiency 
of our organization to maintain a healthy EBITDA margin in a 
challenging market environment and optimize the efficiency of 
our investments through the acquisition of additional spectrum 
and upgrades to our network. I am pleased to report that 
these objectives were satisfactorily met. The year also marked 
the successful implementation of significant finance projects, 
including preparation for the introduction of VAT and the 
transition from SOCPA reporting standards to IFRS.

Refinancing and deleveraging 
In February, we successfully concluded a SAR 7.9 billion 
refinancing facility with a group of Saudi banks. The facility 
has a seven-year maturity and two-year grace period. It 
has allowed Mobily to release the pressure on its financial 
obligations, reprofile its debt in a manner consistent with its 
cash-flow generation and mitigate any refinancing risk in the 
short and medium term. This was the final milestone in our 
financial turnaround and stabilization of the balance sheet. 

During 2017, we continued our focus on deleveraging the 
business. We were able to generate an organic cash flow (cash 
flow after interest) of SAR 1.3 billion, reducing our net debt 
by the same amount and reaching a net debt to EBITDA ratio 
of 3.5x at year end. Such deleveraging will remain among our 
priorities going forward, allowing us to gradually recover our 
strategic flexibility and support the delivery of our corporate 
objectives. 

Cost-efficiency and financial performance
2017 was a challenging year from a macroeconomic, regulatory 
and sector perspective. The Saudi telecom sector experienced 
a number of changes, which, along with the growing maturity 
of the industry, put pressure on operators’ revenues. A notable 
event was the CITC’s lifting of its ban on VoIP (Voice over 
Internet Protocol) applications, which will affect the already 
eroding margins delivered on traditional voice packages. 
The march toward the dominance of data, and the need to 
monetize it, is now inexorable.

As a result of market developments, Mobily’s revenues were 
eroded by 9.7%, from SAR 12,569 million in 2016 to SAR 
11,351 million in 2017. Despite this erosion, we were able to 
maintain a healthy EBITDA margin of 32%. This was achieved 
by the continued implementation of our cost-efficiency 
program, which has an important place in the RISE strategy. 
While our net result was a loss of SAR 709 million, as it 
continues to be negatively impacted by non-cash depreciation, 
amortization and the increase of interest rates, we were able to 
significantly improve our operating cash flow 
(EBITDA – Capex), which reached SAR 1.3 billion, a 61% 
increase compared to SAR 857 million in 2016.

Our ability to navigate an ever-changing operating environment 
is evidence of the capability of the business to regularly adapt 
its operating model and leverage new opportunities. We will 
maintain the delivery of our strategy to create a lean and 
agile organization, benefiting from new growth opportunities, 
monetizing our assets and increasing efficiency.

Investment optimization
In 2017, we acquired a block of spectrum in the 1,800 MHz 
band at a price of SAR 422 million, with 30% paid in 2017 
and the balance over 10 years in equal yearly installments. 
The acquisition of this additional block will allow Mobily to 
better utilize its spectral resources and save on further capital 
investment.

We also successfully concluded an agreement with our major 
equipment vendors, Nokia, Huawei and Ericsson – a key 
initiative for the modernization of our access network across 
the Kingdom. This agreement, which amounts to SAR 2.4 
billion, will see the replacement of a significant portion of the 
access network with new equipment and technology, delivering 
higher capacity at lower prices. It is an important part of our 
strategy for improving customer experience while optimizing 
our investments.

Other significant projects
Other significant finance projects required focused effort 
and support from across the Company. Having transitioned 
from SOCPA reporting standards to those of IFRS, our 2017 

financials were reported according to IFRS standards for the 
first time in Q1 2017. During the second half of the year, the 
Mobily team worked on preparing for the introduction of VAT 
in Saudi Arabia, effective from 1 January 2018, as well as 
toward the future implementation of IFRS 15.

While we expect 2018 to be another challenging year, we 
believe that Mobily has the capability and determination to 

continue improving its performance. This will be achieved by 
the delivery of our new and improved corporate strategy and 
by the people within our business who make that delivery 
possible. We look forward to rising to the challenges and 
grasping the opportunities ahead. 

Kais Ben Hamida
Chief Financial Officer 

Our ability to navigate an ever-changing operating 
environment is evidence of the capability of the 
business to regularly adapt its operating model 
and leverage new opportunities.

CFO’s Review  
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Marketplace factors Mobile broadband subscriptions (million)

Macroeconomic environment
While the Saudi Arabian and GCC economies continue 
to face challenges, the future is bright. In the medium-
to-long term, the Kingdom’s economic prospects are 
promising, particularly in light of the government’s National 
Transformation Plan (NTP 2020) and Vision 2030 program. 
During this transitional period, businesses require a 
combination of agility and innovation – both of which are 
characteristics of the Saudi market and its people. 

The country’s population is young and ambitious and 
the commercial environment in which Mobily operates 
increasingly reflects that. Engagement with data and 
technology continues to grow exponentially – a clear 
opportunity for telecom operators – while the workforce 
expands in both size and diversity. Skilled female 
employment maintains an upward trajectory, with growing 
representation of women within both the corporate and 
entrepreneurial start-up scene. 

Interest rates in 2017 were low, as was the Saudi Arabian 
Interbank Offered Rate (SAIBOR), while the number of 
expatriates living and working in the Kingdom decreased, 
directly impacting the volume of consumer spending in the 
market. Low GDP and a declining population have created 
new market dynamics for companies across most sectors, 
while Saudi consumer spending power was reduced by a 
growing number of subsidy cuts.

Telecom sector*
According to CITC data, total mobile service subscriptions 
fell for the second year running. In 2017, these stood at 
40.21 million, from 47.93 million in 2016. Total mobile 
penetration was, 126.7% declining by 16.1% on the previous 

year. Of all mobile subscriptions, 74.8% are prepaid and 
25.2% are post-paid. The sustained downward pressure on 
mobile service subscriptions is the result of a number of 
important regulatory developments, as well as demographic 
trends. It also indicates that the market has reached a level 
of maturity and saturation. 

With three operators, the Saudi market remains highly 
competitive, as mobile data and internet services become 
the main engines for growth. Total mobile broadband 
subscriptions reached 29.7 million in 2017, increasing from 
23.9 million in 2016, at a total teledensity of 93.5%, which 
grew by more than 4%. Mobile broadband remains a key 
focus for all the Kingdom’s operators – and will be a critical 
area for the development and marketing of value-added 
products to customers.

Meanwhile, the penetration of fixed broadband (as serviced 
by Mobily’s FTTH network) stood at 33.6% reducing by 
11.2% when compared to 2016, with total fixed broadband 
subscriptions standing at 2.5 million, a slight reduction 
(0.79 million) on the previous year.

Regulatory change
A raft of regulatory changes in 2017 had both a positive 
and negative impact on the performance of Mobily and its 
peers. Positive developments included the CITC’s awarding 
of a Unified License to Mobily, enabling the Company to 
provide services across the licensed telecom field, including 
fixed line – and therefore diversifying potential income 
streams. The CITC’s auction of additional spectrum was 
also beneficial, allowing Mobily to acquire a 2x5 MHz block 
in the 1,800 MHz band. Available from 2018, this additional 
spectrum will support increased network capacity and 
improve customer experience. 

Other regulatory changes brought challenges. In September 
2017, the CITC introduced new regulations on fair usage 
policies, with a minimum usage of 3GB/day for mobile data 
services (after which speed drops to a minimum of 
512 kbps/minute) and 6GB/day for data segments (after 

which speed drops to a minimum of 1 Mbps). Meanwhile, 
the regulator announced it would open the Kingdom to 
the use of VoIP, providing access to platforms such as 
Skype and FaceTime calls via mobile devices. While this 
will adversely affect consumer spending on local and 
international voice services, it will also provide opportunities 
for new and innovative data packages as consumption 
continues to rise.

In October, the CITC approved cuts to local voice call 
termination rates across mobile networks from SAR 0.10 
to SAR 0.055. Local voice fixed termination rates were 
also cut from SAR 0.045 to SAR 0.021, effective from 
December 2017. This regulation will have an adverse effect 
on interconnection termination rate income for all three of 
Saudi Arabia’s network operators. 

Regulatory developments

Q4 2017 CITC ICT Indicators
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How we add value
Mobily’s key activities are product development, sales, service 
delivery, network operations, customer support and billing. 
These activities are supported by two essential resources: our 
network and our people. We are particularly proud of the 
value we place on our customer relationships.

These relationships are nurtured through a customer-focused 
approach to product development, direct and indirect 
marketing strategies, a reward structure for customer loyalty 
and personalized services and product offers.

Our customers are divided into six categories: prepaid 
(mobile), postpaid (mobile), mobile operators, businesses, 
small-to-medium businesses (SMBs) and households (FTTH). 
We communicate with our customers through a variety 
of media including online (website and social media), our 
mobile application, face-to-face interaction and our call 
center.

Mobily’s value proposition is to deliver a one-stop shop 
providing best-in-class communication services to individuals, 
households and businesses. To achieve this, we bundle our 

services into various combinations. All our services have 
a clear focus on quality, diversity and pricing. A number 
of essential partners support the delivery of our services; 
these are categorized as VAS partners, mobile operators, 
distribution partners, payment channels, venture companies 
and IT and network service providers.

The Company’s cost structure accounts for sales and 
distribution costs, service delivery and support costs, and 
network development and operations costs. Our principal 
revenue streams are interconnection charges, returns from 
ventures, handset and accessories sales, usage fees (voice, 
data, VAS and FTTH), IAAS sales and subscription fees.

A ‘one-stop shop’ providing superior communications 
services to individuals, households and businesses by 

focusing on quality, diversity and pricing.
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5x network capacity 
growth within 3 years

Mobily’s commitment to innovation – and the ongoing 
improvement of its technology – remains a key differentiator 
in an increasingly competitive market. Several important 
initiatives were undertaken in 2017, which will have 
a positive long-term impact on both the Company’s 
operational efficiencies and its ability to provide a first-
class service to subscribers. Ultimately, the success of the 
business lies with the satisfaction of its customers, and that 
satisfaction cannot be delivered without a resilient and agile 
network infrastructure.

Network enhancements
The most important ‘technology’ event of 2017 was the 
signing of a framework agreement with three international 
blue-chip partners: namely, Huawei, Nokia and Ericsson. 
Completed in August, the agreement runs for three years 
and will see an extensive modernization of the mobile 
network, along with capacity growth of 5x within three 
years. The aggregate amount of the agreement is SAR 2.4 
billion, allowing the Company to renew a significant portion 
of its mobile infrastructure, while expanding it to seamlessly 
handle the growing requirements of its subscriber base. 
Ultimately, the framework agreement will optimize network 
capital and Opex, with a positive impact on depreciation 
along with replacement of old and expensive equipment 
with new and cheaper technology. 

Handling increased traffic
According to CITC data, Saudi data consumption 
increased by 397% from 2014 to 2017. Mobily’s networks 
are therefore under increasing pressure to handle heavy 
volumes of traffic, often concentrated during peak times. 

Its technology platform therefore requires both capacity 
and efficiency to meet customer demand. Hajj season is 
a period when networks in the Holy Cities of Makkah and 
Madinah come under particularly high pressure and in 2017 
Mobily responded successfully. With a higher number of 
pilgrims and subscribers entering the region, the Company 
successfully deployed 4G coverage for the first time, with 
minimal outages, while accommodating up to 40% more 
voice and data traffic than in previous years. 

2017 also saw the launch of Mobily’s TDD/MIMO network, 
in partnership with Huawei. This delivers data speeds of up 
to 600 Mbps to mobile broadband subscribers, enabling 
them to access services such as video streaming and 
gaming, which require high-speed internet connections. 
In partnership with Nokia, Mobily introduced a licensed 
systems platform to combine Wi-Fi frequencies and support 
4G coverage – the first of its kind in the Middle East. Data 
consumption in the Kingdom continues to grow rapidly 
and subscribers now have access to VoIP so are likely to 
use data voice options in place of traditional voice services. 
Mobily’s ability to handle increased traffic will thus be of 
critical importance to maintaining its competitive edge.

Leveraging the power of data centers
Mobily operates one Tier IV-certified data center in Riyadh 
and two Tier III-certified data centers in Dammam and 
Jeddah. These state-of-the-art facilities clearly differentiate 
the Company from its local peers, ranking it tenth globally 
in terms of data center sophistication. Its data centers have 
been crucial to the success of its 4G offering and will play 
an important role in the arrival of 5G in the region. 

A key focus in 2017 was the monetization of investment 
made in data centers, which showed considerable progress. 
Mobily won a contract with SAP, which will make the 
Dammam data center a systems hub for its operations 
in Saudi Arabia. Both the Dammam and Riyadh centers 
now host the Saudi Ministry of Municipality’s data 

activities and a deal was signed with the Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs (MoFA) for the Riyadh center to deliver 
international connectivity for embassies in 105 countries. 
These deals show clear alignment between Mobily’s 
strategy and the Saudi Government’s objectives; the 
scale-up of services provided by its data centers will be 

maintained as it continues to participate in the 2020 
National Transformation Plan. In more general terms, the 
convergence of IT and traditional telecom services continues 
to grow and the diversity of Mobily’s IT infrastructure and 
service offering will develop to meet the challenges and 
opportunities that exist therein.

Innovation and Technology  

Annual Report 201702. Strategic Review



36 37

Its customers’ interests are at the heart of Mobily’s business. 
Without meeting and exceeding their expectations, the 
Company cannot expect to grow either its business or its 
market share. Its service offering is therefore conceived 
and developed with specific customer needs in mind and 
the performance of its staff and touchpoints are regularly 
reviewed to ensure they are achieving best-in-class levels of 
service excellence.

An improved approach to sales
In 2017, Mobily developed a plan to strengthen its approach 
to sales by focusing on four key factors: 

• Expanding the Company’s channel footprint 
• Enriching the customer experience across all channels 

and different touchpoints
• Fostering a productive internal environment
• Revamping the commission methodology for effective 

positioning and acquisition cost 

Aligned with the strategic corporate objectives of RISE, these 
factors provided clear focal points for the Company’s sales 
and customer service teams to work toward during the year. 
They now form the core of Mobily’s sales and marketing 
strategy as the RISE program takes shape. 

Adjusting to market dynamics
As data continued to replace voice as subscribers’ preferred 
method of communication, Mobily experienced strong ‘new 
customer’ growth in the former and limited growth in the 
latter. As the purchasing of data-only SIMs has grown, so too 
has the diversification of the Company’s data package offer. 
Mobily will continue to develop innovative data packages 
at reasonable prices, which meet the exact requirements 
of different customer groups, thereby differentiating the 
Company from its competitors.

With the Saudisation of the mobile reselling space, expatriate 
resellers were largely pushed out of the market as they were 
no longer qualified to activate SIMs. As a result, Mobily’s 
direct retail channels experienced strong sales growth of 
over 15% because subscribers preferred to visit a trusted 
point of sale – Mobily’s own stores. A consequence of this 

increased footfall was an increase in customer waiting time. 
The Company responded by incentivizing sales staff through 
revenue-linked rewards, thereby motivating a more effective 
and customer-centric approach to the sales process. 

Increased Hajj pilgrimage volumes provided an opportunity 
for Mobily to serve the requirements of visiting subscribers 
travelling to the Holy Cities of Makkah and Madinah. 
Acquisition of visiting subscribers was strong, supported in 
part by the increased presence of roving Mobily salesmen, 
who provided on-the-spot support to pilgrims. A total of 
450,000 SIMs were activated during Hajj, generating SAR 56 
million in recharges. 

Responding to demand
With increased sales volumes across our on-the-ground 
retail network, Mobily further expanded its footprint in 
high- density retail environments, in particular shopping 
malls. Sales and customer service kiosks in malls have 
the dual benefit of improved convenience for subscribers 
while capturing ad hoc sales opportunities and widening 
the Company’s geographic presence. For its VIP customer 
offer, which services high-spending individual subscribers 
and families, Mobily expanded its product portfolio to 
include a wider range of data packages, as well as targeting 
female VIPs. This previously untapped customer segment 
is substantial – and carries significant growth potential. The 
Company is therefore building up both services and staff to 
meet the specific needs of Saudi women. 

Digital sales, and particularly those of devices, gained traction 
in 2017. This will be a vital area for growth in the future, 
particularly in light of the RISE strategy’s focus on improving 
Mobily’s omnichannel presence. Better deals have been 
agreed with both Samsung and Apple, whose devices are 
now available to customers online, as well as via leading 
retailers including eXtra and iStyle. Customer accessibility to 
these devices has greatly improved both in store and online, 
with a very high volume of orders for the Apple iPhone X, 
which launched in 2017. 

Service improvements for Fiber-to-the-
Home (FTTH)
Appetite for Mobily’s FTTH service continued to grow, with 
37% of new subscribers added to its network in 2017. In the 
context of its peer group, Mobily’s Customer Satisfaction 
Index (CSI) scores for FTTH are typically high, with products 
considered to be simpler and easier to understand and use. 
Moreover, the Company’s subscriber onboarding process 
compares well with the competition, with network coverage 
of a consistently high quality. 

Looking ahead, the FTTH team will focus on improving 
after-sales support, where areas for enhanced service have 
been identified. Mobily views FTTH as a fundamentally 
progressive product, particularly now that a Unified License 
enables the exploitation of a wider range of fixed-lines 
services. In line with the Company’s ‘Caring’ corporate value, 
the FTTH segment will continue to focus on customer service 
and satisfaction as a key growth driver for expanding and 
deepening its subscriber base. FTTH is currently present in 
over 700,000 households across the Kingdom, with a market 
penetration of 25%.

Service Excellence  
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Mobily is committed to the personal and professional 
growth of employees at every level of the Company. This 
policy recognizes the importance of its people to the 
success of its operations, as well as the importance of 
Mobily’s support for talent development within the Saudi 
economy. As at 31 December 2017, the Company employed 
2,691 staff across the Kingdom, maintaining a platinum-
level Saudisation rate of 80%. 

Highlights 2017
2017 saw the implementation of several important 
initiatives. At the top of the agenda was the alignment of 
the Company’s HR strategy with the new corporate strategy, 
RISE. To meet the strategic objectives of RISE, three core 
HR initiatives were identified: employee engagement, 
building a winning culture and efficient organization, and 
upskilling capabilities. Progress in all three has already been 
achieved, and is monitored closely by the RISE Execution 
Office. In the context of our RISE objectives, the most 
important HR initiatives were a leadership assessment by 
Korn Ferry for Mobily’s senior management, which resulted 
in a reorganization of the Company’s structure, with more 
Saudis now reporting directly to the CEO. In addition, a new 
Head of Digital and Customer Experience was appointed.

Recruiting the right talent remains a high priority. In 2017, 
the Company launched an end-to-end recruitment system 
called Talentera. This makes the recruitment process 
more efficient by seeking to identify and hire internal 
candidates. During the year, 166 job vacancies were 
advertised internally, of which 29% were filled by existing 
employees. A strong staff retention rate of 95% shows that 
the Company provides opportunities to employees that 

motivate them to build their careers at Mobily. Meanwhile, 
the Mobily Elite program for Saudi graduates continued to 
grow. The number of Elite candidates recruited in 2017 was 
more than doubled that of the previous year, reaching 
46, 61% of whom were women.

Mobily continued to work on improved efficiencies and 
systems optimization, with the digital HR help-desk 
successfully closing over 1,500 cases, compared to 
approximately 1,000 in 2016. As in previous years, the 
Company participated in Etisalat Group’s annual HR 
Excellence exercise, run in accordance with the EFQM 
Business Excellence model, which emphasizes the 
importance of continuous improvement to HR processes 
and practices.

Training and development
In 2017, Mobily provided over 150 training courses to 
employees, amounting to more than 4,100 training days 
and the participation of over 1,100 staff. On-the-job training 
schemes include departmental courses, cross-functional 
courses, soft-skills training and leadership programs. 
Mobily Elite remains the Company’s most comprehensive 
on-the-job program, circulating graduates through 
four different departments over two years. To enhance 
the learning journey, the Company is partnered with 
Canada’s Smith Queens School of Business, which offers 
a supplementary educational program. Since inception in 
2013, over 70 graduates have completed Mobily Elite, with 
66 currently enrolled. The program remains an attractive 
option for ambitious young Saudi professionals seeking 
wide-ranging professional experience within a leading local 
corporate.

Embedding values
A review of Mobily’s corporate values was undertaken 
during the year to ensure better alignment with the future 
positioning of the brand, as well as to better serve the 
objectives of the RISE strategy. The Company’s three core 
values are supported by three behaviors, which define 
Mobily’s commercial activities and the daily activities of its 
employees. 

These values and behaviors have been strongly emphasized 
by the CEO and senior management in a series of formal 
and informal interactions across the Company and were 
discussed in detail on a leadership roadshow to locations 
across the Kingdom. The values are also borne out by 
Mobily’s ongoing engagement with the community, 
particularly in the form of its CSR initiatives and 
contributions.

Rewards and remuneration
Mobily’s rewards strategy is focused on a performance-
based approach. Financial incentivization is provided to 
employees working in sales and customer care, with bonus 
payments varying according to the sales cycle. When 
appropriate, competitions are introduced to promote 
certain products or generally boost sales. The Company 
also operates an annual bonus scheme, which rewards 
employees for their contribution to its wider corporate 
objectives. The scheme covers all employees and is linked 
directly to their personal performance. 

Other engagement and recognition programs are delivered 
on an ad hoc or structured basis. These include ten-year 
work anniversary awards, outstanding achievement awards 
and gifts for new parents and employees leaving the 
Company. Fixed and variable compensation is structured in 
accordance with the Mobily Total Rewards Strategy (TRS), 
which has three main pillars, as summarized below.

Pillar Program

Foundational Rewards
• Benchmark salaries against Saudi market
• Review and optimize operational costs
• Retain talent and employees in critical positions

Performance-Based Rewards
• Enhance performance management scheme
• Enhance annual bonus scheme
• Enhance variable pay for sales, collections and customer care

Career and Environment Rewards

• Internal hiring process (effective since 2015)
• Leadership development programs
• Long service award program
• Spot awards
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As a Company with a high level of visibility and an 
important role in subscribers’ daily lives, Mobily has 
a clearly defined commitment to the communities in 
which it works. By providing professional development 
opportunities for Saudi nationals, it contributes directly 
to the Kingdom’s socioeconomic growth. As mentioned 
previously, the Company engages on a regular basis with 
staff to better understand their ambitions and to meet 
their specific needs. Externally, it participates in a variety 
of charitable and philanthropic programs to promote social 
and economic development and to provide support for 
those in need. 

Knowledge sharing and learning support
Members of the C-suite, including the CEO, made a 
series of visits to Saudi universities where they signed 
Memoranda of Understanding (MoUs) for learning and 
development partnerships. At King Abdullah University, an 
MoU was signed for a collaborative training and knowledge 
improvement scheme for ICT students. As a result, several 
knowledge-sharing sessions were conducted with colleges 
and universities involving members of Mobily’s senior 
management. In addition, a delegation of students from 
Imam University visited the Mobily Data Center, where a 
team of executives hosted a full tour of the facility. 

Charitable support
Mobily maintained its relationship with Ensan, the 
Charity Committee for Orphans Care, providing direct 
financial support for its vital work. Other charities directly 
supported by Mobily in 2017 included the Sanad Children’s 
Cancer Support Association (Riyadh), the Takaful Charity 
Association for Orphan Care (Madinah), the Ekhaa Charity 

Association for Orphan Care (Khobar) and the Aaba 
Charity Association for Orphan Care (Asir region). Mobily 
also participated in the General Directorate of Narcotics 
Control’s ‘International Day Against Drug Abuse’ initiative, 
which highlights the social and economic problems caused 
by global narcotics abuse. 

A major CSR highlight in 2017 was the launch of the Mobily 
Award for Volunteer Work #جائزة_موبايلي_لالعمال_التطوعية 
during the Holy Month of Ramadan, which aims to establish 
a volunteer culture and contribute to the achievement of the 
Kingdom’s vision for an active society. The initiative covered 
programs across Saudi Arabia and in a variety of fields.

Social Responsibility  
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Mobily’s principal financial objectives for 2017 were to 
refinance a significant amount of debt, continue deploying 
the deleveraging strategy to create additional flexibility 
for the business, continue increasing the efficiency of 

the Company to maintain a healthy EBITDA margin in a 
challenging market environment and optimize the efficiency 
of investments through the acquisition of additional 
spectrum and upgrades to the network. 

In Q4 2017, revenues achieved quarterly growth for the first 
time in two years, to reach SAR 2,826 million compared 
to SAR 2,806 million in the previous quarter. Full-year 
revenues decreased to SAR 11,351 million in 2017, compared 
to SAR 12,569 million in 2016. This was mainly due to 
macroeconomic conditions and regulatory changes in the 
telecom sector.

Despite the decline in revenues and a net loss, Mobily was 
successful in significantly improving its operational cash 
flow (EBITDA – Capex) by 61% in 2017, to reach SAR 1,378 
million compared to SAR 857 million in 2016, allowing it to 
meet its liabilities and finance its investments. As a result 
of rationalization of spend and renegotiation of certain 
contracts, operational efficiency was improved. The EBITDA 
margin for 2017 was 32.1% compared to 32.4% in 2016. 

As part of its strategy for maintaining a stabilized financing 
structure, Mobily succeeded in deleveraging its debts 
by SAR 1.3 billion, which contributed significantly to 
the improvement of the Company’s financial status in 
comparison with previous years.

Transactional highlights included the acquisition of 
additional spectrum from CITC, at a value of SAR 422 
million paid over ten years, and an SAR 7.9 billion 
refinancing facility agreed with a group of Saudi banks. 
The signing of network enhancement agreements with 
Nokia, Huawei and Ericsson, worth SAR 2.4 billion, will be 
important in building Mobily’s technology offer to improve 
customer service and will have a positive impact on 
operating cost-efficiencies.

Highlights

Financial achievements

Balance Sheet
Highlights

Income Statement
Highlights

Cash Flow Statement
Highlights

SAR ’000 2017 2016 (adjusted) % Change
Revenues 11,351,301 12,569,397 (9.69%)
EBITDA 3,645,626 4,068,505 (10.39%)
CAPEX 2,268,293 3,212,232 (29.39%)
Operational cash flow (EBITDA – CAPEX) 1,377,333 856,273 60.85%
Net debt 12,687,491 13,992,644 (9.33%)
Net profit/(loss) (708,941) (213,636) 231.85%

SAR ’000 2017 2016 (adjusted) % Change
Total assets 40,468,162 41,271,493 (1.95%)
Total liabilities 26,214,325 26,315,013 (0.38%)
Total equity 14,253,837 14,956,480 (4.70%)

SAR ’000 2017 2016 (adjusted) % Change
Gross profit 6,530,307 7,425,285 (12.05%)
Total operating expenses (6,511,036) (7,138,609) (8.79%)
Operating profit/(loss) 19,271 286,676 (93.28%)
Net income/(loss) (708,941) (213,636) 231.85%

SAR ’000 2017 2016 (adjusted) % Change
Net cash from operating activities 3,594,414 3,918,562 (8.27%)
Net cash used in investing activities (2,977,626) (4,605,135) (35.34%)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (290,716) 1,055,112 (127.55%)
Cash and cash equivalents 1,192,181 866,109 37.65%

Stabilization Cash flowsEBITDADeleveraging

Financial Review  

Annual Report 201703. Financial Review



04
Governance



48 49

Positions and appointments

Current Board memberships Previous Board memberships Administrative positions

Mr. Suliman Al Gwaiz, Chairman, Non-Executive Member

Mr. Al Gwaiz is the Governor of the General Organization for Social Insurance (GOSI). He has previously 
held positions as Deputy Chief Executive Officer at Riyad Bank and Head of Public Sector Business at 
Saudi American Bank in the Central Region. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration 
from the University of Portland (USA). He has also completed CitiCorp’s Operations Management and 
Corporate Finance Programs.

• Banque Saudi Fransi 
• Saudi Industrial Investment Group
• Saudi Arabian Mining Company 

(Maaden)
• Hassana Investment Company (HIC)

• National Company for Glass Industries 
(ZOUJAJ) 

• National Industries Company (NIC)
• Royal & Sun Alliance Insurance (Middle East)
• Ajil Financial Services

• Governor of the 
General Organization 
for Social Insurance 
(GOSI)

Eng. Abdullah Al Issa, Vice Chairman, Independent Member 

Eng. Al Issa is the CEO of Assila Investments Company. He is also Chairman of Abdullah Mohammed 
Alissa Consulting Engineers and Abdullah Bin Mohammed Alissa & Sons Holding Company. Eng. Al Issa 
holds a Master’s degree in Engineering Management and a BSc in Industrial Engineering from Southern 
Methodist University (USA).

• Dur Hospitality
• Saudi Arabian Mining Company 

(Maaden)
• SABIC
• Riyad Bank

• Arabian Cement Co
• National Medical Care Co (Care)
• Jadwa Investment
• King Faisal School
• National Chemical Carriers
• National Shipping Company of Saudi Arabia 

(Bahri)

• Abdullah Bin 
Mohammed Alissa 
& Sons Holding 
Company 

• Saudi Construction 
Company (SCC)

Eng. Khalifa Al Shamsi, Managing Director, Non-Executive Member

Eng. Al Shamsi is Chief Corporate Governance Officer at Etisalat Group. He has previously held the 
positions of Chief Digital Services Officer and Deputy Chief Technology and Networks Officer at Etisalat 
Group. He holds a BSc in Electrical Engineering from the University of Kentucky (USA).

• Etisalat Afghanistan
• PTCL
• Ufone
• E-Vision
• iMENA

Eng. Homood Al Tuwaijri, Independent Member 

Eng. Al Tuwaijri was Executive Vice President for Strategic Planning, Finance, Petrochemicals Strategic 
Business Units Coordination, Supply Chain Management, and Corporate Governance and Control at 
SABIC. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business and Engineering from the University of Washington 
(USA) and a Master’s degree in Engineering from the Georgia Institute of Technology (USA). 

• Alinma Bank
• The Company for Cooperative Insurance 

(Tawuniya)
• Tabuk Cement
• Aluminum Bahrain (Alba)

Dr. Khaled Al Ghoneim, Independent Member

Dr. Al Ghoneim is Founder and Chairman of Hawaz Company, having previously held the position of 
CEO at ELM Information Security Company, and Saudi Telecom Company (STC). He was also Chairman 
and CEO of Takamol Company. He holds a BSc in Computer Engineering from King Saud University 
(Saudi Arabia) and a Master’s and PhD in Computer and Electrical Engineering from Carnegie Mellon 
University (USA).

• Hawaz Company 
• Mawhiba Company 
• Public Transport Authority 
• Takaful Company

• Takamol
• National Water Company 
• King Abdulaziz City for Science and 

Technology (KACST)

Board members

Board of Directors 
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Positions and appointments

Current Board memberships Previous Board memberships Administrative positions

Mr. Serkan Okandan, Non-Executive Member

Mr. Okandan is CFO of Etisalat Group. He was previously Deputy CEO of Mobily from 2014 to 2015. He 
also served as CFO of Turkcell Group. He graduated from the Faculty of Business and Economics at the 
Boğaziçi University in Istanbul (Turkey).

• Etisalat Nigeria
• PTCL
• Ufone
• Maroc Telecom
• Etisalat Services Holding

• Etisalat Nigeria • CFO of Etisalat Group

Eng. Saleh Al Abdooli, Non-Executive Member

Eng. Al Abdooli is CEO of Etisalat Group and previously served as CEO of Etisalat UAE and Etisalat 
Egypt. He holds a Master’s degree in Communications and a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering 
from the University of Colorado Boulder (USA).

• Etisalat Egypt
• Maroc Telecom
• Thuraya Telecommunications 

Company
• Etisalat Services Holding
• Khalifa University

• CEO of Etisalat Group

Eng. Abdulaziz Al Jomaih, Independent Member 

Eng. Al Jomaih is Managing Director of International Investments at Al Jomaih Holding Company. He 
holds a Master’s degree in Public Administration from the University of Southern California (USA) and a 
Bachelor’s degree in Architecture from King Saud University (Saudi Arabia). 

• Al Bilad Bank

Eng. Ali Al Subaihin, Independent Member 
 
Eng. Al Subaihin is a Founding Partner of Chedid Reinsurance Brokerage Ltd and a member of Al Faisal 
University’s Business Advisory Council. He was previously CEO at Tawuniya for Cooperative Insurance 
and General Manager of Finance and Information Services at Saudi Petrochemical Company. He holds 
a Bachelor’s degree in Systems Engineering from King Fahd University of Petroleum and Minerals (Saudi 
Arabia). He completed the Executive Program in Management and Cost Accounting at the University of 
Houston (USA), as well as a number of courses at Northwestern, Harvard, INSEAD and the International 
Institute for Management Development (IMD). 

• Astra Industrial Group
• Alyusr Leasing and Financing 

Company

• The Company for Cooperative Insurance 
(Tawuniya)

• United Insurance Company (Bahrain)
• Cooperative Real Estate Investment Company 

(CREIC)
• WASEEL
• Najm for Insurance Services
• Council of Cooperative Health Insurance

Mr. Mohamed Al Hussaini, Non-Executive Member 
 
Mr. Al Hussaini has extensive professional experience in the banking, finance, investment and real estate 
sectors. He holds an MBA from Webster University (Switzerland). 

• Etisalat UAE
• Emirates NBD
• Emirates Islamic Bank
• Dubai Refreshments
• Emaar Malls
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Board of Directors’ meetings and 
attendance
The Board of Directors held seven meetings during 2017, 
as shown in the table below. The Board dedicated the 

time required to perform its duties and responsibilities, 
including preparation for Board meetings and the meetings 
of its committees, and ensuring members’ attendance of 
meetings.

Board of Directors’ Committees
In accordance with the Articles of Association of the 
Company, the following Board of Directors Committees are 
formed:

Audit Committee 
Pursuant to Board Resolution No. BOD/2/2015-11/80 on 
23 November 2015, the Audit Committee was formed. The 
following members of the Committee are not members of 
the Board of Directors:

Mr. Jameel Al Molhem
Non-director serving as a member the Committee 
(Chairman of the Audit Committee)

Mr. Jameel Al Molhem previously held several positions 
at Saudi British Bank before being appointed as COO of 
Saudi Telecom Company in Saudi Arabia. He then served 
as Managing Director of Shaker Group. He currently serves 
as the Managing Director of Takween Group. He holds a 
Bachelor’s degree in Marketing from King Fahd University of 
Petroleum and Minerals (Saudi Arabia). He has completed 

several training courses at a number of specialized institutes 
in the USA and Europe.

Dr. Abdulrahman Al Barrak
Non-director serving as a member the Committee (Audit 
Committee)

Dr. Abdulrahman Al Barrak is the Founder and Executive 
partner of THARA Consultants. He has extensive experience 
in financial markets, finance and corporate governance, and 
internal audit and control systems. Dr. Al Barrak has served 
as a member and then Vice President of the Capital Market 
Authority (CMA) Board of Commissioners for nine years. 
He also chaired the Audit Committee of the Capital Market 
Authority (CMA), the Saudi Organization for Certified 
Public Accountants (SOCPA) and a number of Executive 
Committees and strategic committees overseeing projects 
related to the development of the Saudi financial market. 
He has been appointed as a Board member of a number 
of joint stock companies and Chairman of a number of 
their Audit Committees. In addition, he served as Head 
of Finance and Dean of Faculty Affairs at King Faisal 

University. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting and 
a Master’s and PhD in Finance.

During 2017, there were several changes to the composition 
of the Audit Committee. During the year, Mr. Ibrahim Al 
Saif resigned, at his request, and Mr. Jameel Al Molhem 
was appointed as Chairman of the Committee. Mr. Khaled 

Al Solai was appointed and resigned in the same year, due 
to a Royal Decree appointing him as a member of the Board 
of the Capital Market Authority (CMA). After the resignation 
of Mr. Khaled Al Solai, Dr. Abdulrahman Al Barrak was 
appointed as a member of the Committee. The meetings of 
the Audit Committee and the attendance of members are 
shown below:

The duties and responsibilities of the Committee include:

1. External Auditor and Financial Reports
• Reviewing and assessing the qualifications, performance 

and independence of the External Auditor, including 
the main shareholder and other senior members 
of the independent audit team on an annual basis 
and obtaining an annual acknowledgment of that 
independence

• Reviewing the External Auditor’s audit plan, scope and 
approach

• Supervising the External Auditor’s activities and 
approving any activity which falls beyond their scope 
of work while carrying out their duties

• Reviewing the External Auditor’s comments and/
or qualifications on the financial statements and 
monitoring the actions taken in this regard

• Reviewing the External Auditor’s Report on the 
Financial Statements and Management Letter

• Reviewing the interim and annual financial statements 

before their submission to the Board of Directors and 
providing feedback and recommendations regarding 
their fairness, integrity and transparency

• At the request of the Board of Directors, the 
Committee shall provide its technical opinion on 
whether or not the Annual Report of the Board of 
Directors and the financial statements are fairly, 
consistently and understandably presented and contain 
appropriate information to enable shareholders and 
investors to assess Mobily’s financial position, results 
of operations, business models and strategies

• Reviewing with the External Auditor the extent to 
which the changes or improvements to financial or 
accounting practices have been implemented

• Regularly reviewing with the External Auditor any 
problems or difficulties they face during the audit 
work, including any restrictions on the External 
Auditor’s scope of work or obtaining the required 
information and management’s response to the same

• Reviewing the current accounting policies and 

No. Name Position
20 
February

5 
March

23 
April

4 
June

11 
June

22 
October

14 
December

1 Suliman Al Gwaiz Chairman Present Present Present Present Present Present Present

2 Abdullah Al Issa Vice 
Chairman Present Present Present Present Present Present Present

3 Khalifa Al Shamsi Managing 
Director Present Present Present Present Present Present Present

4 Abdulaziz Al Jomaih Director Present Present Present Present Absent Present Absent

5 Mohamed Al Hussaini Director Present Present Present Present Present Present Present

6 Khaled Al Ghoneim Director Present Present Present Present Present Present Present

7 Homood Al Tuwaijri Director Present Present Present Present Present Present Present

8 Ali Al Subaihin Director Present Present Present Present Present Present Present

9 Serkan Okandan Director Present Present Present Present Present Present Present

10 Saleh Al Abdooli Director Present Present Present Present Present Present Present

Name Position
18 
January

5 
March

23 
March

22 
April

23 
July

18 
September

22
October

7 
December

Ibrahim Al Saif
Former 
Chairman of 
the Committee

Present Present Present Present - - - -

Jameel Al Molhem
Current 
Chairman of 
the Committee

Present Absent Present Present Present Present Present Present

Mohamed 
Al Hussaini Member Present Present Present Present Present Present Present Present

Serkan Okandan Member Present Present Present Present Present Present Present Present

Homood Al Tuwaijri Member Present Present Present Present Present Present Present Present

Khalid Al Solai Member - - - - Present Present Present -

Abdulrahman Al 
Barrak Member - - - - - - - Absent
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providing feedback and recommendations to the Board 
in this regard

• Examining any abnormal or serious matters found in 
the financial reports or such matters as may be raised 
by the Controller, or any person

• Reviewing the significant estimates and judgments on 
which the financial statements are based

• Responding to the External Auditor’s inquiries.
• Reviewing and discussing the quarterly and annual 

press releases
2. Internal Audit

• Examining and reviewing the Company’s internal and 
financial control systems and risk management system

• Reviewing the Internal Audit reports and monitoring 
the modification and corrections in said reports

• Monitoring and overseeing the activities of the 
Company’s Internal Audit department to ensure its 
efficiency in carrying out the responsibilities and duties 
as set by the Board of Directors

• Reviewing and submitting written recommendations 
on such regular internal reports (or their summaries) 
as may be prepared by Internal Audit, as well 
as management responses, and monitoring the 
implementation of the Committee’s recommendations 
and agreed action steps in this regard

3. Compliance
• Reviewing the results of any examinations made by 

regulatory bodies and ensuring that the Company has 
taken the necessary actions in this regard

• Ensuring that the Company has taken appropriate 
measures to comply with the relevant laws, regulations, 
policies and procedures

• Reviewing the proposed contractual arrangements 
and transactions with related parties and submitting 
their opinions in relation to such arrangements and 
transactions to the Board of Directors

4. Ethics and fraud
• The Committee shall make arrangements to enable 

the Company’s employees to provide anonymous 
reports about their concerns and comments regarding 
financial and other matters. The Committee shall 
also ensure the effective implementation of measures 
through appropriate independent investigations into 
the size of reported irregularities, errors, inaccuracies or 

irregularities and take appropriate follow-up actions.
• Ensuring that appropriate measures are taken to 

respond to any reported allegations or concerns, 
including obtaining external legal or technical advice 
where appropriate

• Reviewing and evaluating Mobily’s management of the 
Code of Conduct

5. Reporting to the Board of Directors
• Preparing a report on the opinion of the Committee 

on the adequacy of the internal control system, 
the financial controls and risk management and 
the extent to which the Committee has discharged 
its responsibilities. The report shall be published 
and made available to shareholders by the Board 
of Directors at least 10 days prior to the General 
Assembly meeting. The summary of the report shall 
also be read out at the General Assembly meeting. The 
report shall also be made available on the Company’s 
and Stock Exchange’s websites when the call to 
convene the General Assembly is published

• Reporting on issues requiring action with the 
Committee’s recommendations on actions to be taken 
to the Board of Directors, whenever necessary

• Coordinating with the Board of Directors Risk 
Management Committee

• The Committee shall coordinate with the Risk 
Management Committee to use the risk assessment 
outputs and risk management evaluations and to take 
them into consideration in the Internal Audit plan

6. Other responsibilities
• Reviewing its charter periodically, at least annually, 

and making recommendations to the Board of 
Directors of any necessary amendments

• At least three months before the end of the year, 
the Committee shall develop its annual action plan 
and schedule for the coming year. This shall include 
the Committee’s regular meetings, meetings with 
Management, external and Internal Auditors, and 
such other activities in the light of its duties and 
responsibilities set out in the current charter

• Carrying out any other activities in accordance with 
this charter, Mobily’s Articles of Association and the 
applicable laws, as may be deemed necessary by the 
Board

Executive Committee 
Executive Committee meetings and attendance:

The duties and responsibilities of the Committee include:

1. Exercising the powers entrusted by the Board to manage 
and direct the business of the Company, with the 
exception of:
• Amending the Company’s Articles of Association
• Electing or dismissing members of the Board
• Approving or amending the balance sheet, except 

in accordance with the Company’s delegation of 
powers regulations

• Making substantial structural changes, such as 
changing the Company’s capital, mergers and 
acquisitions, sale of assets, joint ventures or other 
similar arrangements, liquidating or suspending the 
Company’s business or dissolving the Company

• Borrowing any amounts
• Any powers and responsibilities expressly delegated 

to other Board committees
• Any other matters that may not be delegated by 

the Board under the applicable regulations or the 
Company’s Articles of Association

2. Following up on the Company’s strategic plans for 
the long, medium and short-term and revising them 
from time to time and recommending to the Board of 
Directors any update or modification when deemed 
necessary.

3. Acting as a guide for the Company’s Management on 
emerging issues and investment opportunities.

4. Reviewing fundamental legal issues and emerging 
lawsuits.

5. Approving the appointment of advisory bodies in case 
the appointment exceeds Management’s authority as per 
the delegations of powers.

6. Filing reports to the Board of Directors regarding 
decisions or procedures taken by the Committee, which 
require the approval of the Board or as delegated by the 
Board.

7. Such other matter as assigned by the Company’s Board 
of Directors.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
Nomination and Remuneration Committee meetings and attendance:

Name Position
17 
May

4 
June

26 
July

23 
November

14 
December

18  
December

Suliman Al Gwaiz
Chairman of the 
Committee

Present Present Present Present Present Present

Abdullah Al Issa Member Present Present Present Present Present Present

Khalifa Al Shamsi Member Present Present Present Present Present Present

Saleh Al Abdooli Member Present Present Present Present Present Present

Name Position
29 
January

20 
February

5 
March

20 
April

13 
July

17 
October

Khaled Al Ghoneim
Chairman of the 
Committee

Present Present Present Present Present Present

Abdulaziz Al Jomaih Member Present Present Present Absent Present Present

Khalifa Al Shamsi Member Present Present Present Present Present Present

Annual Report 201704. Governance



56 57

The duties and responsibilities of the Committee include:

1. Giving recommendations to the Board of Directors 
regarding nominated members in accordance with the 
approved policies and criteria, ensuring that nominees 
have not been charged with any crimes against honor 
and integrity.

2. Proposing clear policies and conditions for the 
membership of the Board of Directors and Executive 
Management and developing special procedures to deal 
with situations when a position of a member of the Board 
of Directors or Executive Management becomes vacant.

3. Annually reviewing the Board’s requirements of skill and 
experiences and preparing a description of qualifications 
and capabilities required in nominees for Board 
membership and Executive Management, including 
the time required to be dedicated by each member to 
perform the duties of the Board of Directors.

4. Reviewing the Board and Executive Management’s 
structure and giving recommendations on proposed 
changes.

5. Determining the strengths and weaknesses of the Board 
of Directors and proposing solutions that align with the 
Company’s best interests.

6. Annually examining and ensuring independence of 
independent Board Directors and the absence of any 
conflicts of interest if a Director is at the same time a 
member of another company’s Board of Directors.

7. Developing clear policies outlining the remuneration and 
rewards of members of the Board and its committees 
and Executive Management. These policies should 
be based on performance-related criteria and shall 
be disclosed, verified and submitted to the Board for 
consideration before being adopted by the General 
Assembly.

8. In selecting nominees for Board membership, the 
Committee shall consider several factors, including but 
not limited to:
• Integrity, honesty and responsibility
• Proven leadership experience and strong business 

acumen
• Future foresight and strategic focus
• Cooperation
• Independence and lack of conflicts of interest

• Ability to devote the time necessary to fulfill the 
responsibilities of a Board member

9. Ensuring that there is an induction program for new 
members of the Board of Directors.

10. The Committee shall provide continuous education 
and training programs and make sure that the Board of 
Directors is kept informed of the latest developments in 
the telecom industry.

11. The above paragraph shall be treated in accordance with 
the Company’s approved policy on training programs 
and business trips.

12. Checking the stability of the Company’s job positions and 
overseeing the Company’s preparation of a succession 
plan, particularly for the Executive Management.

13. When nominating members of the Board of Directors, 
the Committee shall take into account the terms and 
conditions of the Corporate Governance Regulations and 
the requirements set by the Capital Market Authority 
(CMA).

14. The number of nominees for the Board of Directors 
whose names are proposed to the General Assembly 
shall exceed the number of available seats in order to 
enable the General Assembly to choose from among 
them.

15. Developing job descriptions for executive, non-executive 
and independent members and Executive Management.

16. Clarifying the relationship between the remuneration 
awarded and the applicable remuneration policy and 
indicating any material deviation from this policy.

17. Regularly reviewing the remuneration policy and 
evaluating its effectiveness in achieving the intended 
objectives.

18. Recommending the remuneration of the Board of 
Directors, the Board Committees and Executive 
Management in accordance with the approved policy.

19. The Committee shall examine the subjects assigned to it 
or referred to it by the Board of Directors and submit its 
recommendations to the Board of Directors for decision, 
or the Committee shall make decisions if authorized by 
the Board.

20. The Board report submitted to the General Assembly 
shall indicate the number of Committee meetings and 
how many times each member was present at those 
meetings.

The duties and responsibilities of the Committee include:

1. Reviewing and evaluating the safety and efficiency of 
risk management within the Company.

2. Monitoring the implementation of the risk management 
framework and strategy.

3. Reviewing tolerance levels and risk limits, related reports 
and the necessary procedures applied to reduce risks 
that occur.

4. Ensuring assessment of the extent of risk exposure 
to ensure that the Company will not be affected by 

comparing the total size of the exposure to risk with the 
acceptable limits of risk according to the Committee’s 
existing strategy and the framework.

The Committee’s assignment lasts throughout the term of 
the Board of Directors and expires at the end of this period. 
The regulations of the Committee include controls to enable 
the Board to routinely follow up on its work and to verify 
actions assigned to it. These include Committee meetings, 
recommendations and how to notify the Board of Directors 
of such recommendations.

Name Position 22 January 18 April 23 July 17 October

Homood Al Tuwaijri
 Chairman of the
Committee

Present Present Present Present

Khalifa Al Shamsi  Member Present Present Present Present

Ali Al Subaihin  Member Present Present Present Present

Serkan Okandan  Member Present Present Present Present

Name No. of shares at start of 2017 No. of shares at end of 2017

Suliman Al Gwaiz 14,094 14,094

Abdullah Al Issa 34,600 34,600

Khalifa Al Shamsi* - -

Abdulaziz Al Jomaih 8,322 8,322

Homood Al Tuwaijri 200,500 208,084

Ali Al Subaihin 21,600 21,600

Khaled Al Ghoneim 36,000 36,000

Mohamed Al Hussaini* - -

Serkan Okandan* - -

Saleh Al Abdooli* - -

*Qualification shares deposited in the Emirates Telecommunications Corporation (Etisalat) portfolio.

Interests of Board members and their wives and dependents in the shares and debt instruments of the 
Company and its subsidiaries 

Risk Management Committee 
Risk Management Committee meetings and attendance:
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Eng. Ahmed Aboudoma, Chief Executive Officer
Eng. Aboudoma has previously held positions as Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Global Telecom Holding 
(Egypt) and Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Asia and Africa at VimpelCom Group. Previously, he was seconded by 
Orascom Group as CEO of Banglalink Telecom (from 2009 - 2011). Before joining Mobily as CEO, Eng. Aboudoma was a 
member of the Board of Directors of the National Telecommunications Regulatory Authority (NTRA) in Egypt. He holds 
a Bachelor’s degree in Communications Engineering from Cairo University (Egypt) and received the Telecommunications 
Planning Award from the International Telecommunications Union (ITU) (Switzerland). Eng. Aboudoma has completed the 
International Executive Program in Business Administration from INSEAD Business School (France and Singapore). 

Mr. Jassim Abdulla Al Mazmi, Chief Information Officer 
Mr. Jassim Al Mazmi has previously served as Group Vice President for Strategic Affairs and Excellence, Group Vice 
President IT Strategy and Planning and Vice President IT Special Projects at Etisalat Group (UAE). Prior to these roles, he 
served as Chief Information Officer at PTCL and Senior Manager – Customer Relationship Management at Mobily. He holds 
a BSc in Communications from Khalifa University (UAE) and an EMBA from the University of Sharjah (UAE). 

Eng. Kais Ben Hamida, Chief Financial Officer 
Eng. Ben Hamida previously served as Chief Financial Officer of Orange Egypt, and as a Partner at Valence Capital, an 
Italian investment fund that focuses on infrastructure investments. Prior to these roles and for more than 14 years, he held 
several senior positions at the French Orange Group, as the Group’s Vice President of M&A Operations, member of the 
Board of Directors of Orange Sweden, Orange Austria, Orange Denmark, Viaccess France and Orange Egypt, Manager of the 
Group CFO’s office, Financial Operations Manager and Project Finance Manager. Eng. Ben Hamida began his career at the 
World Bank in Washington (USA) and then at Société Générale in France. He holds a BSc from the Ecole Polytechnique 
(France), a Master’s degree in Engineering from the Ecole des Ponts et Chaussées (France) and a Master’s degree in 
Economics from the Sorbonne University (France).

Eng. Maziad Nasser Al Harbi, Chief Technology Officer, Acting Chief Corporate Affairs Officer
Eng. Maziad Al Harbi has previously served as Senior Chief Executive Officer at Mobily and Vice President for Home 
Services at STC. Prior to these roles, he held several positions at STC, including General Manager of Network Services 
Solutions, Manager of Mobile Service Implementation Program, and Manager of Integrated Customer Solutions. Prior to 
joining Saudi Telecom, Eng. Al Harbi served as Deputy General Manager - Services at Huawei Technologies and Senior 
Manager - Sales at Lucent Technologies. Eng. Al Harbi holds a BEng in Electrical Engineering from King Saud University 
(Saudi Arabia).

Mr. Ismail Saeed Al Ghamdi, Chief Customer Care Officer, Acting Chief Corporate Strategy Officer
In addition to his current position, Mr. Al Ghamdi is Board Chairman of Sehaty and National Company for Business 
Solutions (NCBS). Mr. Al Ghamdi previously served as Chief Business Officer at Mobily, Operations Manager at Cisco 
Systems, Microsoft’s Deputy General Manager, and Regional Director of Al-Alamiah Institute for Computer and Technology 
(AICT). He has also served as a Board member of Mobily Ventures and Mobily Infotech India Private Limited. Mr. Al 
Ghamdi holds a BSc in Computer Science from King Abdulaziz University (Saudi Arabia) and has completed the Leadership 
Development Program at Harvard Business School (USA). 

Senior Executives

Interests of Senior Executives and their wives and dependents in the shares and debt 
instruments of the Company and its subsidiaries 

Name Position
No. of shares 
at start of 2017

No. of shares 
at end of 2017

Essam Aljubair Senior Executive Officer Business Support 10,688 10,688

Abdulaziz Al Angari CFO for NCBS 1,000 1,000

Walid Al Abdulsalam Acting CHRO 126 126

Mohammed Al Balawi Chief Corporate Communications Officer 55 55

Executive Management  

Annual Report 201704. Governance



60 61

During 2017, several transactions were conducted by the 
Company with Emirates Telecommunications Corporation, 
a main shareholder in Mobily and represented by a number 

of Board Directors, namely: Saleh Al Abdooli, Khalifa Al 
Shamsi, Mohamed Al Hussaini and Serkan Okandan.

Related party transactions are carried out under conditions 
and rates agreed upon by both parties. Administrative 
fees and other administrative expenses are calculated 
based on relevant agreements, signed with Emirates 

Telecommunications Corporation. Details of key related 
party transactions during the financial year ended   
31 December 2017 are as follows:

There are two contracts signed between Mobily and 
Communications Solutions Co, dated, 15 October 2015 and 
30 March 2017. Transactions during 2017 amounted to SAR 
10,027,412.01, with the company responsible for providing 
a number of services to Mobily. These contracts were 

awarded on the basis that the supplier provided the most 
competitive bid. The transactions are noted because there is 
an indirect interest for Board member Dr. Khalid Abdulaziz 
Al Ghoneim.

Related party transactions 2017 (SAR ’000) 

Entity Relationship

Emirates Telecommunications Corporation and its 
subsidiaries

Founding shareholder

Emirates Data Clearing House Etisalat’s sister company

Entity 2017 2016

Interconnection and roaming network services rendered 102,338 77,383

Interconnection and roaming network services received 147,491 80,327

Administrative fees 22,524 36,681

Other administrative expenses 28,670 63,364

Telecom services 4,224 4,488

Other services 2,512 4,380

Related Party Transactions  Compensation and Remuneration  

The following table shows compensation and remuneration details for Board members, Committee Members and Senior 
Executives: 

The above amounts are related to 2016 and have already been disclosed in 2016 report. They represent the cash received by board members 
in 2017. Eng. Al Abdooli waived his attendance allowance for 2017 and the bonus of 2016. Mr. Al Gwaiz, Eng. Al Issa, Eng. Al Shamsi, Eng. 
Al Jomaih, Mr. Al Hussaini and Eng. Al Abdooli waived any bonus for the year 2017; details of which will be disclosed in the report of 2018.

Board of Directors’ and Committee Members compensation and remuneration (SAR ’000) 

Name Committee memberships
Board and committees 
meetings’ attendance 
allowances

Annual 
bonus Benefits

Board of Directors

Suliman Al Gwaiz Executive Committee 39 200 -

Abdullah Al Issa Executive Committee 39 200 -

Khalifa Al Shamsi
Executive, Nomination and 
Remuneration and Risk 
Management Committees

141 200 -

Abdulaziz Al Jomaih Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee 30 200 -

Mohamed Al Hussaini Audit Committee 75 200 -

Khaled Al Ghoneim Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee 39 200 -

Homood Al Tuwaijri Audit and Risk Management 
Committees 51 200 -

Ali Al Subaihin Risk Management Committee 33 200 -

Serkan Okandan Audit and Risk Management 
Committees 123 200 -

Non-Directors

Ibrahim Al Saif Audit Committee 12 200 -

Jameel Al Molhem Audit Committee 15 200 2.592

Khalid Al Solai Audit Committee 3 - -

Total 600 2,200 2.592 2,802.592

Senior Executives’ compensation and remuneration (SAR ’000)

Remuneration and allowances Five senior executives receiving top allowances (including 
CEO and CFO)

Salaries 7,375

Allowances 4,969

Annual bonuses 6,242

Retention plans 2,388

Other benefits paid on a monthly or annual basis* 2,822

*Including end of service and other termination payments related to previous CEO.
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Organization and activity
Etihad Etisalat Company (“Mobily” or the “Company”), a 
Saudi joint stock company, is registered in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia under commercial registration number 
1010203896 issued in Riyadh on 14 December 2004 
(corresponding to Dhul Qa’adah 2, 1425H). The main 
address for the Company is P.O. Box 23088, Riyadh 11321, 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

The Company was incorporated pursuant to Royal Decree 
number M/40 dated 18 August 2004 (corresponding 
to Rajab 2, 1425H) approving the Council of Ministers 
resolution number 189 dated 10 August 2004 
(corresponding to Jumada II 23, 1425H) to approve the 
award of the license to incorporate a Saudi joint stock 
company under the name of “Etihad Etisalat Company”.

Pursuant to the Council of Ministers resolution number 190 
dated 10 August 2004 (corresponding to Jumada II 23, 
1425H), the Company obtained the licenses to install and 
operate a 2G and 3G mobile telephone network including 
all related elements and the provision of all related services 
locally and internationally through its own network.
Pursuant to the Communications and Information 
Technology Commission resolution number 5125 dated 21 
February 2017 (corresponding to Jumada I, 1438H), the 
Company obtained a Unified License to provide all licensed 
telecom services including fixed-line voice services and fixed 
internet.

The Company’s main activity is to establish and operate 
a mobile wireless telecom network, fiber-optics networks 
and any extension thereof, manage, install and operate 
telephone networks, terminals and communication unit 
systems, in addition to selling and maintaining mobile 
phones and communication unit systems in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia. The Company commenced its commercial 
operations on 25 May 2005 (corresponding to Rabi’II 17, 
1426H).

The authorized, issued and paid-up share capital of the 
Company is SAR 7,700 million divided into 770 million 
shares of SAR 10 each.

The main activities of the subsidiaries are as follows:

• Development of technology software programs for the 
Company’s use and to provide information technology 
support

• Execution of contracts for the installation and 
maintenance of wire and wireless telecom networks and 
the installation of computer systems and data services

• Wholesale and retail trade in equipment and machinery, 
electronic and electrical devices, wire and wireless 
telecom equipment, smart building systems and import 
and export to third parties, in addition to marketing and 
distributing telecommunication services and providing 
consultation services in the telecom domain

• Wholesale and retail trade in computers and electronic 
equipment, maintenance and operation of such 
equipment, and provision of related services

• Providing television channels service over Internet 
Protocol (IPTV)

• Establishment, management and operation of, and 
investment in, service and industrial projects

• Establishment, operating and maintenance of 
telecom networks, computers and related works, and 
establishment, maintenance and operating of computer 
software, importing, exporting and sale of equipment, 
devices and programs of telecom systems and computer 
software

• Establish and own companies specializing in commercial 
activities

• Manage affiliated companies or participate in the 
management of other companies in which it owns 
shares and provide the necessary support for such 
companies

• Invest funds in shares, bonds and other securities
• Own real estate and other assets necessary for 

undertaking its activities within the limits pertained by 
law

• Own or lease intellectual property rights such as patents 
and trademarks, concessions and other intangible rights 
to exploit and lease or sub-lease them to its affiliates or 
to others

• Have interest or participate in any manner in institutions 
that carry out similar activities or that may assist the 

Mobily Ventures Holding SPC
In 2014, the Company completed the legal formalities 
pertaining to its investment in a new subsidiary, Mobily 
Ventures Holding Single Person Company (SPC), located in 
the Kingdom of Bahrain and owned 100% by the Company. 
Mobily Ventures Holding has an investment in the following 
companies:

• Anghami LLC (Cayman Islands) at 8.16% (2016: 8.14%)
• MENA 360 DWC LLC (UAE) at 2.48% (2016: 3.63%)

This subsidiary does not contribute to Mobily’s revenues.

Mobily InfoTech India Private Limited
In 2007, the Company invested in 99.99% of the share 
capital of a subsidiary company, Mobily InfoTech India 
Private Limited, incorporated in Bangalore, India, which 
commenced commercial activities during 2008. In early 
2009, the remaining 0.01% of the subsidiary’s share 
capital was acquired by National Company for Business 
Solutions, a subsidiary of the Company. The financial 
year of the subsidiary ends on 31 March each year and 
the same financial period of the parent company is used 
when preparing the consolidated financial statements of 
the Group. The contribution of this company to Mobily’s 
revenues amounted to SAR 1 million.

 Company in realizing its own objectives in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia or abroad. The Company may acquire 
such entities or merge therewith

• Perform all acts and services relating to the realization of 
the foregoing objects 

Subsidiaries
Below is a summary of the Group’s subsidiaries and ownership percentage as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016:

Name
Country of
incorporation Ownership percentage

Initial
investment 
(SAR ’000)

Direct Indirect

Mobily Ventures Holding SPC Bahrain 100% - 2,510

Mobily InfoTech India Private Limited India 99.99% 0.01% 1,836

Bayanat Al-Oula for Network Services 
Company

Saudi Arabia 99% 1% 1,500,000

Zajil International Network for 
Telecommunication Company

Saudi Arabia 96% 4% 80,000

National Company for Business 
Solutions

Saudi Arabia 95% 5% 9,500

Sehati for Information Service 
Company

Saudi Arabia 90% 10% 900

Mobily Plug & Play LLC (liquidated) Saudi Arabia 60% - 2,250

National Company for Business 
Solutions FZE

UAE - 100% 184

About Mobily  
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period of 10 years. The additional spectrum will be available at the 
beginning of 2018.

Launching the new corporate strategy (RISE)
To keep pace with the Company’s progress, passion and 
interests, Eng. Ahmed Aboudoma, Mobily’s CEO, launched the 
ambitious RISE strategy, which is designed to further advance 
and enhance the Company and to determine its future direction 
and vision for the next five years. The RISE strategy consists 
of four overarching strategic tracks: Commercial, Customer 
Experience, Agility and Efficiency, and Execution. The Company’s 
executive management has been restructured as part of this 
strategy with a view to better serve the organization.

Amending the Company’s Articles of 
Association
Following the Extraordinary General Assembly meeting on 4 June, 
Mobily announced that the shareholders voted to approve all items 
on the agenda, with the most important item being the amendment 
to the Company’s Articles of Association in accordance with the 
requirements of the new Saudi Companies Law.

Signing framework agreements with Nokia, 
Huawei and Ericsson to upgrade the mobile 
network
On 14 August, Mobily signed three-year framework agreements 
with Nokia, Huawei and Ericsson for a total of SAR 2.4 billion 
to upgrade its mobile network by modernizing and expanding 
a large part of the infrastructure, and providing advanced 
technology to meet customers’ current and future needs.

Transition to international accounting standards
Mobily successfully completed its transition from Saudi 
Organization for Certified Public Accountants standards (SOCPA) 
to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The 
results of Q1 2017 were announced in accordance with IFRS.

Eng. Abdullah Al Issa appointed Vice 
Chairman of the Board
Mobily announced that its Board of Directors resolved in its 
meeting held on 14 December to appoint Eng. Abdullah Al 
Issa (Independent Member) as Vice Chairman of the Board of 
Directors for the remainder of the Board’s current term, which 
will end on 1 December 2018.

Appointment of a new CEO
Due to his extensive experience in communications, marketing 
and sales, Eng. Ahmed Aboudoma was appointed as the 
Company’s new CEO at the beginning of the year to replace the 
former CEO, Mr. Ahmed Farroukh, who managed to restabilize 
the Company and overcome the challenges it faced. Eng. 
Aboudoma sets out to complete the restabilization process and 
lead the growth and expansion of the Company.

Refinancing agreement with a group of Saudi 
banks
In February, Mobily managed to refinance a large part of its 
debt in the amount of SAR 7.9 billion with a group of Saudi 
banks: National Commercial Bank, Banque Saudi Fransi, Samba 
Financial Group, SABB Bank, Riyad Bank and Al Rajhi Bank. The 
term of these facilities is seven years. The Company is exempt 
from repaying the principal during the first two years, after which 
a repayment period of five years will commence.

Obtaining a Unified License for all telecom 
services 
On 21 February, Mobily obtained a Unified License to provide all 
licensed telecom services including fixed-line voice services and 
fixed internet in consideration of a fee of SAR 5 million with an 
extension of the license period until 21 October 2043. This step 
supports the Company’s competitive position to deliver more 
integrated services.

New service and technical support agreement 
with Emirates Telecommunications Group 
Following the termination of the management agreement with 
Emirates Telecommunications Group (Etisalat Group) at the 
end of the previous year, a new service and technical support 
agreement was signed on 27 February 2017 for a period of 
five years. The new agreement was developed in line with the 
Company’s maturity and future challenges.

Acquiring additional spectrum
Mobily successfully acquired a 2x5 MHz block in the 1800 MHz 
band through its participation in an auction conducted by the CITC, 
the results of which were announced by the CITC on 6 June. The 
value of the acquired spectrum is SAR 422 million, 30% of which 
was paid within 90 days of the conclusion of the auction. The 
remaining 70% will be paid in equal annual installments over a 

Bayanat Al-Oula for Network Services Company
In 2008, the Company acquired 99% of the partners’ 
shares in Bayanat, a Saudi limited liability company. The 
acquisition included Bayanat’s rights, assets, obligations 
and commercial name, as well as its current and future 
trademarks, for a total price of SAR 1.5 billion, resulting in 
goodwill of SAR 1.466 billion on the acquisition date. The 
remaining 1% is owned by National Company for Business 
Solutions, a subsidiary of the Company. The contribution of 
this company to Mobily’s revenues amounted to SAR 1.833 
billion.

Zajil International Network for Telecommunication 
Company
In 2008, the Company acquired 96% of the partners’ 
shares in Zajil International Network for Telecommunication 
Company (“Zajil”), a Saudi limited liability company. 
The acquisition included Zajil’s rights, assets, obligations 
and commercial name, as well as its current and future 
trademarks, for a total price of SAR 80 million, resulting 
in goodwill of SAR 63 million on the acquisition date. The 
remaining 4% is owned by National Company for Business 
Solutions, a subsidiary of the Company. The goodwill was 
fully impaired during the year ended 31 December 2014.

National Company for Business Solutions
In 2008, the Company invested in 95% of the share 
capital of National Company for Business Solutions, a 
Saudi limited liability company. The remaining 5% is 
owned by Bayanat Al-Oula for Network Services Company, 
a subsidiary of the Company. National Company for 
Business Solutions has an investment of 10% (2016: 
10%) in E-Commerce Taxi Middle East (Luxembourg). 
The contribution of this company to Mobily’s revenues 
amounted to SAR 89 million.

Sehati for Information Service Company
In 2014, the Company completed the legal formalities 
pertaining to the investment of 90% in Sehati for 
Information Service Company. The remaining 10% is 
owned by Bayanat Al-Oula for Network Services Company, 
a subsidiary of the Company. This subsidiary does not 
contribute to Mobily’s revenues.

Mobily Plug & Play LLC (liquidated)
In 2014, the Company completed the legal formalities 
pertaining to the investment of 60% in Mobily Plug & 
Play LLC. The remaining 40% is owned by Plug & Play 
International, a Company incorporated in the USA. On 
31 December 2017, the Company completed the legal 
formalities pertaining to its liquidation.

National Company for Business Solutions FZE
In 2014, the National Company for Business Solutions 
(KSA) completed the legal formalities pertaining to the 
investment of 100% in National Company for Business 
Solutions FZE, a Company incorporated in the UAE. This 
subsidiary does not contribute to Mobily’s revenues.

Important Events  
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The Saudi Council of Ministers has recently approved the 
Kingdom budget for the financial year 2018. The budget 
confirmed the government’s continuous commitment to 
maintain a high level of public spending. The budget is 
the largest in the Kingdom’s history in terms of estimated 
public spending, with an increase of 10% compared to 2017 
and with a deficit slightly lower than that of the previous 
year.

According to the budget statement, non-oil revenue shows 
a strong growth of 37% and 14% over 2017’s budgeted and 
actual figures, respectively. Rises in non-oil revenue will 
come from a number of sources, including rises in expat 
dependent fees and the introduction of expat levies, the 
introduction of VAT, and receipts from white land tax, and 
from improvements in investment income due to PIF’s more 
active approach in managing sovereign wealth. The increase 
in domestic energy prices, such as electricity tariffs, will also 
play a role in improving these revenues as the Ministry of 
Energy has recently expressed the intention to announce the 
details of these amendments during Q1 2018.

With regards to the private sector, a total of SAR 138 
billions of capital spending will be targeted to support 
Vision 2030 initiatives, specifically within housing, 
mining, energy, manufacturing, transport, entertainment, 
telecom and SMEs. The Communications and Information 
Technology Commission (CITC) is a key player in achieving 
this Vision since the telecom sector is the most widespread 
sector in the Kingdom.

As for the regulatory developments in the telecom sector, 
the CITC made some decisions that have had a direct 
impact on operators. The most key decision was unblocking 
most of VoIP applications, which posed a new challenge 
for the telecommunications sector in the Kingdom. Other 
decisions include adopting the Fair Usage Policy (FUP) for 
the benefit of the customers, reducing the interconnection 
rates between the operators, limiting the ownership of SIM 
cards by expatriates to two cards only, and amending some 
of the CITC’s executive regulations for the benefit of the 
customers.

At Mobily, immediately after being appointed as the 
Company’s CEO, Eng. Ahmed Aboudoma launched a new 
strategy to be implemented in phases from the year 2017 
and over the next three years. The strategy focuses on 
developing and improving the Company and its technical 
infrastructure in providing services to customers and 
businesses. The strategy’s priorities are to develop the 
Mobily’s brand, increase and improve the customer base, 
and enhance distribution networks.

While the rapid technological developments in the 
telecommunications sector are considered an ongoing 
challenge facing telecommunications operators, these 
challenges are at the same time an important motivator 
for the Company’s management and employees as a 
whole to unlock their full potentials in order to optimize 
the management of variables and developments in the 
sector inside and outside the Kingdom for the benefit of 
subscribers and shareholders.

Blood donation campaign
As part of the “My Health and Safety” program, 
Mobily launched a blood donation campaign in April 
in cooperation with King Fahd Medical City in Riyadh. 
Mobily called on its employees to take part in the five-day 
campaign, emphasizing that thousands of patients need 
blood donation and that even donating small amounts of 
blood will help save many lives.

Volunteer Works Awards
During the Holy Month of Ramadan, Mobily launched the 
Mobily Volunteer Works Award, an initiative that aims 
to promote the culture of volunteer work and contribute 
to achieving the Kingdom’s Vision 2030. This initiative is 
based on one of the Vision’s themes: a vibrant society. 
Mobily’s Volunteer Works Award is in line with the 
Company’s leading role in social responsibility programs 
through supporting society with initiatives that are designed 
to enrich the spirit of giving during the Holy Month of 
Ramadan.

Neqaty and donations to the Disabled 
Children’s Association (DCA)
In the Holy Month of Ramadan, Mobily enabled its 
subscribers to donate points through the Neqaty program 
to the Disabled Children’s Association (DCA). This initiative 
reaffirms Mobily’s commitment to charity work and adds 
value for subscribers, with Neqaty considered one of the 
best customer loyalty programs in the region.
 

Welcoming pilgrims
During Hajj season, Mobily presented one of its best offers 
and plans to pilgrims through the Hajj and Umrah package 
to meet the needs of its subscribers. As the Company seeks 
to offer the best special offers dedicated to pilgrims, the 
package allows subscribers to gain additional free balance 
up to 300% when recharging with SAR 10 or more. The 
additional free balance can be used on the Mobily network 
in addition to international services to most countries 
around the world.

Technical sponsor of Fitness Healthy Living
In line with its commitment to supporting social 
responsibility events and activities, Mobily sponsored 
Fitness Healthy Living, a three-day exhibition held at Riyadh 
conferences in October. The exhibition focuses on fitness, 
healthy living and food balance and is intended to raise 
health awareness among all visitors. The exhibition is an 
event that delivers a platform for the sporting and athletic 
community in general. Mobily also sponsored a number 
of other events during the year, most recently, ‘Souk Al 
Tayebin’ Festival in Al-Ahsa Governorate. The Company 
enjoys an active and distinctive social presence in various 
fields such as sports, entertainment and volunteer work.

Social Responsibility Forward-looking Statements 

Annual Report 201704. Governance



68 69

General Assembly of Shareholders
During 2017, the Extraordinary General Assembly of Shareholders met once, on 4 June. The Board of Directors’ attendance 
was as follows:

During the General Assembly meeting, the shareholders 
voted to approve all items on the agenda. Below are all 
items of the agenda:

1. To vote on amendments to the Company’s Articles of 
Association, according to the requirements of the new 
Saudi Companies Law.

2. To vote on amendments to Article 3 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association.

3. To vote on amendments to Article 4 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association.

4. To vote on amendments to Article 19 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association.

5. To vote on the Company’s financial statements for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2016.

6. To vote on the Auditor’s Report for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2016.

7. To vote on the Board of Directors’ report for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2016.

8. To vote on releasing the members of the Board of 
Directors from their liabilities for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2016.

9. To vote on authorizing the Audit Committee to 
reappoint the Auditor to audit the Company’s annual 
and quarterly financial statements for the financial 
year 2017 and Q1 and Q2 2018 and to determine their 
remuneration.

10. To vote on businesses and contracts held between 
the Company and Emirates Telecommunications 
Corporation (a main shareholder with representatives 
on the Board: Mr. Mohamed Al Hussaini, Eng. Khalifa 
Al Shamsi, Eng. Saleh Al Abdooli and Mr. Serkan 
Okandan) in 2016 with respect to interconnection 
and roaming services rendered of SAR 78,002,000, 
interconnection and roaming services received 
of SAR 72,968,000, administrative expenses of 
SAR 36,681,000, other administrative fees of SAR 
63,364,000, telecom services of SAR 4,488,000 and 
other services of SAR 4,350,000. 

11. To vote on businesses and contracts held between the 
Company and Communications Solutions Co in 2016 with 
a value of SAR 3,139,870.70, due to an indirect interest for 
the Board member Dr. Khalid Abdulaziz Al Ghoneim since 
the company had the most competitive bid.

12. To vote on a new technical services and support 
agreement with Etisalat Group.

13. To vote on the formation of the Audit Committee, its 
functions and work controls and the rewards of its 
members for the current session until 1 December 2018, 
noting that the candidates are: Mr. Jameel Al Molhem 
(Chairman of Audit Committee), Mr. Mohamed Hadi Al 
Hussaini (Board member / Non-Executive), Mr. Khalid 
Mohammed Al Solai (external member), Mr. Homood Al 
Tuwaijri (Board member / Independent) and Mr. Serkan 
Okandan (Board member / Non-Executive).

14. To vote on the Audit Committee Charter.
15. To vote on the Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee Charter.
16. To vote on the remuneration policy for the Board of 

Directors, its committees and Executive Management.

Shareholders’ proposals
Mobily’s Investor Relations department maintains regular 
communication with the Company’s shareholders through 
a direct phone line and email. If any proposals are received 
from the shareholders, they will be reviewed and reported 
to the Board of Directors in full. The shareholders are 
also given the opportunity to submit their proposals and 
inquiries directly to members of the Board of Directors 
during the General Assembly meetings and sufficient time is 
dedicated to answer these questions.

Requests for the shareholders’ register
During 2017, the Company requested the shareholders’ 
register twelve times from the Saudi Stock Exchange 
(Tadawul). The dates and reasons for such requests are 
listed below:

No. Name Position 4 July

1 Suliman Al Gwaiz Chairman Present

2 Abdullah Al Issa Vice Chairman Present

3 Khalifa Al Shamsi Managing Director Present

4 Abdulaziz Al Jomaih Director Present

5 Mohamed Al Hussaini Director Absent

6 Khaled Al Ghoneim Director Present

7 Homood Al Tuwaijri Director Present

8 Ali Al Subaihin Director Present

9 Serkan Okandan Director Present

10 Saleh Al Abdooli Director Present
No. Request date Reason

1 1 January For the Company's internal reporting purposes

2 1 January For the Company's internal reporting purposes

3 1 January For the Company's internal reporting purposes

4 13 March For the Company's internal reporting purposes

5 13 March For the Company's internal reporting purposes

6 2 April For the Company's internal reporting purposes

7 8 May For the Company's internal reporting purposes

8 7 June For the Company's internal reporting purposes

9 2 July For the Company's internal reporting purposes

10 6 August For the Company's internal reporting purposes

11 15 October For the Company's internal reporting purposes

12 24 October For the Company's internal reporting purposes

Shareholders 

Annual Report 201704. Governance



70 71

investments with reputable financial institutions. 
 
Accounts receivable 
The Group has established a credit policy under 
which credit assessment is being made to check the 
creditworthiness of major customers prior to signing the 
contract or accepting their purchase order. 
 
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past 
due nor impaired are assessed by reference to customers 
with an appropriate and strong credit history, with minimal 
account defaults and where the receivables are fully 
recovered in the past. The Group recognizes provision for 
impairment of accounts receivable that are assessed to 
have a significant probability of becoming uncollectible 
and considering historical write-offs. Credit and Collection 
Operations provides inputs on the aging of financial assets 
on a periodic basis. 

The Group has two major customers representing 29% of total 
accounts receivable as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: 
31% and 1 January 2016: 34%). The rest of the balances do not 
have a significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure 
spread over large number of counterparties and customers.

The age analysis of net accounts receivable is as follows: 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use 
of financial instruments: 

• Credit risk 
• Liquidity risk 
• Market risk 

Risk management is carried out by Senior Management under 
policies approved by the Board of Directors. Senior Management 
identifies, evaluates and hedges, when appropriate, financial 
risks in close cooperation with the Group’s operating units. 
 
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The 
Group is exposed to credit risk principally from cash and 
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, due from a related 
party and held-to-maturity investments. The carrying amount 
of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.
 
Cash and cash equivalents and held-to-maturity 
investments 
Cash and cash equivalents and held-to-maturity 
investments are held with banks with sound credit 
ratings. The Group regularly updates its cash flow and, 
where appropriate, places any excess cash on short-term 

Article 44 of the Company’s Articles of Association 
states that the annual net profit of the Company shall be 
distributed after the deduction of overheads and other 
costs, including shareholders’ loans and Zakat, as follows:

• 10% of the net profit to be set aside to form a statutory 
reserve. The Ordinary General Assembly can discontinue 
the deduction for the statutory reserve when such 
reserve reaches 30% of the Company’s paid-up capital

• The Ordinary General Assembly may, upon the 
recommendation of the Board of Directors, set aside 5% 
from the net profit to form an adequate reserve to be 
allocated for certain purposes

• The Ordinary General Assembly shall have the right to 
decide on forming other reserves to the extent that it 
serves the best interests of the Company or to ensure 
the distribution of fixed dividends, as much as possible, 
to the shareholders

• A dividend representing 5% of the Company’s paid-
up capital will be distributed from the balance to the 
shareholders 

On 23 July 2011, the Company announced the 
implementation of the following dividend distribution 
policy: 

• Mobily puts shareholders’ interests at the top of its 
priorities

• The dividend distribution policy aims at meeting 
shareholders’ expectations while taking into account the 
Company’s performance and future investments

• The Company intends to apply an increasing dividend 
policy, when possible, whereby the distributed annual 
dividends are always higher than the previous year

On 11 March 2012, the General Assembly approved the 
recommendation made by the Board of Directors under 
which the Board was authorized to distribute quarterly 
dividends as of the financial year 2012. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter 
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another 
financial asset. The Group’s approach in managing 
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage 

to the Group’s reputation. The management closely and 
continuously monitors liquidity risk by performing a regular 
review of available funds, present and future commitments, 
and operating and capital expenditure. Moreover, the Group 
monitors the actual cash flows and seeks to match the 
maturity dates of its financial assets and its financial liabilities. 
The Group seeks continuously to comply with its legal 
obligations, including any relating to its financing agreements. 

SAR ’000 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016

Current 576,791 688,293 355,096

Within two months 552,506 504,716 430,196

From two months to three months 168,925 156,827 119,765

More than three months 2,332,581 2,351,504 2,519,033

3,630,803 3,701,340 3,424,090

Risks Dividend Policy 

Annual Report 201704. Governance



72 73

The following represents the maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date based on undiscounted contractual cash 
flows:

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, 
such as foreign exchange rates, profit rates and equity 
prices, will affect the Group’s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market 
risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing 
the return.

Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial 
instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. The Company’s transactions are principally 
in Saudi Riyals and US Dollars. The Saudi Riyal is pegged 
to the US Dollar. The Company closely and continuously 
monitors exchange rate fluctuations. Based on its experience 
and market reaction, the Company does not believe it is 
necessary to hedge the effect of foreign exchange risks 
as most of the transactions of foreign currency risk are 
relatively limited in the medium term. 

Profit rate risk 
Profit rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market profit rates. The Group’s exposure to market risk 
for changes in profit rates relates primarily to the Group’s 
borrowings that were reacquired to finance working capital 
requirements and capital expenditure. These borrowings are 
repriced on a periodic basis and expose the Group to profit 
rate risk. The Group’s practice is to manage its financing cost 
through optimizing available cash and minimizing borrowings.  

Price risk
The Company is not exposed to equity securities price risk 
as it does not currently have significant investments in 
equity securities, as of 31 December 2017.

Regulatory risk 
The Company operates in a regulated environment. This 
leads to certain regulatory risks; in particular, the way of 
calculating government fees, which might be calculated in a 
retroactive effect. 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the 
financial information of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(together referred to as the ‘Group’). These consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
which is endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and 
other standards and pronouncements issued by the Saudi 
Organization for Certified Public Accountants (SOCPA). Up 
to and including the year ended 31 December 2016, the 
Group prepared its annual consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Standards as issued by SOCPA.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2017 are the first IFRS annual 
financial statements, therefore IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption 
of International Financial Reporting Standards’, which 
is endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and other 
standards and pronouncements issued by SOCPA have 
been applied by the Group to prepare these consolidated 
financial statements. The reader must also take into account 
the explanations of how the transition to IFRS has affected 
the reported financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows of the Group as provided in Note 7 of the 
separate financial statements. 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation 
of these consolidated financial statements have been 
consistently applied to all periods presented. The 
consolidated financial statements were authorized for 
issuance by the Board of Directors on 13 February 2018  
(corresponding to 27 Jumada’I 1439H).

New standards and amendments issued 
but not yet effective
Standards and amendments issued but not yet applicable 
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements are listed 
below. The listed standards and amendments issued are 
those that the Group reasonably expects to have an impact 
on disclosures, financial position or performance when 
applied at a future date. The following are standards and 
amendments issued but not yet effective: 
 

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments 
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments, which replaces IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all 
previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three 
aspects of the accounting for financial instruments project: 
classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 
accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. 
Except for hedge accounting, retrospective application is 
required but providing comparative information is not 
compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements 
are generally applied prospectively, with some limited 
exceptions. The Group is in the process of completing its 
evaluation of the impact of the expected credit loss model 
on impairment of its financial assets. 
 
IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
IFRS 15 was issued on 15 May 2014 and establishes a five-
step model to account for revenue arising from contracts 
with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an 
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or 
services to a customer. 
 
The new revenue standard will supersede all current 
revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a 
full retrospective application or a modified retrospective 
application is required for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2018. The Group is in the process of 
completing its evaluation of the impact of IFRS 15 on its 
revenue recognition policy. 

IFRS 16 - Leases  
IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance lease sheet 
accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognizes a right- 
of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset 
and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease 
payments. There are optional exemptions for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting 
remains similar to the current standard, i.e. lessors continue 
to classify leases as finance or operating leases. 
 

SAR ’000
Less than 1 
year 1 - 5 years

More than 
5 years

Total contractual 
cash flows

Carrying 
amount

At 31 December 2017

Loans and notes payable 2,201,319 10,321,059 5,799,298 18,321,676 14,879,672

Accounts payable 4,808,002 - - 4,808,002 4,808,002

Due to related parties 92,590 - - 92,590 92,590

7,101,911 10,321,059 5,799,298 23,222,268 19,780,264

At 31 December 2016 

Loans and notes payable 10,219,011 7,047,740 1,918,157 19,184,908 15,208,753

Accounts payable 4,521,432 - - 4,521,432 4,521,432

Due to related parties 138,420 - - 138,420 138,420

14,878,863 7,047,740 1,918,157 23,844,760 19,868,605

At 1 January 2016 

Loans and notes payable 6,282,150 11,609,149 - 17,891,299 14,274,815

Accounts payable 6,535,866 - - 6,535,866 6,535,866

Due to related parties 210,970 - - 210,970 210,970

13,028,986 11,609,149 - 24,638,135 21,021,651

Accounting Standards Applied in Financial 
Statements 
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IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance including IAS 17 
Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement 
Contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases - Incentives and 
SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving 
the Legal Form of a Lease. 
 
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is permitted for entities 
that apply IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
at or before the date of initial application of IFRS 16. The 
Group has started an initial assessment of the potential 
impact of IFRS 16 on its consolidated financial statements.  
 

Other amendments 
The following new or amended standards are not expected 
to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. 

a) Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment 
Transactions (Amendment to IFRS 2).

b) Sale or Contribution of Assets Between an Investor and 
its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendment to IFRS 10 
and IAS 28).

The following tables summarize the consolidated balance sheet, consolidated operating income and consolidated statement 
of income at 31 December 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013.

At 31 December 2017, total assets amounted to   
SAR 40,468 million, while total liabilities amounted to  
SAR 26,214 million and shareholders’ equity amounted to 
SAR 14,254 million.

Property and equipment represented the majority of assets, 
amounting to a net book value of SAR 23,428 million, 

while the majority of liabilities consisted of loans and notes 
payable totalling SAR 13,469 million. These have been 
used to establish and operate the Company’s infrastructure, 
in addition to working capital requirements. Employees’ 
end-of-service provisions amounted to SAR 379 million at       
31 December 2017.

Consolidated balance sheet 

Consolidated operating income

SAR million 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Current assets 7,475 6,886 7,359 12,502 14,720

Non-current assets 32,993 34,386 35,042 34,142 30,768

Total assets 40,468 41,271 42,401 46,644 45,488

Current liabilities 11,917 17,893 18,094 29,790 13,697

Non-current liabilities 14,298 8,422 9,133 200 10,675

Total liabilities 26,214 26,315 27,227 29,990 24,372

Shareholders’ equity 14,254 14,955 15,172 16,654 21,116

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 40,468 41,271 42,401 46,644 45,488

SAR million 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Usage 8,457 9,875 11,550 10,405 14,446

Activation and subscription fees 2,115 1,868 1,893 2,654 1,771

Other services 778 826 981 936 1,886

Total revenues 11,351 12,569 14,424 13,995 18,103

Summary of Assets, Liabilities and Business Results 
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• Gross profit decreased by 12% at SAR 6,530 million in 
2017 compared to SAR 7,425 million for 2016

• Revenues amounted to SAR 11,351 million in 2017, 
down by 10% from revenues recorded in 2016 at 
SAR 12,569 million. This is mainly due to general 
economic changes and various regulatory changes in the 
telecommunications sector

• EBITDA margin was maintained at 32.1% in 2017 
compared to 32.4% for 2016

• Net losses for 2017 totalled SAR 709 million, compared 
to SAR 214 million in net losses recorded in 2016. 

 This is mainly due to the decrease in revenues by 
SAR 1.2 billion as a result of economic and regulatory 
pressures and the increase in depreciation and financing 
costs 

Consolidated statement of income Loans and notes payable

a. Details of loans and notes payable maturity

SAR million 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Change 
value
16/17

Change 
%
16/17

Revenues 11,351 12,569 14,424 13,995 18,103 (1,218) (10%)

Cost of revenues (4,821) (5,144) (6,466) (7,096) (6,896) 323 (6%)

Gross profit 6,530 7,425 7,958 6,899 11,207 (895) (12%)

Selling and marketing expenses (1,234) (1,270) (1,442) (1,843) (1,533) 36 (3%)

General and administrative 
expenses (1,684) (2,138) (3,575) (2,810) (2,209) 454 (21%)

Depreciation and amortization (3,626) (3,782) (3,625) (3,533) (2,760) 155 (4%)

Amortization of goodwill - - - (63) - - -

Operating income (19) (287) (684) (1,349) 4,705 (267) (93%)

Financing expenses (678) (566) (361) (269) (191) (112) 20%

Other income 12 23 121 84 257 (11) (49%)

Zakat (61) 43 (169) (41) (79) (105) (242%)

Net (loss)/profit (709) (214) (1,093) (1,576) 4,692 (495) 232%

SAR million 2017 2016

Loans and notes payable 14,880 15,209

Less: current portion (1,411) (7,608)

Non-current portion 13,469 7,601

SAR million 2017 2016

Less than 1 year 1,411 7,608

1-5 years 8,380 6,489

More than 5 years 5,089 1,112

Loans 
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b. Details of loans and notes payable as at 31 December 2017:

Lender 
Borrowing 
company Loan nature Borrowing purpose Date issue Currency 

Principal 
amount Utilized amount Profit rate Payment terms Period

Current 
portion 

Long-term 
portion Total Other terms 

Local banks 
syndicated 

Mobily

Long-term 
refinancing 
facility 
agreement, 
Sharia’ compliant 

Refinancing maturing obligations under 
Airtime and Bayanat facilities 

Q1 
2017 

SAR 
SAR 7,889 
million 

SAR 7,889 
million 

Murabaha rate 
is based on 
SIBOR plus 
a fixed profit 
margin 

Scheduled 
installments 
as per loan 
agreement 

7 years 
(SAR 17 
million)

SAR 7,803 
million 

SAR 7,786 
million 

- 

Export Credit 
Agency of Finland 
(Finnvera) and 
Swedish Export 
Credit Corporation 
(EKN) 

Mobily

Long-term 
financing 
agreement, 
Sharia’ compliant 

Acquiring network equipment from Nokia 
Siemens Networks (NSN) and Ericsson 
to upgrade and enhance infrastructure 
capabilities, introduce new technologies and 
strengthen the Company’s competitiveness in 
the business segment 

Q3 
2013 

USD 

USD 642 
million 
(SAR 2.4 
billion) 

USD 642 million 
(SAR 2.4 billion) 

Fixed rate per 
annum 

Scheduled 
installments 

10 years 
SAR 276 
million 

SAR 1,105 
million 

SAR 1,381 
million 

Utilization period 
of 1.5 years, 
repayment period 
of 8.5 years 

Export Credit 
Agency of Finland 
(Finnvera) and 
Swedish Export 
Credit Corporation 
(EKN)

Mobily

Long-term 
financing 
agreement, 
Sharia’ compliant 

Acquiring network equipment from Nokia 
Siemens Networks (NSN) and Ericsson 
to upgrade and enhance infrastructure 
capabilities, introduce new technologies, and 
strengthen the Company’s competitiveness in 
the business segment 

Q1 
2014 

USD 

USD 444 
million 
(SAR 1,664 
million) 

USD 344 million 
(SAR 1,290 
million) 

Fixed rate per 
annum 

Scheduled 
installments 

10 years 
SAR 165 
million 

SAR 1,044 
million 

SAR 1,209 
million 

Utilization period 
of 1.5 years, 
repayment period 
of 8.5 years 

Saudi Investment 
Bank 

Mobily

Long-term 
financing 
agreement, 
Sharia’ compliant 

Financing the Company’s working capital 
requirements 

Q1 
2014 

SAR 
SAR 1.5 
billion

SAR 1.5 billion

Murabaha rate 
is based on 
SIBOR plus 
a fixed profit 
margin

Scheduled 
installments 

7.5 years 
SAR 196 
million 

SAR 1,011 
million 

SAR 1,207 
million 

- 

CISCO Systems 
International 

Mobily
Vendor financing 
agreement

Acquiring CISCO network equipment and 
software solutions 

Q1 
2014 

USD

USD 135 
million 
(SAR 506.8 
million) 

USD 93.69 
million 
(SAR 351.34 
million) 

Fixed rate 
Semi-annual 
repayments 

3 years 
SAR 39 
million 

SAR 14 
million 

SAR 53 
million 

- 

Export 
Development of 
Canada (EDC) 

Mobily

Long-term 
financing 
agreement, 
Sharia’ compliant 

Acquiring telecom devices and equipment 
from Alcatel-Lucent 

Q2 
2014 

USD

USD 122 
million 
(SAR 458 
million) 

USD 101 million 
(SAR 377 million) 

Fixed rate per 
annum 

Semi-annual 
repayments 

10.5 years 
SAR 41 
million 

SAR 248 
million 

SAR 289 
million 

Utilization period 
of 2 years, 
repayment period 
of 8.5 years 

Samba Mobily 

Long-term 
financing 
agreement, 
Sharia’ compliant 

Financing working capital requirements  
Q3 
2014 

SAR 
SAR 600 
million 

SAR 600 million 

Murabaha rate 
is based on 
SIBOR plus 
a fixed profit 
margin 

Semi-annual 
scheduled 
installments 

7 years 
SAR 78 
million 

SAR 327 
million 

SAR  405 
million 

- 
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Lender 
Borrowing 
company Loan nature Borrowing purpose Date issue Currency 

Principal 
amount Utilized amount Profit rate Payment terms Period

Current 
portion 

Long-term 
portion Total Other terms 

Banque Saudi 
Fransi 

Mobily

Long-term 
financing 
agreement, 
Sharia’ compliant 

Financing capital expenditures and working 
capital requirements 

Q3 
2014 

SAR 
SAR 500 
million 

SAR 500 
million 

Murabaha rate 
is based on 
SIBOR plus 
a fixed profit 
margin 

Semi-annual 
scheduled 
installments 

7 years 
SAR 50 
million 

SAR 337 
million 

SAR 387 
million 

- 

Other debts 
(promissory notes 
and discounted 
invoices) 

Mobily 
and 
Bayanat 

Vendor 
financing 

Vendor financing Ericsson, Huawei, 
Thales, CCS 

- SAR 
SAR 1,090 
million 

SAR 1,090 
million 

-
Sporadic 
payments 

3 years 
SAR 485 
million 

SAR 96 
million 

SAR 581 
million 

- 

Al Rajhi Bank Mobily

Mid-term 
financing 
agreement, 
Sharia’ compliant 

Financing its capital expenditures and 
working capital requirements 

Q1 
2016 

SAR 
SAR 400 
million 

SAR 400 
million 

Murabaha rate 
is based on 
SIBOR plus 
a fixed profit 
margin 

Scheduled 
payments 

3.5 years 
SAR 99 
million 

SAR 200 
million 

SAR 299 
million 

- 

Alinma Bank Mobily

Long-term 
financing 
agreement, 
Sharia’ compliant 

Financing capital expenditures and working 
capital requirements 

Q4 
2016 

SAR 
SAR 2,000 
million 

SAR 1,300 
million 

Murabaha rate 
is based on 
SIBOR plus 
a fixed profit 
margin 

Scheduled 
installments 

10 years 
(SAR 2 
million) 

SAR 1,284 
million 

SAR 1,282 
million 

- 

Total 
SAR 1,410 
million 

SAR 13,469 
million 

SAR 14,879 
million 

 -
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Statutory payments payable 

SAR million Amount

Item Payable to 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Government share in commercial revenue fees CITC 679 710

License fees CITC 49 52

Zakat GAZT 49 55

The Group is subject to Zakat according to the regulations 
of the General Authority of Zakat and Tax (GAZT) in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Group files its Zakat returns 
on a consolidated basis, starting from the financial year 
ended 31 December 2009 and thereafter, where it includes 
the Company and its subsidiaries due to the fact that the 
Group is one commercial entity wholly owned and managed 
by the Company.  
 
The Group has filed its Zakat returns with GAZT for the 
years through 2016 and settled its Zakat thereon. During 
the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group submitted 
adjusted Zakat returns for the years 2013 and 2014, 
as a result of restatement of the consolidated financial 
statements for the said years.

The Group has finalized its Zakat status and obtained 
the final Zakat assessments for the years to 2006. The 
Group has received Zakat assessments for the years 2007 
through 2011 that showed additional Zakat and withholding 
tax assessments of SAR 317 million and SAR 237 million 
respectively, which have been appealed by the Group at the 
Preliminary and Higher Appeal Committees. During the year 
ended 31 December 2016, the Appeal Committee issued 
its ruling on certain Zakat and withholding tax matters and 
those rulings issued against the Group have been appealed 
at the Higher Appeal Committee. Management believes that 
it has sufficient grounds to contest the matters included in 
the assessments and the eventual outcome of the appeal 
process will not result in any significant liability.

The CITC’s Violation Committee has issued several 
penalty resolutions against the Group, which the Group 
has opposed in accordance with telecom regulations. 
The reasons for issuing these resolutions vary from the 
approach followed in issuing prepaid SIM cards to providing 
promotions that have not been approved by the CITC and/
or other reasons.

Multiple lawsuits were filed by the Group against the 
CITC at the Board of Grievances, in order to oppose 
such resolutions by the CITC’s Violation Committee, in 
accordance with telecom regulations, as follows:

• There are (635) lawsuits filed by the Group against CITC 
amounting to SAR 672 million as of 31 December 2017

• The Board of Grievances has issued (163) verdicts 
in favor of the Group, voiding (163) resolutions of 
the CITC’s Violation Committee with total penalties 
amounting to SAR 467 million as of 31 December 2017

• Some of these preliminary verdicts have become 
conclusive (after they were affirmed by the Appeal 
Court), cancelling penalties of SAR 432 million as of 31 
December 2017

In addition, 23 legal cases were filed by the Group against 
the CITC in relation to the mechanism for calculating 
governmental fees and other subjects, of which (16) of them 
are specifically related to governmental fees as of 
31 December 2017, out of which the Group received eight 
preliminary judgments and five final judgments in its favor. 
The remaining cases are still being adjudicated by the Board 
of Grievances. It is difficult to determine the amount of the 
claims due to differences in calculation methods. Although 
the Company believes that these claims have no legal 
basis, they may have a material impact on the Company’s 
business in case of retroactive change in the regulatory 
framework, which is difficult to assess.

The Group received additional claims from the CITC during 
the year ended 31 December 2017 and has reassessed the 
provisions required against the claims as at 31 December 
2017. It has recorded an appropriate estimate of the amount 
that it may ultimately have to pay to settle such claims.

The Group is subject to litigation in the normal course of 
business. Management and the Board of Directors believe 
that it has adequate and sufficient provisions based on the 
status of these litigations as of 31 December 2017. 

Furthermore, there are 176 lawsuits filed by some of the 
shareholders against the Group before the Committee 
for the Resolutions of Security Disputes are still being 
adjudicated by the Committee. The Company has received 
2 preliminary verdicts and 141 final verdicts in its favor in 
these lawsuits, and 13 cases have been either dismissed or 
abandoned, with 20 cases ongoing as of 31 December 2017. 

Lawsuits and Penalties Statutory Payments 
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The formulation of the Audit Committee (the Committee) 
at Mobily took into consideration the requirements of 
Corporate Governance in terms of its composition and 
direct association with the Board of Directors (BoD) of 
the Company. The Committee’s main contribution was in 
reviewing the financial statements and accounting policies 
and the supervision of the work of Internal Audit and the 
External Auditor. The Committee held eight (8) meetings 
during 2017. 
 
The Committee’s main contribution during 
2017
During 2017, the Audit Committee carried out various 
activities within its scope of responsibilities; of which its 
main activities were the following:

• Review and approve the Internal Audit plan for the 
year 2017. The Committee made its recommendation 
to the Board of Directors (BoD) for approving Internal 
Audit’s budget for the year and ensured that sufficient 
resources are provided to Internal Audit in a manner 
that maintains its effectiveness 

• Oversee the Internal Audit department and follow up on 
the execution of its plan as well as monitor the follow-
up of the implementation of its recommendations

• Review Internal Audit reports issued during 2017 and 
discuss significant issues and timelines for implementing 
pertinent recommendations

• Meet the External Auditor periodically
• Review annual financial statements as at 31 December 

2017 and submit recommendations to the Board of 
Directors (BoD)

• Review and approve quarterly financial statements
• Review of the “Management Letter” on internal controls, 

issued by the External Auditor
• Review bids received for external audit services and 

recommend the appointment of the External Auditor 
for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2017, second and 
third quarters of 2017, and first and second quarters of 
2018

• Review reports from the Company’s management on 
legal and regulatory requirements and follow up on the 
implementation of pertinent recommendations

• Review reports of Internal Audit based on the whistle-

blowing policy, providing the Company’s employees 
with a mechanism to confidentially provide their 
observations on any override of internal control related 
to financial reporting or other Company matters

• Follow up on the transition to international accounting 
standards and review the impact of the transition on the 
financial reports of the Company

• Supervise various initiatives geared toward enhancing 
the Company’s system of internal control on financial 
reporting and deploy a continuous auditing mechanism 
over various aspects of the internal control system of the 
Company

• Inform the Board of Directors about the activities of 
the Committee by periodically sharing minutes of the 
Committee’s meetings

Internal control system
The internal control system is designed to give reasonable 
assurance on the achievement of the organization’s 
established goals, effectively and efficiently. It includes, but 
is not limited to, issuing reliable financial reports, adequate 
compliance with laws, regulations and policies, as well as 
proper management of business risks to minimize their 
impact on the achievement of the Company’s goals. The 
internal control system also plays an important role in 
preventing fraud and protecting the Company’s resources. 
The management of the Company is responsible for 
implementing a comprehensive and effective internal 
control system relative to the risks the Company might 
be exposed to, with reasonable cost and benefit to give 
acceptable level of assurances to avoid material errors and 
related losses.

The Committee reviews the reports provided periodically 
by Internal Audit and the External Auditor and by 
different departments having internal control roles within 
the Company. The outcome of the annual review of the 
internal control system of the Company showed reasonable 
improvements over the year and, under the Committee’s 
supervision, the Company will continue its periodic 
assessment and reviews of the internal control system 
to ensure the achievement of the set objectives and to 
improve the efficiency and effectiveness of operations and 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Annual Review of the Effectiveness of Internal 
Control Procedures 
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Following review of the Corporate Governance Regulations 
issued by the Capital Market Authority (CMA), the 
Company has adopted the rules and standards pursuant to 

these Regulations. To illustrate the Company’s compliance 
with the Regulations, we would like to highlight the articles 
that were not implemented, with supporting reasons:

Article Clarification

What is the method of voting indicated in the Company’s 
Articles of Association?

The Company’s Articles of Association state that the 
Accumulative Voting System is applied.

Geographical analysis of the Company’s total revenues

Given the nature of the telecoms sector, a geographic 
analysis of the Company’s total revenues is not available. 
The reason is that subscriber-generated revenue is not 
linked to a certain location or area. While a subscriber’s 
account is created in one area, billed calls and usage 
originate from several areas within the Kingdom, based on 
the subscriber’s location. International calls initiated by the 
subscriber cannot be ascribed to specific locations since 
they are initiated beyond Saudi Arabia’s borders.

What are the means used by the Board of Directors to 
assess its performance and what is the external body that 
has conducted the assessment?

Other than the General Assembly, there is no external body 
to assess the Board's performance.

What are the interests in a class of voting shares held 
by persons, other than the Company’s Directors, Senior 
Executives and their relatives?

According to Article 45 of the Listing Rules, the Company 
has not been informed of any interest to any person.

Were there any arrangements or agreements under which 
a shareholder of the Company waived any rights to 
dividends?

There were no dividends for the year 2017.

Were there any investments made or any reserves formed 
for the benefit of the employees of the Company?

No reserves are formed for the benefit of employees, but a 
remuneration policy has been developed based on specific 
criteria in this regard.

Does the Auditor's Report contain a reservation about the 
annual financial statements?

The Auditor's Report does not contain any reservation 
about the approved annual financial statements.

The Board of Directors declares the following:

• The accounting records were prepared accurately
• The internal control system was developed on a sound 

basis and was implemented effectively
• No doubt exists as to the ability of the Company to 

continue to practice its business

Board of Directors
Etihad Etisalat Co. (Mobily)
February 2018

Declarations of the Board of Directors Corporate Governance Compliance 
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Revenue recognition

See Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements. 

There is an inherent risk relating to the completeness and 
accuracy of recorded revenue given the complexity of the 
systems, the high volumes of data and the combination of 
different services into different products which are sold at 
varying prices.

Significant management judgement can be required in 
determining the appropriate measurement and timing of 
recognition of different elements of revenue within bundled 
products.

Due to the estimates and judgement involved in the 
application of revenue recognition standards and the 
complexity of the related IT systems and processes, we have 
identified this matter as a key audit matter. 

In responding to this area, our audit procedures included 
testing of relevant controls and substantive procedures.   
In particular:

• Assessing the appropriateness of the revenue 
recognition policy that is applied to different products 
and combination of products to assess whether it is in 
accordance with the applicable accounting framework;

• Assessing, with the assistance of our internal IT 
specialists, the design, implementation and operating 
effectiveness of management’s key internal controls 
over the IT environment in which the business systems 
operate, including access controls, program change 
controls, program development controls and IT 
operation controls;

• Assessing with the assistance of our internal IT 
specialists, the design, implementation and operating 
effectiveness of management’s key internal IT controls 
over the completeness and accuracy of rating and bill 
generation and the end to end reconciliation controls 
from the rating and billing systems to the accounting 
system;

• Performing tests on the accuracy of customer invoice 
generation on a sample basis and testing the credits 
and discounts applied;

• Performing data analytics and analytical reviews of 
significant revenue streams;

• Performing specific procedures to test the completeness 
and accuracy of adjustments relating to multiple 
element contracts.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our auditBasis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the professional code of conduct and ethics that are 
endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia that are relevant 
to our audit of the consolidated financial statements, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.
 
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current year. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 

To the Shareholders of Etihad Etisalat Company 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
of Etihad Etisalat Company (“the Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, the 
consolidated statements of profit or loss, comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 
31 December 2017, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards that are endorsed in the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements 
issued by Saudi Organization for Certified Public 
Accountants (SOCPA).
 

Auditors’ Report
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Capitalisation practices and useful lives of Property, 
Plant and Equipment

See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying value of Property, Plant and Equipment 
(“PPE”) and the related depreciation charge are impacted 
by management judgements which include:

• The decision on whether to capitalise or expense;
• The annual asset useful life review including changes in 

technologies and the Group’s strategy;
• The timeliness of the transfer of assets out of Capital 

Work in Progress;
• Review of the amount being paid as capital advances 

(and yet to be capitalized).

The details of critical accounting judgements and carrying 
values of PPE are given in Notes 6 and 8 respectively.

We have considered capitalisation to be a key audit 
matter due to the significance of the value of PPE and the 
judgement and assumptions required in the process of PPE 
capitalization and its related useful life determination.

Impairment of goodwill

See Note 9.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

As a result of past acquisitions, the Group carries 
capitalised goodwill with a value of SAR 1,467 million as at 
31 December 2017. Management performs an impairment 
assessment on an annual basis as required by IAS 36 
Impairment of Assets. The impairment assessment for 2017 
has been performed at the Group level which is consistent 
with the judgement that the Group has a single operating 
segment as discussed in Note 33 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

The determination of recoverable amount, being the higher 
of fair value less costs to sell and value in use, requires 
judgement by management in both identifying and then 
valuing the operating segment. Recoverable amounts are 
based on management’s view of variables such as future 
average revenue per user (ARPU), average customer 
numbers and customer churn, timing and approval of 
capital expenditure, spectrum and the appropriate discount 
rate.

We considered goodwill impairment to be a key audit 
matter due to the extent of judgement and assumptions 
involved in the assessment process.

We tested controls in place over the PPE cycle, evaluated 
the appropriateness of capitalisation practices, performed 
tests of details on costs capitalised and assessed the 
timeliness of the transfer of assets out of Capital work in 
progress and capital advances.

Our procedures included challenging the judgements made 
by management, including:

• The nature of the underlying costs capitalised as part of 
the network roll-out;

• The appropriateness of asset useful lives utilised in the 
calculation of the depreciation charge.

We performed an evaluation of management’s assessment 
of the operating segment based on the criteria included 
in IFRS 8 Operating segments. Our evaluation included 
discussion with management, review of the internal 
reporting structure, the decision making process and how 
resources are allocated among business units of the Group. 
We subsequently evaluated the impairment assessment 
made by management to also ensure they were in 
accordance with IFRS.

Our procedures included challenging management on the 
suitability of the impairment model and reasonableness of 
the assumptions through performing the following:

• Benchmarking the key market related assumptions 
in management’s valuation models with industry 
comparators and assumptions made in prior 
years including revenue and margin trends, capital 
expenditure on network assets and spectrum, market 
share and customer churn against external data where 
available, utilizing our internal valuation specialists;

• Recalculation of the discount rate by our internal 
valuation specialists using external information and 
comparison to management’s assumptions;

• Testing the mathematical accuracy of the cash flow 
model and agreeing relevant data to the Board 
approved strategic long term plan;

• Assessing the reliability of management’s forecast 
through a review of actual performance against previous 
forecasts;

• Assessing and validating the appropriateness of the 
disclosures made in the financial statements.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our auditThe key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in 
the annual report but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The 
annual report is expected to be made available to us after 
the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we will not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above when it becomes available 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement therein, we are required to 
communicate the matter to the Audit Committee.

Responsibilities of Management and the 
Audit Committee for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and 
other standards and pronouncements issued by SOCPA, 
Company’s By-laws and the provisions of Regulations for 
Companies and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either 

Change in financial reporting framework

See Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements

For all years up to and including the year ended  
31 December 2016, the Group prepared and presented 
its consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting standards in the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia issued by SOCPA.

For the financial years commencing 1 January 2017, the 
applicable regulations require the Group to prepare and 
present its consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
and endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other 
standards and pronouncements that are issued by SOCPA 
(IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia).

Accordingly, the Group has prepared its consolidated 
financial statements, for the year ended 31 December 
2017, under IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia using IFRS 1 - “First time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards” (IFRS 1).

As part of this transition to IFRS as endorsed in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, the Group’s management 
performed a detailed gap analysis to identify differences 
between the previous reporting framework and IFRS as 
endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, determined 
the transition adjustments in light of this gap analysis and 
relevant requirements of IFRS 1, and assessed the additional 
disclosures required in the financial statements.

We considered this as a key audit matter as the transitional 
adjustments due to the change in the financial reporting 
framework and transition related disclosures in the financial 
statements require additional attention during our audit.

intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes 
our opinion. ‘Reasonable assurance’ is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  
We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control.

We performed the following procedures in relation to 
change in financial reporting framework:

• Considered the Group’s governance process around 
the adoption of IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia, especially, in relation to matters requiring 
management to exercise its judgment;

• Obtained an understanding of the analysis performed 
by management to identify all significant differences 
between previous reporting framework and IFRS as 
endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia which can 
impact the Group’s financial statements;

• Evaluated the results of management’s analysis and 
key decisions taken in respect of the transition using 
our knowledge of the relevant requirements of the 
IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and 
our understanding of the Group’s business and its 
operations;

• Tested the transition adjustments by considering 
management’s gap analysis, the underlying financial 
information and the computation of these adjustments; 
and

• Evaluated the disclosures made in relation to the 
transition to IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia by considering the relevant requirements of 
IFRS 1.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, then we are required to 
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit of Etihad Etisalat Company (“the Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (“the Group”).

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence and where applicable, 
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, 
we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

For KPMG Al Fozan & Partners 
Certified Public Accountants

Khalil Ibrahim Al Sedais 
License No. 371

Riyadh on: 13 February 2018 
Corresponding to: 27 Jumada’I 1439H

Notes
31 December

 2017

31 December
 2016

(Adjusted - Note 7)

1 January 
2016

(Adjusted - Note 7)

Assets
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 8 23,428,341 24,495,374 24,559,075
Intangible assets 9 8,690,547 8,987,693 9,493,611
Capital advances 867,175 895,212 982,048
Available for sale investments 7,271 7,271 7,271
Total non-current assets 32,993,334 34,385,550 35,042,005
Current assets
Inventories 10 140,582 200,072 485,859
Accounts receivable 11 3,630,803 3,701,340 3,424,090
Due from a related party 12 52,419 69,568 36,508
Prepaid expenses and other assets 13 1,458,843 1,698,854 1,664,542
Held to maturity investments 14 1,000,000 350,000 1,250,000
Cash and cash equivalents 15 1,192,181 866,109 497,570
Total current assets 7,474,828 6,885,943 7,358,569
Total assets 40,468,162 41,271,493 42,400,574
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 1 7,700,000 7,700,000 7,700,000
Statutory reserve 25 2,648,971 2,648,971 2,648,971
Retained earnings 3,911,783 4,615,120 4,831,447
Foreign currency translation reserve (6,917) (9,111) (8,168)
Total shareholders’ equity 14,253,837 14,954,980 15,172,250
Non-controlling interest - 1,500 1,500
Total equity 14,253,837 14,956,480 15,173,750
Non-current liabilities
Loans and notes payable 16 13,469,034 7,600,851 8,508,553
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 17 379,412 342,742 306,048
Deferred revenue 66,875 89,167 -
Deferred government grants income 18 160,833 180,064 121,987
Provision for decommissioning liability 19 221,518 209,374 196,448
Total non-current liabilities 14,297,672 8,422,198 9,133,036
Current liabilities
Loans and notes payable 16 1,410,638 7,607,902 5,766,262
Accounts payable 20 4,808,002 4,521,432 6,535,866
Due to related parties 12 92,590 138,420 210,970
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 21 4,340,294 4,393,204 4,361,418
Provisions 1,197,020 1,158,108 1,122,971
Zakat provision 22 48,878 54,518 77,711
Deferred government grants income 18 19,231 19,231 18,590
Total current liabilities 11,916,653 17,892,815 18,093,788
Total liabilities 26,214,325 26,315,013 27,226,824
Total equity and liabilities 40,468,162 41,271,493 42,400,574

The attached notes from 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)
As at 31 December 2017
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Notes
31 December

 2017

31 December
 2016

(Adjusted - Note 7)

Revenue 26 11,351,301 12,569,397

Cost of sales 27 (4,820,994) (5,144,112)

Gross profit 6,530,307 7,425,285

Selling and marketing expenses 28 (1,234,103) (1,270,168)

General and administrative expenses 29 (1,683,768) (2,137,819)

Depreciation and amortization 8, 9 (3,626,355) (3,781,829)

Other income 33,190 51,207

Operating profit 19,271 286,676

Finance expenses 30 (678,443) (566,384)

Finance income 14 11,641 22,741

Loss before zakat (647,531) (256,967)

Zakat 22 (61,410) 43,331

Loss for the year (708,941) (213,636)

Loss attributable to:

Owners of the Company (708,941) (213,636)

Non-controlling interest - -

Loss for the year (708,941) (213,636)

Loss per share:

Basic and diluted loss per share (in SR) 31 (0.92) (0.28)

The attached notes from 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

31 December
 2017

31 December 
2016

Loss for the year (708,941) (213,636)

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 2,194 (943)

Net total items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 2,194 (943)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Actuarial gain / (loss) on re-measurement of employees’ end of service 
benefits 5,604 (2,691)

Net total items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 5,604 (2,691)

Total other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 7,798 (3,634)

Total comprehensive loss for the year (701,143) (217,270)

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company (701,143) (217,270)

Non-controlling interest - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year (701,143) (217,270)

The attached notes from 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)
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The attached notes from 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2017 
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

Share 
capital

Statutory 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

(Adjusted – 
Note 7)

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Total 
shareholders’

 equity

Non-
controlling 

interest
Total 

equity

As at 1 January 2016 7,700,000 2,648,971 4,831,447 (8,168) 15,172,250 1,500 15,173,750

Loss for the year - - (213,636) - (213,636) - (213,636)

Other comprehensive loss for 
the year

- - (2,691) (943) (3,634) - (3,634)

Total comprehensive loss for 
the year

- - (216,327) (943) (217,270) - (217,270)

As at 31 December 2016 7,700,000 2,648,971 4,615,120 (9,111) 14,954,980 1,500 14,956,480

As at 1 January 2017 7,700,000 2,648,971 4,615,120 (9,111) 14,954,980 1,500 14,956,480

Loss for the year - - (708,941) - (708,941) - (708,941)

Other comprehensive income 
for the year

- - 5,604 2,194 7,798 - 7,798

Total comprehensive (loss) / 
income for the year

- - (703,337) 2,194 (701,143) - (701,143)

Non-controlling interest - - - - - (1,500) (1,500)

As at 31 December 2017 7,700,000 2,648,971 3,911,783 (6,917) 14,253,837 - 14,253,837

Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

Notes 31 December 2017
31 December 2016

(Adjusted)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year (708,941) (213,636)
Adjustments for:
Change in provision for inventory obsolescence (7,267) 22,004
Depreciation 8 3,299,145 3,245,260
Amortization of intangible assets 9 327,210 536,569
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 17 60,943 58,042
Provision for doubtful debts 11 233,896 551,692
Provisions 38,912 35,137
Government grants (19,231) (18,590)
Zakat provision 22 61,410 (43,331)
Loss / (gain) on sale of property and equipment 5,343 (54)
Finance expenses 30 678,443 566,384
Finance income (11,641) (22,741)
Changes in:
Accounts receivable (163,359) (828,942)
Inventories 66,757 263,783
Prepaid expenses and other assets 93,110 (194,623)
Accounts payable 496,365 563,101
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (88,917) 121,211
Utilization of the decommissioning provision (791) -
Due from a related party 17,149 (33,060)
Due to related parties (45,830) (72,550)
Cash generated from operating activities 4,332,706 4,535,656
Employees’ end of service benefits paid 17 (18,669) (24,039)
Finance expenses paid (652,573) (515,930)
Zakat paid 22 (67,050) (77,125)
Net cash generated from operating activities 3,594,414 3,918,562
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Held to maturity investments (650,000) 900,000
Finance income received 13,062 22,481
Purchase of property and equipment (2,183,727) (5,574,349)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 6 76
Acquisition of intangible assets (156,967) (30,651)
Government grants received - 77,308
Net cash used in investing activities (2,977,626) (4,605,135)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from loans and notes payable 9,270,506 4,137,216
Payment of loans and notes payable (9,559,722) (3,082,104)
Non-controlling interest (1,500) -
Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities (290,716) 1,055,112
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents 326,072 368,539
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 866,109  497,570 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 15 1,192,181 866,109
Supplementary non-cash information
Property and equipment purchased credited to capital expenditure payable (209,027) (2,577,535)

The attached notes from 1 to 33 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017 
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

Pursuant to the Communication and Information 
Technology Commission (CITC) resolution number 5125 
dated 21 February 2017 (corresponding to Jumada I 24, 
1438H), the Company obtained a Unified License to provide 
all licensed telecommunication services including fixed line 
voice services and fixed internet. 

The Company’s main activity is to establish and operate 
mobile wireless telecommunications network, fiber optics 
networks and any extension thereof, manage, install and 
operate telephone networks, terminals and communication 
unit systems, in addition to sell and maintain mobile 
phones and communication unit systems in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia. The Group commenced its commercial 
operations on 25 May 2005 (corresponding to Rabi Al-
Thani 17, 1426H). 

The authorized, issued and paid up share capital of the 
Company is SR 7,700 million divided into 770 million 
shares of SR 10 each. 

1.2  Subsidiary Companies 
Below is the summary of Company’s subsidiaries and 
ownership percentage as at 31 December 2017 and   
31 December 2016:

1  CORPORATE INFORMATION

1.1  Etihad Etisalat Company
Etihad Etisalat Company (“Mobily” or the “Company”), a 
Saudi Joint Stock Company, is registered in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia under commercial registration number 
1010203896 issued in Riyadh on 14 December 2004 
(corresponding to Dhul Qa’adah 2, 1425H). The main 
address for the Company is P.O. Box 23088, Riyadh 11321, 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. 

The Company was incorporated pursuant to the 
Royal decree number M/40 dated 18 August 2004 
(corresponding to Rajab 2, 1425H) approving the Council 
of Ministers resolution number 189 dated 10 August 2004 
(corresponding to Jumada II 23, 1425H) to approve the 
award of the license to incorporate a Saudi Joint Stock 
Company under the name of “Etihad Etisalat Company”. 

Pursuant to the Council of Ministers resolution number 190 
dated 10 August 2004 (corresponding to Jumada II 23, 
1425H), the Company obtained the licenses to install and 
operate 2G and 3G mobile telephone network including all 
related elements and the provision of all related services 
locally and internationally through its own network. 

       Ownership percentage

Name
Country of 

incorporation Direct Indirect
Initial

 investment

Mobily Ventures Holding SPC Bahrain 100.00% - 2,510

Mobily InfoTech India Private Limited India 99.99% 0.01% 1,836
Bayanat Al-Oula for Network Services Company Saudi Arabia 99.00% 1.00% 1,500,000
Zajil International Network for Telecommunication 
Company Saudi Arabia 96.00% 4.00% 80,000

National Company for Business Solutions Saudi Arabia 95.00% 5.00% 9,500
Sehati for Information Service Company Saudi Arabia 90.00% 10.00% 900
Mobily Plug & Play LLC (Liquidated) Saudi Arabia 60.00% - 2,250

National Company for Business Solutions FZE United Arab 
Emirates - 100.00% 184

• Have interest or participate in any manner in 
institutions which carry on similar activities or which 
may assist the Company in realizing its own objectives 
in the Kingdom of Bahrain or abroad. The Company 
may acquire such entities or merge therewith. 

• Perform all acts and services relating to the realization 
of the foregoing objects. 

 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company 
include the financial information of the following 
subsidiaries (collectively hereafter referred as “Group”): 

1.2.1  Mobily Ventures Holding SPC 
During 2014, the Company completed the legal formalities 
pertaining to the investment in a new subsidiary, Mobily 
Ventures Holding, Single Person Company (SPC), located in 
the Kingdom of Bahrain owned 100% by the Company. 

Mobily Ventures Holding SPC owns participation in the 
following companies; 

• Anghami LLC (Cayman Islands): 8.16% (2016: 8.14%)
• MENA 360 DWC LLC (United Arab Emirates): 2.48% 

(2016: 3.63%)

1.2.2  Mobily InfoTech India Private Limited 
During the year 2007, the Company invested in 99.99% of 
the share capital of a subsidiary company, Mobily InfoTech 
India Private Limited incorporated in Bangalore, India which 
commenced its commercial activities during the year 2008. 
Early 2009, the remaining 0.01% of the subsidiary’s share 
capital was acquired by National Company for Business 
Solutions, a subsidiary of the Company. The financial year 
end of the subsidiary is March 31 however, the Company 
uses the financial statements of the subsidiary for the same 
reporting period in preparing the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
1.2.3  Bayanat Al-Oula for Network Services Company 
During the year 2008, the Company acquired 99% of 
the partners’ shares in Bayanat, a Saudi limited liability 
company. The acquisition included Bayanat’s rights, assets, 
obligations, commercial name as well as its current and 

The main activities of the subsidiaries are as follows: 

• Development of technology software programs for the 
Group use, and to provide information technology 
support. 

• Execution of contracts for the installation and 
maintenance of wired and wireless telecommunications 
networks and the installation of computer systems and 
data services. 

• Wholesale and retail trade in equipment and 
machinery, electronic and electrical devices, wired 
and wireless telecommunications equipment, smart 
building systems and import and export to third 
parties, in addition to marketing and distributing 
telecommunication services and providing consultation 
services in the telecommunication domain. 

• Wholesale and retail trade in computers and electronic 
equipment, maintenance and operation of such 
equipment, and provision of related services. 

• Providing television channels service over internet 
protocol (IPTV). 

• Establishment, management and operation of, and 
investment in service and industrial projects. 

• Establishment, operating and maintenance of 
telecommunications networks, computer and its related 
works, and establishment, maintenance and operating 
of computer software, importing and exporting 
and sale of equipment, devices and programs of 
telecommunication systems and computer software. 

• Establish and own companies specializing in 
commercial activities. 

• Manage its affiliated companies or to participate in 
the management of other companies in which it owns 
shares, and to provide the necessary support for such 
companies. 

• Invest funds in shares, bonds and other securities. 
• Own real estate and other assets necessary for 

undertaking its activities within the limits pertained by 
law. 

• Own or to lease intellectual property rights such 
as patents and trademarks, concessions and other 
intangible rights to exploit and lease or sub-lease them 
to its affiliates or to others. 
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are included in the consolidated financial statements from 
the date the Group gains control until the date the Group 
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 
income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the 
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this 
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group 
assets and liabilities, unrealized income and expenses and 
cash flows relating to transactions are eliminated in full on 
consolidation.

Non-controlling interest are measured at their proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of 
acquisition.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without 
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

• De-recognizes the assets (including goodwill) and 
liabilities of the subsidiary;

• De-recognizes the carrying amount of any non-
controlling interest;

• De-recognizes the cumulative translation differences, 
recorded in equity;

• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received;
• Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained;
• Recognizes any surplus or deficit in consolidated 

statement of profit or loss;
• Reclassifies the Group’s share of components previously 

recognized in consolidated statement of other 
comprehensive income to consolidated statement of 
profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as 
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of 
the related assets or liabilities.

2.2  Basis of measurement
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on historical cost basis unless stated otherwise using the 
going concern basis of assumption.

2.3  Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Saudi Riyal (“SR”) which is the functional currency of 
the Company. All amounts have been rounded off to the 
nearest thousands unless otherwise stated.

3  BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls 
an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

• Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it 
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee);

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement in the investee;

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect 
its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting 
rights results in control. To support this presumption and 
when the Group has less than a majority of the voting 
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether 
it has power over an investee, including the contractual 
arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee, 
rights arising from other contractual arrangements and the 
Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee 
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation 
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over 
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control 
of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year 

1.2.8  National Company for Business Solutions FZE 
During 2014, the National Company for Business Solutions 
(KSA) completed the legal formalities pertaining to the 
investment of 100% in National Company for Business 
Solutions FZE, a Company incorporated in the United Arab 
of Emirates.

2  BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

2.1  Statement of Compliance 
These consolidated financial statements comprise the 
financial information of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(together referred to as the ‘Group’). 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) that is endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 
and other standards and pronouncements issued by Saudi 
Organization for Certified Public Accountants. Up to and 
including the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group 
prepared its annual consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Standards as issued by Saudi Organization for Certified 
Public Accountants (SOCPA). These consolidated financial 
statements are the first IFRS annual financial statements, 
therefore IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards’ that is endorsed in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and 
pronouncements issued by Saudi Organization for Certified 
Public Accountants has been applied by the Group to 
prepare these consolidated financial statements. The 
reader must also take into account the explanations of how 
the transition to IFRS has affected the reported financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows of the Group 
as provided in Note 7. 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation 
of these consolidated financial statements have been 
consistently applied to all periods presented.

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for 
issuance by the Board of Directors on 13 February 2018 
(corresponding to 27 Jumada I, 1439H). 

future trademarks for a total price of Saudi Riyals   
1.5 billion, resulting in goodwill of Saudi Riyals 1.466 billion 
on the acquisition date. The remaining 1% is owned by 
National Company for Business Solutions, a subsidiary of 
the Company. 

1.2.4  Zajil International Network for Telecommunication 
Company 
During the year 2008, the Company acquired 96% of 
the partners’ shares in Zajil International Network for 
Telecommunication Company (“Zajil”), a Saudi limited 
liability company. The acquisition included Zajil’s rights, 
assets, obligations, commercial name as well as its current 
and future trademarks for a total price of Saudi Riyals  
80 million, resulting in goodwill of Saudi Riyals 63 million 
on the acquisition date. The remaining 4% is owned by 
National Company for Business Solutions, a subsidiary of 
the Company. The goodwill has been fully impaired during 
the year ended 31 December 2014. 

1.2.5  National Company for Business Solutions 
During the year 2008, the Company invested in 95% of the 
share capital of National Company for Business Solutions, a 
Saudi limited liability company. The remaining 5% is owned 
by Bayanat, a subsidiary of the Company. 

National Company for Business Solution owns participation 
in Ecommerce Taxi Middle East (Luxembourg): 10% (2016: 
10%).

1.2.6  Sehati for Information Service Company 
During 2014, the Company completed the legal formalities 
pertaining to the investment of 90% in Sehati for 
Information Service Company. The remaining 10% is owned 
by Bayanat, a subsidiary of the Company. 

1.2.7  Mobily Plug & Play LLC (Liquidated)
During 2014, the Company completed the legal formalities 
pertaining to the investment of 60% in Mobily Plug & 
Play LLC. The remaining 40% is owned by Plug & Play 
International, a Company incorporated in USA. The 
Company completed the legal formalities for liquidation on 
31 December 2017.
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Any contingent consideration to be transferred is recognized 
at fair value at the acquisition date. All contingent 
consideration (except that which is classified as equity) is 
remeasured at fair value at each reporting date with the 
changes in fair value recognized in consolidated statement 
of profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified 
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is 
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess 
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 
amount recognised for non-controlling interests) and any 
previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net 
assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration 
transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly 
identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities 
assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the 
amounts to be recognized at the acquisition date. If the 
reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net 
assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, 
then the gain is recognized in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose 
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business 
combination is from the acquisition date allocated to each 
of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other 
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those 
units. 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating 
unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit is 
disposed off, the goodwill associated with the disposed 
operation is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal 
of the operation. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances 
is measured based on the relative values of the disposed 
operation and the portion of the cash generating unit 
retained.

• Held primarily for the purpose of trading;
• Expected to be realized within twelve months after the 

reporting period; or 
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being 

exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating 
cycle;

• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the 

reporting period; or
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement 

of the liability for at least twelve months after the 
reporting period. 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.
 
5.2  Business combination and Goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the 
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured 
as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is 
measured at the acquisition date fair value and the amount 
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each 
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure 
the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value or 
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and 
included in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the 
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the 
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the 
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the 
acquiree.

IFRS 16 Leases 
IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance lease sheet 
accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognizes a right of 
use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset 
and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease 
payments. There are optional exemptions for short-term 
leases and leases of low value items. Lessor accounting 
remains similar to the current standard – i.e. lessors 
continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases.

IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance including IAS 17 
Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases—Incentives and 
SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving 
the Legal Form of a Lease.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is permitted for entities 
that apply IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
at or before the date of initial application of IFRS 16. The 
Group has started an initial assessment of the potential 
impact of IFRS 16 on its consolidated financial statements. 

Other amendments
The following new or amended standards are not expected 
to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements.

a) Classification and Measurement of Share-based 
Payment Transactions (Amendments to IFRS 2).

b) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 
and IAS 28).

5  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

5.1  Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated 
statement of financial position based on current/non-
current classification. An asset is current when it is:

• Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or 
consumed in the normal operating cycle;

4  NEW STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS 
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
Standards and amendments issued but not yet applicable 
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements are listed 
below. This listing of standards and amendments issued 
are those that the Group reasonably expects to have an 
impact on disclosures, financial position or performance 
when applied at a future date. Following are standards and 
amendments issued but not yet effective:

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 
 Financial Instruments that replaces IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all 
previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three 
aspects of the accounting for financial instruments project: 
classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 
accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. 
Except for hedge accounting, retrospective application is 
required but providing comparative information is not 
compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements 
are generally applied prospectively, with some limited 
exceptions. The Group is in the process of completing 
its evaluation of impact of expected credit loss model on 
impairment of its financial assets.

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a five-
step model to account for revenue arising from contracts 
with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an 
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or 
services to a customer.

The new revenue standard will supersede all current 
revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a 
full retrospective application or a modified retrospective 
application is required for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2018. The Group is in the process of 
completing its evaluation of impact of IFRS 15 on its 
revenue recognition policy.
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At each reporting date, the Group analyses the movements 
in the values of assets and liabilities which are required 
to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Group’s 
accounting policies. For this analysis, the Group verifies 
the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing 
the information in the valuation computation to contracts 
and other relevant documents. The Group also compares 
the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with 
relevant external sources to determine whether the change 
is reasonable. For the purpose of fair value disclosures, 
the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the 
asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as 
explained above.

5.5  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, 
bank current accounts and Murabaha facilities with original 
maturities of three months or less from acquisition date.

5.6  Financial instruments – initial recognition and 
subsequent measurement derecognition
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to 
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity. 

5.6.1  Financial assets

(a)  Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified at initial recognition, as 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity financial assets, available for 
sale financial assets, or designated as hedging instruments 
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 

All financial assets other than financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, are initially measured at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Transaction 
costs for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss as 
incurred.

The principal or most advantageous market must be 
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a 
liability is measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into 
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits from the asset’s highest and best use or by selling 
it to another market participant that would utilize the asset 
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate 
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs.
 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy. This is described 
as follows based on the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

• Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and

• Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements at fair value on a recurring 
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have 
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at 
the end of each reporting period. The Group determines 
the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value 
measurement, and for non-recurring measurement. 

The aggregate of the Group’s share of consolidated 
statement of profit or loss of an associate and a joint 
venture is shown separately on the face of the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. 

The consolidated financial statements of the associate or 
joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as 
the Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring 
the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 

After application of the equity method, the Group 
determines whether it is necessary to recognize an 
impairment loss on its investment in its associate or joint 
venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines 
whether there is any objective evidence that the investment 
in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such 
evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment 
as the difference between the recoverable amount of 
the associate or joint venture and its carrying value and 
recognizes the loss as part of ‘Share of profit of an associate 
and a joint venture’ in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint 
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and 
recognizes any retained investment at its fair value. Any 
difference between the carrying amount of the associate 
or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint 
control and the fair value of the retaining investment and 
proceeds from disposal is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

5.4  Fair value measurement 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The 
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes 
place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most 

advantageous market for the asset or liability.

5.3  Investment in an associate and a joint venture 
An associate is an entity over which the Group has 
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions 
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those 
policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby 
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint 
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an 
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the 
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the 
parties sharing control.

The considerations made in determining whether significant 
influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to 
determine control over subsidiaries.

The Group’s investments in its associates and joint ventures 
are accounted for using the equity method. Under the 
equity method, the investment in an associate or joint 
venture is initially recognized at cost. The carrying amount 
of the investment is adjusted to recognize changes in the 
Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint venture 
since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate 
or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the 
investment and is not tested for impairment separately.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss reflects the 
Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate 
or joint venture. Any change in consolidated statement of 
other comprehensive income of those investees is presented 
as part of the Group’s consolidated statement of other 
comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a 
change recognized directly in the equity of the associate or 
joint venture, the Group recognizes its share of any changes, 
when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. 
Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions 
between the Group and the associate and joint venture are 
eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or 
joint venture.
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(i)  Financial assets carried at amortized cost
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Group 
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant. If the 
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment 
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of 
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an 
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not 
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured 
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future expected credit losses that have not yet been 
incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash 
flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognized in 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Interest income 
(recorded as finance income in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss) continues to be accrued on the reduced 
carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest 
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of 
measuring the impairment loss. 
 
Loans together with the associated allowance are written 
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery 
and all collateral has been realized or has been transferred 
to the Group. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the 
estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because 
of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, 
the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or 
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off 
is later recovered, the recovery is credited to general and 
administrative in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(ii)  Financial assets classified as available for sale
For AFS investments, the Group assesses at each reporting 
date whether there is objective evidence that an investment 

trading and financial assets designated upon initial 
recognition at fair value through profit or loss.  

(c)  Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial 
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
primarily derecognised when:

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired; or

• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 
to pay the received cash flows in full without 
material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and either:

(i) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, or 

(ii) the Group has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the asset.

(d)  Impairment of financial assets
For financial assets not classified at fair value through profit 
or loss, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is any objective evidence that such financial asset or 
a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, 
and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events that has or have occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset and a loss event has an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset or the Group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated. 

Evidence of impairment may include indications that 
debtors or a Group of debtors are experiencing significant 
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter into 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where 
observable data indicates that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate 
with defaults. 

cumulative loss is reclassified to the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss in finance costs and removed from the AFS 
reserve. Interest income on available for sale debt securities 
is calculated using the effective interest method and is 
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. The 
Group evaluates its available for sale financial assets to 
determine whether the ability and intention to sell them in 
the near term is still appropriate. 

When the Group is unable to trade these financial assets 
due to inactive markets and management’s intention to 
do so significantly changes in the foreseeable future, the 
Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets in rare 
circumstances. For a financial asset reclassified out of the 
AFS category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of 
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any 
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised 
in equity is amortised to consolidated statement of profit 
or loss over the remaining life of the investment using 
the Effective Interest Rate (EIR). Any difference between 
the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also 
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the EIR. 
If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, 
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(iii)  Held to maturity financial assets
Investments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturity dates that the Group has the positive intent and 
ability to hold to maturity are classified as held to maturity 
investments. Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method less any 
accumulated impairment losses, with income recognised on 
an effective yield basis. The Group considers the credit risk 
of counterparties in its assessment of whether such financial 
instruments are impaired.

Held to maturity investments include placements with 
banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or more but not more 
than one year from the purchase date.

The Group does not have any financial assets held for 

The Group has the following financial assets: available 
for sale investments, cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable, due from a related party, and held to maturity 
investments. 

(b)  Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends 
on their classification, as described below: 

(i)  Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. After initial measurement, such financial 
assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate (EIR) method, less accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The effective interest 
rate amortization is included in finance income in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The losses arising 
from impairment are recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in 
other operating expenses for receivables.

(ii)  Available for sale investments
Available for sale investments include equity and debt 
securities. Equity investments classified as an Available For 
Sale (AFS) are those neither classified as held for trading 
nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt 
securities in this category are those which are intended to 
be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be 
sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to 
changes in the market conditions. 

After initial measurement, available for sale investments 
are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealised 
gains or losses recognised in consolidated statement of 
other comprehensive income in the AFS reserve until the 
investment is derecognised, at which time, the cumulative 
gain or loss is recognised in other operating income, or the 
investment is determined to be impaired, at which time, the 
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a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use 
or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective 
asset. Where funds are borrowed specifically to finance 
a project, the amount capitalized represents the actual 
borrowing costs incurred. Where surplus funds are available 
for a short term from money borrowed specifically to 
finance a project, the income generated from the temporary 
investment of such amounts is deducted from the total 
capitalized borrowing cost. Where the funds used to finance 
a project form part of general borrowings, the amount 
capitalized is calculated using a applicable weighted average 
rates.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in 
which they incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest 
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the 
borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs incurred on or after the date of transition 
(1 January 2016) for all eligible qualifying assets are 
capitalized. The borrowing costs capitalized under SOCPA 
on qualifying assets to the date of transition to IFRS are 
included in the carrying amount of assets at that date.

5.10  Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether 
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing 
for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal 
and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate 
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount 
of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.     

5.8.1  Licenses
Acquired telecommunication licenses are initially recorded 
at cost or, if part of a business combination, at fair value.

Licenses are amortized on a straight line basis over their 
estimated useful lives from when the related networks are 
available for use. 

5.8.2  Goodwill 
Goodwill is the amount that results when the fair value of 
consideration transferred for an acquired business exceeds 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities recognized. When the Group enters 
into a business combination, the acquisition method of 
accounting is used. Goodwill is assigned, as of the date of 
the business combination, to cash generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the business combination. Each 
cash generating unit represents the lowest level at which 
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes 
and it is never larger than an operating segment.

5.8.3  Indefeasible rights of use “IRU”
IRUs correspond to the right to use a portion of the capacity 
of a terrestrial or submarine transmission cable granted for 
a fixed period. IRUs are recognized at cost as an intangible 
asset when the Group has the specific indefeasible right to 
use an identified portion of the underlying asset, generally 
optical fibers or dedicated wavelength bandwidth, and the 
duration of the right is for the major part of the underlying 
asset’s economic life. They are amortized on a straight line 
basis over the shorter of the expected period of use and the 
life of the contract.

5.8.4  Computer Software
Computer software licenses purchased from third parties 
are initially recorded at cost. Costs directly associated with 
the production of internally developed software, where it 
is probable that the software will generate future economic 
benefits, are recognized as intangible assets. 

5.9  Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes 

Depreciation methods, rates and residual values are 
reviewed annually and revised if the current method, 
estimated useful life or residual value is different from 
that estimated previously. The effect of such changes is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
prospectively.

Major renovations and improvements are capitalized if they 
increase the productivity or the operating useful life of the 
assets as well as direct labor and other direct costs. Repairs 
and maintenance are expensed when incurred. Gain or loss 
on disposal of property and equipment which represents 
the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying 
amount of these assets, is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. 

Capital work in progress is stated at cost until the 
construction on installation is complete. Upon the 
completion of construction or installation, the cost of such 
assets together with cost directly attributable to construction 
or installation, including capitalized borrowing cost, are 
transferred to the respective class of asset. No depreciation 
is charged on capital work in progress. 

5.8  Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on 
initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. 
Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized 
development costs, are not capitalized and expenditure is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in 
the period in which the expenditure is incurred. 

or a group of investments is impaired. In the case of equity 
investments classified as AFS, objective evidence would 
include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value 
of the investment below its cost. The determination of what 
is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment. In making 
this judgment, the Group evaluates, among other factors, 
historical share price movements and the duration or extent 
to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

5.6.2  Financial liabilities

Recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and borrowings, payables, as appropriate. All financial 
liabilities other than financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognized initially at fair value net of 
directly attributable transaction costs. Financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss are measured initially and 
subsequently at fair value, and any related transaction costs 
are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss as 
incurred. The Group’s financial liabilities include loans and 
notes payable, accounts payable, and due to related parties.

5.7  Property and equipment
Property and equipment are only measured at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Cost comprises the cost of equipment and materials, 
including freight and insurance, charges from contractors 
for installation and building works, direct labour costs, 
capitalized borrowing costs and an estimate of the costs of 
dismantling and removing the equipment and restoring the 
site on which it is located. If significant parts of an item of 
property and equipment have different useful lives, then 
they are accounted for as separate items of property and 
equipment.

Depreciation on property and equipment is charged to 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss using the 
straight line method over their estimated useful lives at the 
following annual depreciation rates.

Depreciation 
Rate

Buildings 5%

Leasehold improvements 10%
Telecommunication network equipment 4% - 20%
Computer equipment and software 16% - 33%
Office equipment and furniture 14% - 33%
Vehicles 20% - 25%



Annual Report 201705. Financial Statements

114 115

the customers in the period during which the sale 
transaction took place.

(h)  In arrangements involving the delivery of bundled 
products and services, those bundled products and 
services are separated into individual elements, 
each with its own separate revenue contribution, 
evaluated from the perspective of the customer. 
Total arrangement consideration is allocated to each 
deliverable based on the relative fair value of the 
individual element. The Group generally determines the 
fair value of individual elements based on an objective 
and reliable assessment of the prices at which the 
deliverable is regularly sold on a standalone basis.

(i)  An exchange of good or services of similar nature is 
not regarded as a transaction that generates revenue. 
However, exchange of dissimilar items is regarded as 
generating revenue.

5.14  Loyalty program
The Group operates a loyalty program that provides a 
variety of benefits for customers. Loyalty award credits are 
based on a customer’s telecommunications usage. The 
Group accounts for the loyalty award credits as a separately 
identifiable component of the sale transaction in which they 
are granted.

The consideration in respect of the initial sale is allocated 
to award credits based on their fair value and is accounted 
for as a liability in the consolidated statement of financial 
position until the awards are utilized. The fair value is 
determined using estimation techniques that take into 
account the fair value of the benefits for which the awards 
could be redeemed and is net of awards credit which are 
expected to expire (breakage). The Group also sells award 
credits to third parties for use in promotional activities. The 
revenue from such sales is recognized when the awards are 
ultimately utilized.

The Group’s revenue comprises revenue from mobile 
telecommunications services as summarized below:

(a)  Revenue from mobile telecommunications comprises 
amounts charged to customers in respect of connection 
or activation, airtime usage, text messaging, the 
provision of other mobile telecommunications services 
including data services, and fees for connecting users 
of other fixed line and mobile networks to the Group’s 
network.

(b)  Airtime, text messaging and data usage by customers 
is invoiced and recorded as part of a periodic billing 
cycle and recognized as revenue over the related access 
period. Unbilled revenue resulting from services already 
provided from the billing cycle date to the end of each 
accounting period is accrued and unearned revenue 
from services provided in periods after each accounting 
period is deferred and recognized as the customer uses 
the airtime.

(c)  Connection or activation fees, are non-refundable, one-
off, fees charged to customers when they connect to 
the network and are recognized in full as revenue in the 
period in which the underlying obligation is fulfilled. 
The fees to the Group are not contingent upon resale or 
payment by the end user as the Group has no further 
obligations related to bringing about resale or delivery, 
and all other revenue recognition criteria have been 
met.

(d)  Subscription fees are monthly access fees that do not 
vary according to usage and are recognized as revenue 
on a straight-line basis over the service period.

(e)  Interconnect revenue is recognized on the basis of 
the gross value of invoices raised on other operators 
for termination charges based on the airtime usage, 
text messaging, and the provision of other mobile 
telecommunications services for the billing period as 
per the agreed rate.

(f)  Roaming revenue is recognized on the basis of the gross 
value of invoices raised on other roaming partners 
based on actual traffic delivered during the billing 
period.

(g)  Revenue from sale of handsets and replaced sim 
cards is recognized upon delivery of the products to 

withhold taxes on certain transactions with non-resident 
parties in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia as required under 
Saudi Arabian Income Tax Law.

Foreign subsidiaries are subject to income taxes in their 
respective countries of domicile. Such income taxes are 
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5.12  Employee termination benefits
The Group operates a defined benefit plan for employees in 
accordance with Saudi Labor and Workman Law as defined 
by the conditions stated in the laws of the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia. The cost of providing the benefits under the 
defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit 
credit method.

Remeasurements for actuarial gains and losses are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial 
position with a corresponding credit to retained earnings 
through consolidated statement of other comprehensive 
income in the period in which they occur. 

Remeasurements are not reclassified to consolidated 
statement of profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

Past service cost are recognized in consolidated statement 
of profit or loss on the earlier of:

• The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and
• The date the Group recognizes related restructuring 

costs

5.13  Revenues
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable from the sale of goods and services 
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is 
stated net of trade discounts, incentives and volume rebates 
and after eliminating revenue within the Group.

The Group recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue 
can be reliably measured; when it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the Group; and when specific 
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as 
described below.

In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent 
market transactions are taken into account. If no such 
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation 
model is used. 

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and any 
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. 

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed 
budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared 
separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the 
individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast 
calculations generally cover a period of five years. A long-
term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future 
cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in expense 
categories consistent with the function of the impaired 
asset.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made 
at each reporting date to determine whether there is an 
indication that previously recognized impairment losses no 
longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the 
Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. 
The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the 
asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for 
the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

5.11  Zakat and income tax
The Group is subject to zakat in accordance with the 
regulations of the General Authority of Zakat and Tax 
(the “GAZT”). Provision for zakat for the Group and zakat 
related to the Group’s ownership in the Saudi Arabian 
subsidiaries is charged to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. Foreign shareholders in the consolidated 
Saudi Arabian subsidiaries are subject to income taxes. 
Additional amounts payable, if any, at the finalization of 
final assessments are accounted for when such amounts are 
determined. The Group and its Saudi Arabian subsidiaries 
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arrangement at the inception date. The arrangement is 
assessed for whether fulfillment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even 
if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

(a)  Group as a lessee
Finance leases that transfer to the Group substantially all 
of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the 
leased item, are capitalized at the commencement of the 
lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at 
the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease 
payments are apportioned between finance charges and a 
reduction in the lease liability so as to achieve a constant 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 
Finance charges are recognized in finance costs in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the 
asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the 
Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, 
the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated 
useful life of the asset and the lease term. 

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. 
Operating lease payments are recognized as an operating 
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

(b)  Group as a lessor
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially 
all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added 
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized 
over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. 
Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in 
which they are earned.

5.19  Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that 
engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and 
expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s 

exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. 
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising 
on translation of non-monetary measured at fair value is 
treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on change 
in fair value in the item (i.e., the translation differences 
on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognized in 
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income or 
consolidated statement of profit or loss are also recognized 
in consolidated statement of other comprehensive income 
or consolidated statement of profit or loss, respectively).

(c)  Group companies
The results and financial position of foreign subsidiaries and 
associates, not operating in a hyper-inflationary economy, 
having reporting currencies other than Saudi Riyals are 
translated into Saudi Riyals as follows: 

i. Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented 
are translated at the closing exchange rate at the date 
of that consolidated statement of financial position; 

ii. Income and expenses for each the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss are translated at average 
exchange rates; and 

iii. Components of the shareholders’ equity accounts are 
translated at the exchange rates in effect at the dates 
the related items originated.

Cumulative adjustments resulting from the translations 
of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries and 
associates into Saudi Riyals are reported as a separate 
component of shareholders’ equity. The exchange 
differences arising on translation for consolidation 
are recognised in consolidated statement of other 
comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, 
the component of consolidated statement of other 
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign 
operation is recognised in consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.

5.18  Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or 
contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 

5.16  Dividends
Dividends are recorded in the consolidated financial 
statements in the period in which they are approved by the 
shareholders of the Company.

5.17  Foreign currency transactions 

(a)  Reporting currency and functional currency
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Saudi Riyals, which is also the Company’s functional 
currency. For each entity, the Group determines the 
functional currency and items included in the financial 
statements of each entity are measured using that 
functional currency. The Group uses the direct method of 
consolidation and on disposal of a foreign operation, the 
gain or loss that is reclassified to consolidated statement of 
profit or loss reflects the amount that arises from using this 
method. 

(b)  Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by 
the Group entities at their respective functional currency 
spot rate at the date the transaction first qualifies for 
recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot 
rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary 
items are recognized in consolidated statement of profit 
or loss with the exception of monetary items that are 
designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net 
investment of a foreign operation. These are recognized in 
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income 
until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the 
cumulative amount is classified to consolidated statement 
of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to 
exchange differences on those monetary items are also 
recorded in consolidated statement of other comprehensive 
income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

5.15  Costs and expenses

(a)  Cost of services and sales
Represent the cost of services and sales incurred during 
the period which include the costs of goods sold, inventory 
obsolescence, direct labor, governmental charges, 
interconnection costs and other overheads related to the 
revenues recognized.

i)  Governmental charges
Governmental charges represent government contribution 
fees in trade earnings, license fees, frequency waves’ fees 
and costs charged to the Group against the rights to use 
telecommunications and data services in the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia as stipulated in the license agreements. These 
fees are recorded in the related periods during which these 
fees are incurred and included under cost of services in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

ii)  Interconnection costs
Interconnection costs represent connection charges to 
national and international telecommunication networks. 
Interconnection costs are recorded in the period when 
relevant calls are made and are included in the cost of 
services caption in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss.

(b)  Selling and marketing expenses
Represent expenses resulting from the Group’s management 
efforts with regard to the marketing function or the selling 
and distribution function. Selling and marketing expenses 
include direct and indirect costs not specifically part of cost 
of revenues. Allocations between selling and marketing 
expenses and cost of revenues, when required, are made on 
a consistent basis.

(c)  General and administrative expenses
Represent expenses relating to the administration and not to 
the revenue earning function or the selling and distribution 
functions. General and administrative expenses include 
direct and indirect costs not specifically part of cost of 
revenues. Allocations between general and administrative 
expenses and cost of revenues, when required, are made on 
a consistent basis.
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6.1  Provisions

(a)  Provision for impairment of accounts receivable
The impairment charge reflects estimates of losses arising 
from the failure or inability of the parties concerned to 
make the required payments. The charge is based on the 
aging of the counter party accounts, historic experience and 
the information available on the parties’ financial position. 
Changes to the estimated impairment provision may be 
required if the financial condition of the parties was to 
improve or deteriorate.

(b)  Asset retirement obligation
In the course of the Group’s activities, network and other 
assets are utilized on leased premises which are expected 
to have costs associated with decommissioning these assets 
and restoring the location where these assets are situated 
upon ceasing their use on those premises. The associated 
cash outflows, which are long-term in nature, are generally 
expected to occur at the dates of exit of the assets to 
which they relate. These decommissioning and restoration 
costs are calculated on the basis of the identified costs 
for the current financial year, extrapolated into the future 
based on management’s best estimates of future trends in 
prices, inflation, and other factors, and are discounted to 
present value at a risk-adjusted rate specifically applicable 
to the liability. Forecasts of estimated future provisions are 
revised in light of future changes in business conditions or 
technological requirements.

The Group records these decommissioning and restoration 
costs as property and equipment and subsequently allocates 
them to expense using a systematic and rational method 
over the asset’s useful life, and records the accretion of the 
liability as a charge to finance costs. 

6.2  Financial risk management and financial 
instruments
The fair value of derivative instruments, investments 
in publicly traded and private companies, and equity 
instruments is determined on the basis of either prices in 
regulated markets or quoted prices provided by financial 

6  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
AND ASSUMPTIONS
The estimates at date of transition to IFRS and as at the 
end of earliest reporting period presented are consistent 
with those made for the same dates in accordance with 
SOCPA (after adjustments to reflect any differences in 
accounting policies) apart from post-employment benefits 
and decommissioning costs creating an asset retirement 
obligation where application of SOCPA did not require 
estimation.

The estimates used by the Group to present these amounts 
in accordance with IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements 
issued by SOCPA reflect conditions at the date of transition 
to IFRS and as at the end of earliest reporting period 
presented.

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and 
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability 
affected in future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year, are described below. The Group based 
its assumptions and estimates on parameters available 
when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. 
Existing circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments, however, may change due to market changes 
or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. 
Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they 
occur.

the control of the Group, or a present obligation that is 
not recognized because it is not probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation. If 
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with 
sufficient reliability, then the Group does not recognize 
the contingent liability but discloses it in the consolidated 
financial statements.

5.22  Inventories
Inventories comprise of mobile phones (handsets) and 
other customer-premise equipment (CPE), SIM cards, pre-
paid vouchers and scratch cards. Inventories are stated at 
the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Cost is 
determined by using the weighted average method. The 
Group provides for slow-moving and obsolete inventories in 
the cost of services and sales in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss.

5.23  Government grants
Government grants are recognized where there is reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and all attached 
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to 
an expense item, it is recognized as income on a systematic 
basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to 
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, it is recognized as 
income in equal amounts over the expected useful life of 
the related asset.

When the Group receives non-monetary grants, the asset 
and the grant are recorded gross at nominal amounts and 
released to consolidated statement of profit or loss over 
the expected useful life of the asset, based on the pattern 
of consumption of the benefits of the underlying asset by 
equal annual installments. When loans or similar assistance 
are provided by governments or related institutions with an 
interest rate below the current applicable market rate, the 
effect of this favorable interest is regarded as a government 
grants.

other components. All operating segments’ operating results 
are reviewed by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker 
“CODM” to make decisions about resources to be allocated 
to the segment and assess its performance, and for which 
discrete financial information is available (see note 33).

5.20  Provisions

(a)  General
A provision is recognized in the consolidated statement 
of financial position when the Group has a legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it 
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of 
the amount thereof can be made. If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding 
of liability is recognised as finance cost in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

(b)  Asset retirement obligation
The provision for asset retirement obligation arose on 
construction of the networking sites. A corresponding asset 
is recognized in property and equipment. Asset retirement 
obligation is provided at the present value of expected 
costs to settle the obligation using estimated cash flows. 
The cash flows are discounted at a current pre tax rate that 
reflects the risks specific to the site restoration liability. 
The unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred 
and recognized in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss as a finance cost. The estimated future costs of 
decommissioning are reviewed annually and adjusted as 
appropriate. Changes in the estimated future costs or in the 
discount rate applied are added to or deducted from the 
cost of the asset.

5.21  Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is a possible obligation which 
may arise from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within 
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and operating expenses but do not impact reported assets, 
liabilities or cash flows. Below are the four key criteria to 
determine whether the Group is acting as a principal: 

• The Group has the primary responsibility for providing 
the goods or services to the customer or for fulfilling 
the order, for example by being responsible for the 
acceptability of the products or services ordered or 
purchased by the customer;

• The Group has inventory risk before or after the 
customer order, during shipping or on return;

• The Group has latitude in establishing prices, either 
directly or indirectly, for example by providing 
additional goods or services; and,

• The Group bears the customer’s credit risk on the 
receivable due from the customer.

(b)  Multiple element arrangements
In arrangements involving the delivery of bundled products 
and services, including long-term arrangements, those 
bundled products and services are separated into individual 
elements, each with its own separate revenue contribution 
taking into the consideration the specific contractual details, 
evaluated from the perspective of the customer. Total 
arrangement consideration is allocated to each deliverable 
based on the relative fair value of the individual element. 
The Group generally determines the fair value of individual 
elements based on an objective and reliable assessment 
of the prices at which the deliverables may be sold on a 
standalone basis, taking into consideration the time value 
of the money. Multiple contracts with a single customer 
are normally accounted for as separate arrangements. In 
instances where multiple contracts are entered into with 
a customer in a short period of time, they are reviewed 
as a group to ensure that, as with multiple element 
arrangements, relative fair values are appropriate.

(c)  Customer Loyalty Programs
The Group estimates the fair value of points awarded under 
the customer loyalty program estimating the weighted 
average cost for redemption of the points. Inputs to the 
models include making assumptions about expected 
redemption rates, the mix of products that will be available 
for redemption in the future and customer preferences.

6.6  Zakat assessments
Provision for zakat and withholding taxes is determined 
by the Group in accordance with the requirements of the 
General Authority of Zakat and Tax (“GAZT”) and is subject 
to change based on final assessments received from the 
GAZT. The Group recognizes liabilities for any anticipated 
zakat and withholding tax based on management’s best 
estimates of whether additional zakat/taxes will be due. The 
final outcome of any additional amount assessed by the 
GAZT is dependent on the eventual outcome of the appeal 
process which the Group is entitled to. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts 
that were initially recorded, such differences could impact 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in 
which such final determination is made.

6.7  Contingencies
The Group is currently involved in various legal proceedings. 
Estimates of the probable costs for the resolution of these 
claims, if any, have been developed in consultation with 
internal and external counsels handling the Group’s defense 
in these matters and are based upon the probability of 
potential results. The Group’s management currently 
believes that these proceedings will not have a material 
effect on the consolidated financial statements. It is 
possible, however, that future results of operations could be 
materially affected depending on the final outcome of the 
proceedings.

6.8  Revenue 

(a)  Gross versus net presentation
When the Group sells goods or services as principal, 
revenue and payments to partners are reported on a gross 
basis in revenue and operating costs. If the Group sells 
goods or services as an agent, revenue and payments 
to partners are recorded in revenue on a net basis, 
representing the margin earned.

Whether the Group is considered to be the principal 
or an agent in the transaction depends on analysis by 
management of both the legal form and substance of the 
agreement between the Group and its business partners; 
such judgments impact the amount of reported revenue 

to estimate cash flows. The recoverable amount depends 
significantly on the discount rate used in the discounted 
cash flow model as well as the expected future cash flows.

6.5  Property and equipment

(a)  Useful lives of property and equipment
The useful life of each of the Group’s items of property and 
equipment is estimated based on the period over which the 
asset is expected to be available for use. Such estimation 
is based on a collective assessment of practices of similar 
businesses, internal technical evaluation, experience with 
similar assets and application of judgment as to when the 
assets become available for use and the commencement of 
the depreciation charge.

The estimated useful life of each asset is reviewed 
periodically and updated if expectations differ from previous 
estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or 
commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the 
use of the asset. It is possible, however, that future results 
of operations could be materially affected by changes in the 
amounts and timing of recorded expenses brought about 
by changes in the factors mentioned above. A reduction 
in the estimated useful life of any item of property and 
equipment would increase the recorded operating expenses 
and decrease non-current assets.

(b)  Allocation of costs
The Group enters into arrangements with certain of its 
key suppliers which may include the provision of multiple 
products and services including property and equipment, 
inventories and maintenance and other services across 
a number of reporting periods. Such arrangements may 
include the provision of free of charge assets and incentives 
which enable the Group to obtain further products and 
services at discounted values. Management aggregates, 
where appropriate, such arrangements and allocates the net 
cost of such an aggregation between the multiple products 
and services based on its best estimate of the fair value of 
the individual components. The cost of such components is 
capitalized or expensed according to the relevant accounting 
policy.

counterparties, or using valuation models which also take 
into account subjective measurements such as, cash flow 
estimates or expected volatility of prices.

6.3  Defined benefit obligations 
The cost of defined benefit and the present value of the 
related obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. 
An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions 
which may differ from actual developments in the future. 
These include the determination of the discount rate, future 
salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexity 
of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-
term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive 
to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are 
reviewed at each reporting date.

The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. 
In determining the appropriate discount rate, management 
considers the interest rates of corporate bonds in currencies 
consistent with the currencies of the post-employment 
benefit obligation with at least an “AA” rating or above, as 
set by an internationally acknowledged rating agency, and 
extrapolated as needed along the yield curve to correspond 
with the expected term of the defined benefit obligation. 
The underlying bonds are further reviewed for quality. 
Those having excessive credit spreads are removed from the 
analysis of bonds on which the discount rate is based, on 
the basis that they do not represent high quality bonds.

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality 
tables for the specific countries. Those mortality tables tend 
to change only at intervals in response to demographic 
changes. Future salary increases are based on expected 
future inflation rates for the respective countries.

6.4  Impairment of goodwill
The impairment test on CGUs is carried out by comparing 
the carrying amount of CGUs and their recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of its fair 
value, less costs to sell and its value in use. This complex 
valuation process used to determine fair value less costs to 
sell and/or value in use entails the use of methods such as 
the discounted cash flow method which uses assumptions 
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recognition requirements. IFRS 1 also requires that the 
SOCPA carrying amount of goodwill must be used 
in the opening consolidated statement of financial 
position based on IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements 
issued by SOCPA (apart from adjustments for goodwill 
impairment and recognition or derecognition of 
intangible assets). In accordance with IFRS 1, the Group 
has tested goodwill for impairment at the date of 
transition to IFRS that is endorsed in the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements 
issued by SOCPA. No goodwill impairment was 
deemed necessary at 1 January 2016. 

• The Group has applied the transitional provisions in 
IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’ and capitalizes borrowing 
costs relating to all qualifying assets after the date of 
transition. Similarly, the Group has not restated for 
borrowing costs capitalized under SOCPA on qualifying 
assets prior to the date of transition to IFRS.

Estimates
The estimates at 1 January 2016 and as at 31 December 
2016 are consistent with those made for the same dates in 
accordance with SOCPA (after adjustments to reflect any 
differences in accounting policies) apart from the following 
items:

• End of service benefits
• Provision for decommissioning liability

7  FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS
For all periods up to and including the year ended  
31 December 2016, Etihad Etisalat Company prepared its 
consolidated financial statements based on the generally 
accepted accounting standards promulgated in Saudi Arabia 
by SOCPA.

The Group has prepared these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS that is endorsed in 
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and 
pronouncements issued by SOCPA applicable as at  
31 December 2017, together with the comparative period 
data for the year ended 31 December 2016. In preparing 
consolidated financial statements, the Group’s opening 
consolidated statement of financial position was prepared 
as at 1 January 2016, the Group’s date of transition to IFRS 
that is endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other 
standards and pronouncements issued by SOCPA. This note 
explains the principal adjustments made by Etihad Etisalat 
Company in adjusting its SOCPA consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2016.

IFRS 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from 
the retrospective application of certain requirements under 
IFRS. The following exemptions are ones adopted by the 
Group:

• IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ has not been applied 
to either acquisitions of subsidiaries that are considered 
businesses under IFRS, or acquisitions of interests in 
associates and joint ventures that occurred before 
 1 January 2016. Use of this exemption means that the 
SOCPA’s carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, 
that are required to be recognized under IFRS, is their 
deemed cost at the date of the acquisition. After the 
date of the acquisition, measurement is in accordance 
with IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 
and other standards and pronouncements issued by 
SOCPA. Assets and liabilities that do not qualify for 
recognition under IFRS are excluded from the opening 
consolidated statement of financial position based 
on IFRS. The Group did not recognize or exclude any 
previously recognized amounts as a result of IFRS 

Notes SOCPA
Effect of

 transition
Re-

classification IFRS
Assets
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 7(b) 24,466,197 93,411 (533) 24,559,075
Intangible assets 8,026,213 - 1,467,398 9,493,611
Goodwill 1,466,865 - (1,466,865) -
Capital advances 982,048 - - 982,048
Available for sale investments 19,003 (11,732) - 7,271
Total non-current assets 34,960,326 81,679 - 35,042,005
Current assets
Inventories 485,859 - - 485,859
Accounts receivable 3,424,090 - - 3,424,090
Due from a related party 36,508 - - 36,508
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,722,022 - (57,480) 1,664,542
Held to maturity investments 1,250,000 - - 1,250,000
Cash and cash equivalents 497,570 - - 497,570
Total current assets 7,416,049 - (57,480) 7,358,569
Total assets 42,376,375 81,679 (57,480) 42,400,574
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 7,700,000 - - 7,700,000
Statutory reserve 2,648,971 - - 2,648,971
Retained earnings 5,210,295 (378,848) - 4,831,447
Foreign currency translation reserve - - (8,168) (8,168)
Total shareholders’ equity 15,559,266 (378,848) (8,168) 15,172,250
Non-controlling interest 1,500 - - 1,500
Total Equity 15,560,766 (378,848) (8,168) 15,173,750
Non-current liabilities
Loans and notes payable 8,508,553 - - 8,508,553
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 7(a) 239,854 66,194 - 306,048
Deferred government grants income 7(d) - 179,295 (57,308) 121,987
Provision for decommissioning liability 7(b) - 196,448 - 196,448
Total non-current liabilities 8,748,407 441,937 (57,308) 9,133,036
Current liabilities
Loans and notes payable 5,766,262 - - 5,766,262
Accounts payable 6,535,866 - - 6,535,866
Due to related parties 210,970 - - 210,970
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 5,476,393 - (1,114,975) 4,361,418
Provisions - - 1,122,971 1,122,971
Zakat provision 77,711 - - 77,711
Deferred government grants income 7(d) - 18,590 - 18,590
Total current liabilities 18,067,202 18,590 7,996 18,093,788
Total liabilities 26,815,609 460,527 (49,312) 27,226,824
Total equity and liabilities 42,376,375 81,679 (57,480) 42,400,574

7.1  Group reconciliation of the consolidated statement of financial position and equity as at 1 January 
2016 (date of transition to IFRS)



Annual Report 201705. Financial Statements

124 125

Notes SOCPA
Effect of

 transition
Re-

classification IFRS
Assets
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 7(b) 24,406,393 89,211 (230) 24,495,374
Intangible assets 7,520,598 - 1,467,095 8,987,693
Goodwill 1,466,865 - (1,466,865) -
Capital advances 893,816 - 1,396 895,212
Available for sale investments 19,003 (11,732) - 7,271
Total non-current assets 34,306,675 77,479 1,396 34,385,550
Current assets
Inventories 200,072 - - 200,072
Accounts receivable 3,701,340 - - 3,701,340
Due from a related party 69,568 - - 69,568
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,698,949 - (95) 1,698,854
Held to maturity investments 350,000 - - 350,000
Cash and cash equivalents 866,109 - - 866,109
Total current assets 6,886,038 - (95) 6,885,943
Total assets 41,192,713 77,479 1,301 41,271,493
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 7,700,000 - - 7,700,000
Statutory reserve 2,648,971 - - 2,648,971
Retained earnings 5,007,315 (392,195) - 4,615,120
Foreign currency translation reserve - - (9,111) (9,111)
Total shareholders’ equity 15,356,286 (392,195) (9,111) 14,954,980
Non-controlling interest 1,500 - - 1,500
Total Equity 15,357,786 (392,195) (9,111) 14,956,480
Non-current liabilities
Loans and notes payable 7,600,851 - - 7,600,851
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 7(a) 281,737 61,005 - 342,742
Deferred revenue - - 89,167 89,167
Deferred government grants income 7(d) - 180,064 - 180,064
Provision for decommissioning liability 7(b) - 209,374 - 209,374
Total non-current liabilities 7,882,588 450,443 89,167 8,422,198
Current liabilities
Loans and notes payable 7,607,902 - - 7,607,902
Accounts payable 4,520,036 - 1,396 4,521,432
Due to related parties 138,420 - - 138,420
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 5,631,463 - (1,238,259) 4,393,204
Provisions - - 1,158,108 1,158,108
Zakat provision 54,518 - - 54,518
Deferred government grants income 7(d) - 19,231 - 19,231
Total current liabilities 17,952,339 19,231 (78,755) 17,892,815
Total liabilities 25,834,927 469,674 10,412 26,315,013
Total equity and liabilities 41,192,713 77,479 1,301 41,271,493

Notes SOCPA
Effect of

 transition
Re-

classification IFRS

Revenue 12,569,397 - - 12,569,397
Cost of sales (5,144,112) - - (5,144,112)
Gross profit 7,425,285 - - 7,425,285
Selling and marketing expenses 7(a) (1,272,775) 2,607 - (1,270,168)
General and administrative expenses 7(a) (2,143,091) 5,272 - (2,137,819)
Depreciation and amortization 7(b) (3,774,673) (7,156) - (3,781,829)
Other income 7(d) - (1,409) 52,616 51,207
Operating profit / (loss) 234,746 (686) 52,616 286,676
Finance expenses 7(b) (556,414) (9,970) - (566,384)
Finance income - - 22,741 22,741
Other income 75,357 - (75,357) -
Loss before zakat (246,311) (10,656) - (256,967)
Zakat 43,331 - - 43,331
Loss for the year (202,980) (10,656) - (213,636)
Loss attributable to:
Owners of the Company (202,980) (10,656) - (213,636)
Non-controlling interest - - - -
Loss for the year (202,980) (10,656) - (213,636)
Loss per share:
Basic and diluted loss per share (in SR) (0.26) (0.02) - (0.28)

7.2  Group reconciliation of the consolidated statement of financial position and equity as at 
31 December 2016

7.3  Group reconciliation of the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 
31 December 2016
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d)  Government grants
Under SOCPA, grant income was recognized when the 
conditions attached to the said grant were fulfilled. 
However, under IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia and other standards and pronouncements issued 
by SOCPA, government grants income shall be recognized 
in consolidated statement of profit or loss on a systematic 
basis, to match them with the related costs for which they 
are intended to compensate. 

a)  Provision for employees’ end of service benefits
Under SOCPA, the Group recognized costs relating to its 
employees’ end of service benefits on an accrual basis. 
Under IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 
and other standards and pronouncements issued by 
SOCPA, costs relating to the employees’ end of service 
benefits are recognized based on an actuarial valuation. 

b)  Provision for decommissioning liability
Under SOCPA, a provision for decommissioning liability 
is not required. However, under IFRS as endorsed in 
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and 
pronouncements issued by SOCPA, the cost of property 
and equipment should also include an initial estimate of 
the costs required to settle the obligation, when an entity 
is obliged to dismantle and remove the related equipment 
and restore the site to its original condition. The present 
value of the said liability is accounted for as a non-current 
liability, is reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate 
for changes in the underlying assumptions. 

c)  Intangible assets
Under SOCPA, there is no guidance in determining whether 
an asset that combines both intangible and tangible 
elements should be treated as property and equipment 
or as an intangible asset. Under IFRS as endorsed in 
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and 
pronouncements issued by SOCPA, an entity uses judgment 
in assessing which element is more significant. For example, 
computer software for a computer-controlled machine that 
cannot operate without that specific computer software is 
treated as an integral part of the related hardware and is 
treated as property and equipment. Similarly, when the 
software is not an integral part of the related hardware, they 
are treated as an intangible asset. 

SOCPA
Effect of

 transition IFRS

Loss for the year (202,980) (10,656) (213,636)
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations - (943) (943)
Net total items that will be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss

- (943) (943)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Actuarial loss on re-measurement of employees’ end of service 
benefits

- (2,691) (2,691)

Net total items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss

- (2,691) (2,691)

Total other comprehensive loss for the year - (3,634) (3,634)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (202,980) (14,290) (217,270)
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (202,980) (14,290) (217,270)
Non-controlling interest - - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year (202,980) (14,290) (217,270)

7.4  Group reconciliation of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 
31 December 2016
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Land Buildings

Leasehold 
improve-

ments

Telecom-
munication 

network 
equipment

Computer 
equipment 

and 
software

Office 
equipment 

and 
furniture Vehicles

Capital 
work in 

progress Total

Cost:

At 1 January 2016 274,710 1,221,544 833,648 33,078,502 4,261,581 499,024 3,046 811,810 40,983,865

Additions - 9,014 12,815 2,143,098 528,463 1,699 - 486,492 3,181,581

Reclassification - (103,666) (7,545) 111,211 - - - - -

Transfers - 39,560 - 408,848 12,103 - - (460,511) -

Disposals - - - - (153) - - - (153)

At 31 December 2016 274,710 1,166,452 838,918 35,741,659 4,801,994 500,723 3,046 837,791 44,165,293

Additions -  12,504  1,630  1,708,788  336,700  2,661 -  175,946  2,238,229 

Reclassification -  (12,981)  -  12,981  -  - -  - -

Transfers -  11,788  -  245,070  10,697  105 - (267,660)  - 

Disposals -  (354)  (959)  (15,963)  (64)  - -  -  (17,340)

At 31 December 2017 274,710  1,177,409  839,589  37,692,535  5,149,327  503,489 3,046  746,077 46,386,182 

Depreciation:

At 1 January 2016 - 143,334 542,517 12,761,854 2,537,782 437,682 1,621 - 16,424,790

Charge for the year - 53,035 69,516 2,552,577 549,531 20,171 430 - 3,245,260

Reclassifications - (3,980) (949) 4,929 - - - - -

Disposals - - - - (131) - - - (131)

At 31 December 2016 - 192,389 611,084 15,319,360 3,087,182 457,853 2,051 - 19,669,919

Charge for the year -  46,019  57,017  2,634,732  544,182  16,840  355 -  3,299,145 

Reclassification -  (585)  (439)  585  283  156  - - - 

Disposals -  (114)  (929)  (10,118)  (62)  -  - -  (11,223)

At 31 December 2017 -  237,709  666,733  17,944,559  3,631,585  474,849  2,406 - 22,957,841 

Net book value:

At 31 December 2017 274,710 939,700 172,856 19,747,976 1,517,742 28,640 640 746,077 23,428,341 

At 31 December 2016 274,710 974,063 227,834 20,422,299 1,714,812 42,870 995 837,791 24,495,374

At 1 January 2016 274,710 1,078,210 291,131 20,316,648 1,723,799 61,342 1,425 811,810 24,559,075

Telecommunication 
services licenses Goodwill

Indefeasible 
Right of Use 

(IRU) Others Total

Cost:
1 January 2016 13,083,795 1,466,865 1,060,030 97,689 15,708,379
Additions - - 30,651 - 30,651
31 December 2016  13,083,795 1,466,865 1,090,681 97,689 15,739,030
Additions - - 30,064 - 30,064
31 December 2017 13,083,795 1,466,865 1,120,745 97,689 15,769,094
Amortization:
1 January 2016 5,842,131 - 275,481 97,156 6,214,768
Charge for the year 454,721 - 81,545 303 536,569
31 December 2016 6,296,852 - 357,026 97,459 6,751,337
Charge for the year 245,145 - 81,835 230 327,210
31 December 2017 6,541,997 - 438,861 97,689 7,078,547
Net book value:
At 31 December 2017 6,541,798 1,466,865 681,884 - 8,690,547
At 31 December 2016 6,786,943 1,466,865 733,655 230 8,987,693
At 1 January 2016 7,241,664 1,466,865 784,549 533 9,493,611

8  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 9  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December
 2017

31 December
 2016

1 January
 2016

Bayanat Al-Oula for Network Services Company 1,466,865 1,466,865 1,466,865

9.1  GOODWILL
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is 
allocated as follows:

determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash 
flow projections from financial budgets covering a five 
years period. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow 
projections is 10% (31 December 2016: 10% and 1 January 
2016: 10%) and cash flows beyond the 5 years period are 
extrapolated using a 1.5% growth rate (31 December 2016: 
1.5% and 1 January 2016: 1.5%). It was concluded that the 
carrying value of the goodwill has not exceeded the value-
in-use. As a result of this analysis, management has not 
recognized any impairment loss.

The Group has tested separately recognized goodwill for 
impairment. The recoverable amount has been determined 
based on value-in-use, using discounted cash flow analysis. 
The cash flow projections are based on approved budget. 
The discount rate used is 10% and terminal value growth 
rate of 1.50%.

The recoverable amount of the CGU as at 31 December 
2017 amounted to SR 17.4 billion (31 December 2016: SR 
16.7 billion and 1 January 2016: SR 12.2 billion) has been 

million) and internal technical salaries amounting to SR 169 
million (31 December 2016: SR 162 million and 1 January 
2016: SR 140 million).

The Group has capitalized borrowing costs during the year 
ended 31 December 2017 amounting to SR 106 million (31 
December 2016: SR 95 million and 1 January 2016: SR 50 
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Terminal growth rate
The growth rate used does not exceed the long term 
average growth rates of the entity. This rate assumed 1.5% 
(31 December 2016: 1.5% and 1 January 2016: 1.5%).

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
The implications of the key assumptions for the recoverable 
amount are discussed below:

Discount rate 
A rise in the pre-tax discount rate beyond 32% (i.e., +22%) 
(31 December 2016: 30% (i.e., +20%) and 1 January 2016: 
22% (i.e., +12%)) in the CGU would result in an impairment 
loss.

Terminal growth rate
Management recognizes that the speed of technological 
changes and the possibility of new entrants can have a 
significant impact on terminal growth rate assumptions. The 
effect of new entrants is not expected to have an adverse 
impact on the forecasts, but could yield a reasonably 
possible alternative to the estimated long-term growth rate 
of 1.5%. A reduction to 0% (31 December 2016: 0% and  
1 January 2016: 0%) in the long-term growth rate would not 
result in an impairment loss.

The cash flow forecasts of capital expenditures are based on 
past experience coupled with additional capital expenditures 
required for roll out of incremental coverage requirements 
and to provide enhanced voice and data services.

Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations
The calculation of value-in-use for telecommunications 
and network equipment are most sensitive to the following 
assumptions:

• Discount rate
• Terminal growth rate

Discount rate
Discount rate represents the current market assessment of 
the risks specific to each cash generating unit and calculation 
is based on the specific circumstances of the Group and its 
operating segments and derived from its weighted average 
cost of capital (WACC). The WACC takes into account both 
debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the 
expected return on investment by the Group’s investors. 
The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing borrowings 
the Group is obliged to service and segment-specific risk is 
incorporated. The pre-tax discount rate used is 10%   
(31 December 2016: 10% and 1 January 2016: 10%).

31 December 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016
Handsets and Customer premises equipment (CPEs) 377,648 482,083 712,284
SIM cards 38,159 32,497 59,975
Prepaid vouchers and scratch cards 7,569 10,285 17,589

423,376 524,865 789,848
Less: provision for inventory obsolescence (282,794) (324,793) (303,989)

140,582 200,072 485,859

The movement of the provision for inventory obsolescence is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Balance at the beginning of the year (324,793) (303,989)
Reversal / (Charge) during the year 8,942 (20,804)
Written off during the year 33,057 -
Balance at the end of the year (282,794) (324,793)

10  INVENTORIES

31 December 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016

Accounts receivable 5,286,293 6,431,214 5,809,870
Less: provision for doubtful debts (1,655,490) (2,729,874) (2,385,780)

3,630,803 3,701,340 3,424,090

The movement of the provision for doubtful debts is as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Balance at the beginning of the year (2,729,874) (2,385,780)
Charge during the year (233,896) (551,692)
Written off during the year 1,308,280 207,598
Balance at the end of the year (1,655,490) (2,729,874)

11  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Relationship

Founding shareholder

Affiliate to Emirates Telecommunication Corporation 

12  RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 
AND BALANCES
During the year, the Group transacted with following related 
parties: 

Party

Emirates Telecommunication Corporation – Etisalat and its 
subsidiaries

Emirates Data Clearing House 

The Group transacted with related parties in ordinary course 
of business. Following are the details of major transactions 
with related parties:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Interconnection services and roaming services rendered 102,338 77,383
Interconnection services and roaming services received 147,491 80,327
Management fees 22,524 36,681
Other management expenses 28,670 63,364
Telecommunication services 4,224 4,488
Other services 2,512 4,380
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the relevant agreements with Emirates Telecommunication 
Corporation. The balances due to and from related parties 
are unsecured and will be settled in cash.

Transactions with key management personnel comprise 
of remunerations to Board of Directors and other senior 
management members who are key management personnel 
of the Group. 

Services rendered to related parties comprise of the 
provision of telecommunication service, interconnection 
services and roaming services by the Group based 
on normal commercial terms. Services received from 
related parties comprise of telecommunication service, 
interconnection services and roaming services to the Group 
based on normal commercial terms. Management fees 
and other management expenses are calculated based on 

15  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016

Cash on hand 1,033 905 936
Cash at banks 1,191,148 865,204 496,634

1,192,181 866,109 497,570

31 December 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016

Prepaid expenses 342,782 376,666 426,623
Accrued revenues 251,444 216,596 356,213
Deferred costs 227,634 178,901 173,983
Advance payments to trade suppliers 78,430 91,024 116,480
Others 558,553 835,667 591,243

1,458,843 1,698,854 1,664,542

13  PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER 
ASSETS

months to one year. Interest income arising from these held 
to maturity investments is reported under finance income in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

14  HELD TO MATURITY INVESTMENTS
Held to maturity investments represent placements in banks 
at different profit rates and with maturities between three 

Balances with related parties 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016

Balance due from 52,419 69,568 36,508
Balance due to 92,590 138,420 210,970

Compensation and benefits to key management personnel

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Short term employee benefits 54,155 43,742
Post-employment benefits 1,884 1,376
Total compensation and benefits to key management personnel 56,039 45,118

16  LOANS AND NOTES PAYABLE

31 December 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016

Loans and notes payable 14,879,672 15,208,753 14,274,815
Less: Current portion (1,410,638) (7,607,902) (5,766,262)
Non-current portion 13,469,034 7,600,851 8,508,553

a)  Maturity profile of loans and notes payable:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016

Less than one year 1,410,638 7,607,902 5,766,262
Between one to five years 8,380,034 6,488,851 8,508,553
Over five years 5,089,000 1,112,000 -

over 7 years maturity. As a result, SR 6 billion has been re-
classified as non-current liabilities compared to 
31 December 2016. All the facilities are appropriately 
classified into current and non-current.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has 
successfully refinanced its maturing obligations under the 
Airtime and Bayanat syndicated facilities amounting to SR 
7.8 billion with a new syndicated facility of SR 7.9 billion 
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b)  The details of loans and notes payable as at 31 December 2017 are as follows:

Lender
Borrowing 
Company Loan nature Borrowing purpose

Date 
issue Currency

Principal 
amount

Utilized 
amount Profit rate Payment terms Period

Current 
portion

Long- term 
portion Total Other terms

Local banks
Syndicated Mobily

Long-term refinancing 
facility agreement 
Sharia’ compliant

Refinancing the maturing obligations 
under Airtime and Bayanat Facilities Q1, 2017 Saudi Riyals Saudi Riyals 

7,889 million
Saudi Riyals 
7,889 million

Murabaha rate is 
based on SIBOR plus 
a fixed profit margin

Scheduled 
installments as per 
loan agreement

7 years Saudi Riyals 
-17 million

Saudi Riyals 
7,803 million

Saudi Riyals 
7,786 million -

Export Credit 
Agency of Finland 
(Finnvera) & 
Swedish Export 
Credit Corporation 
(EKN)

Mobily
Long-term financing 
agreement Sharia’ 
compliant

Acquiring network equipment from 
Nokia Siemens Networks (NSN) and 
Ericsson to upgrade and enhance the 
infrastructure capabilities, introduce 
new technologies, and strengthen the 
Company’s competitiveness in the 
business segment

Q3, 2013 US Dollars

USD 642 
million (Saudi 
Riyals 2.4 
billion)

USD 642 
million (Saudi 
Riyals 2.4 
billion)

Fixed rate per annum Scheduled 
installments 10 years Saudi Riyals 

276 million
Saudi Riyals 
1,105 million

Saudi Riyals 
1,381 million

Utilization period 
of 1.5 years, 
repayment period 
of 8.5 years

Export Credit 
Agency of Finland 
(Finnvera) & 
Swedish Export 
Credit Corporation 
(EKN))

Mobily
Long-term financing 
agreement Sharia’ 
compliant

Acquiring network equipment from 
Nokia Siemens Networks (NSN) and 
Ericsson to upgrade and enhance the 
infrastructure capabilities, introduce 
new technologies, and strengthen the 
Company’s competitiveness in the 
business segment

Q1, 2014 USD Dollars

USD 444 
million (Saudi 
Riyals 1,664 
million)

USD 344 
million (Saudi 
Riyals 1,290 
million)

Fixed rate per annum Scheduled 
installments 10 years Saudi Riyals 

165 million
Saudi Riyals 
1,044 million

Saudi Riyals 
1,209 million

Utilization period 
of 1.5 years, 
repayment period 
of 8.5 years

Saudi Investment 
Bank Mobily

Long-term financing 
agreement Sharia’ 
compliant

Financing the Company’s working 
capital requirements Q1, 2014 Saudi Riyals Saudi Riyals 

1.5 billion
Saudi Riyals 
1.5 billion

Murabaha rate is 
based on SIBOR plus 
a fixed profit margin.

Scheduled 
installments 7.5 years Saudi Riyals 

196 million
Saudi Riyals 
1,011 million

Saudi Riyals 
1,207 million -

CISCO Systems 
International Mobily Vendor financing 

agreement
Acquiring CISCO network equipment 
and software solutions Q1, 2014 US Dollars

USD 135 
million (Saudi 
Riyals 506.8 
million)

USD 93.69 
million (Saudi 
Riyals 351.34 
million)

Fixed rate Semi-annual 
repayments 3 years Saudi Riyals 

39 million
Saudi Riyals 
14 million

Saudi Riyals 
53 million -

Export 
Development of 
Canada (EDC)

Mobily
Long-term financing 
agreement Sharia’ 
compliant

Acquiring a telecommunication 
devices and equipment from Alcatel-
Lucent

Q2, 2014 US Dollars

USD 122 
million (Saudi 
Riyals 458 
million)

USD 101 
million (Saudi 
Riyals 377 
million)

Fixed rate per annum Semi-annual 
repayments

10.5 
years

Saudi Riyals 
41 million

Saudi Riyals 
248 million

Saudi Riyals 
289 million

Utilization period 
of 2 years, 
repayment period 
of 8.5 years

Samba Mobily
Long-term financing 
agreement Sharia’ 
compliant

Financing its working capital 
requirements Q3, 2014 Saudi Riyals Saudi Riyals 

600 million
Saudi Riyals 
600 million

Murabaha rate is 
based on SIBOR plus 
a fixed profit margin

Semi-annual 
scheduled 
installments

7 years Saudi Riyals 
78 million

Saudi Riyals 
327 million

Saudi Riyals
 405 million -

Banque Saudi 
Fransi Mobily

Long-term financing 
agreement Sharia’ 
compliant

Financing its capital expenditures and 
working capital requirements Q3, 2014 Saudi Riyals Saudi Riyals 

500 million
Saudi Riyals 
500 million

Murabaha rate is 
based on SIBOR plus 
a fixed profit margin

Semi-annual 
scheduled 
installments

7 years Saudi Riyals 
50 million

Saudi Riyals 
337 million

Saudi Riyals 
387 million -

Other debts 
(promissory notes 
and discounted 
invoices)

Mobily & 
Bayanat Vendor Financing Vendor financing

Ericson, Huawei, Thales, CCS - Saudi Riyals Saudi Riyals 
1,090 million

Saudi Riyals 
1,090 million - Sporadic 

payments 3 years Saudi Riyals 
485 million

Saudi Riyals 
96 million

Saudi Riyals 
581 million -

Al-Rajhi Bank Mobily
Mid-term financing 
agreement Sharia’ 
compliant

Financing its capital expenditures and 
working capital requirements Q1, 2016 Saudi Riyals Saudi Riyals 

400 million
Saudi Riyals 
400 million

Murabaha rate is 
based on SIBOR plus 
a fixed profit margin

Scheduled 
payments 3.5 years Saudi Riyals 

99 million
Saudi Riyals 
200 million

Saudi Riyals 
299 million -

Alinma Bank Mobily
Long-term financing 
agreement Sharia’ 
compliant

Financing its capital expenditures and 
working capital requirements Q4, 2016 Saudi Riyals Saudi Riyals 

2,000 million
Saudi Riyals 
1,300 million

Murabaha rate is 
based on SIBOR plus 
a fixed profit margin

Scheduled 
installments 10 years Saudi Riyals

-2 million
Saudi Riyals 
1,284 million

Saudi Riyals 
1,282 million -

Total
Saudi 
Riyals 1,410 
million

Saudi Riyals 
13,469 
million

Saudi Riyals 
14,879
million
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c)  Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities;

Loans and notes 
payable

Non-controlling 
interest Total

Balance as 1 January 2017 15,208,753 1,500 15,210,253
Changes from financing activities
Proceeds from loans and notes payable  9,270,506 -  9,270,506 
Payment of loans and notes payable  (9,559,722) -  (9,559,722)
Non-controlling interest - (1,500) (1,500)
Total changes from financing activities  (289,216) (1,500)  (290,716)
Other changes
Finance expenses  678,443 -  678,443 
Unwind of discount  (9,905) -  (9,905)
Finance expenses paid  (652,573) -  (652,573)
Capitalized borrowing cost  105,560 -  105,560 
Payment of upfront fees  (145,480) -  (145,480)
Accrued interest payable movement  (15,910) -  (15,910)
Total liability related to other changes  (39,865) -  (39,865)
Balance as 31 December 2017 14,879,672 - 14,879,672

17  PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEES’ END OF 
SERVICE BENEFITS
The Group has a post-employment defined benefit plan. 
The benefits are required by Saudi Labor and Workman 
Law. The benefit is based on employees’ final salaries and 
allowances and their cumulative years of service, as stated 
in the laws of Saudi Arabia. 

The following table summarizes the components of the net 
benefit expense recognized in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income and amounts recognized in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

Net expense recognized in consolidated statement of profit 
or loss:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Service cost 47,482 44,035
Interest cost 13,461 14,007

60,943 58,042

Movement of provision for employees’ end of service 
benefits recognized in the consolidated statement of 
financial position is as follows:

31 December
 2017

31 December
 2016

Balance at the beginning 
of the year 342,742 306,048

Charge recognized in 
consolidated statement of 
profit or loss

60,943 58,042

Actuarial (gain) /
loss recognized in the 
consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income

(5,604) 2,691

Benefits paid (18,669) (24,039)
Balance at the end of 
the year 379,412           342,742

Significant assumptions used in determining the provision 
for employees’ end of service benefits includes the 
following: 

Reasonably possible change to one of the relevant actuarial 
assumptions holding other assumptions constant would 
have effected the provision for employees’ end of service 
benefits by the following amounts:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Discount rate 4.3% 4.6%
Future salary increase rate 2% 2%
Death while in service 0% 0%
Withdrawal before normal retirement life 5% 8%

Sensitivity Level      31 December 2017     31 December 2016

Increase of 1% Decrease of 1% Increase of 1% Decrease of 1%

Discount rate (39,878) 47,948 (38,620) 45,800
Future salary increase rate 3,593 (3,206) 3,922 (2,326)

The sensitivity analysis above may not be representative of 
an actual change in provision for employees’ end of service 
benefits as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions would 
occur in isolation of one another.

At 31 December 2017, the weighted-average duration of the 
defined benefit plan was 13.95 years (2016: 14.53 years).

18  DEFERRED GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
INCOME
The Group benefited from certain subsidies by 
Communication and Information Technology Commission 
under Universal Service Fund service agreement. These 
subsidies were conditional on implementation of network 
services in the mandatory service locations. They were 
initially recognized as deferred government grants income 
and are being amortized over the useful life of the 
underlying network assets. 

19  PROVISION FOR DECOMISSIONING 
LIABILITY

31 December
 2017

31 December
 2016

Balance at the beginning 
of the year 209,374 196,448

Additions during the year 3,030 2,956
Unwind of discount 9,905 9,970
Utilization during the year (791) -
Balance at the end of 
the year 221,518 209,374
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31 December 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016

Capital expenditure payable 1,995,283 2,204,310 4,781,845
Trade accounts payable 2,812,719 2,317,122 1,754,021

4,808,002 4,521,432 6,535,866

20  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

31 December 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016

Deferred revenues 1,726,522 1,535,757 1,323,753
Accrued telecommunication expenses 856,049 882,779 887,178
Accrued services and maintenance expenses 327,160 429,165 482,748
Accrued selling and marketing expenses 435,043 412,763 544,428
Others 995,520 1,132,740 1,123,311

4,340,294 4,393,204 4,361,418

21  ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER 
LIABILITIES

22  ZAKAT PROVISION
The Group is subject to zakat according to the regulations 
of the General Authority of Zakat and Tax (GAZT) in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Group files its zakat returns 
on a consolidated basis, starting from the financial year 
ended 31 December 2009 and thereafter, where it includes 
the Company and its subsidiaries due to the fact that the 
Group is one economic entity wholly owned and managed 
by the Company. 

The Group has filed its zakat returns with GAZT for the 
years through 2016 and settled its zakat thereon. During 
the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group submitted 
adjusted zakat returns for the years 2013 and 2014, 
as a result of restatement of the consolidated financial 
statements for the said years.

The Group has finalized its zakat status and obtained 
the final zakat assessments for the years until 2006. The 
Group has received zakat assessments for the years 2007 
through 2011 that showed additional zakat and withholding 
tax assessments of SR 317 million and SR 237 million 
respectively, which have been appealed by the Group at the 
Preliminary and Higher Appeal Committees. During the year 
ended 31 December 2016, The Appeal Committee issued 
its ruling on certain zakat and withholding tax matters and 
those rulings issued against the Group have been appealed 
at the Higher Appeal Committee. Management believes that 
it has sufficient grounds to contest the matters included in 
the assessments and the eventual outcome of the appeal 
process will not result in any significant liability.

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Loss before zakat (647,531) (246,311)
Depreciation - (719,949)
Provisions (1,028,657) 442,570
Adjusted net loss for the year (1,676,188) (523,690)

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Balance at the beginning of the year 54,518 77,711
Charge during the year* 61,410 53,932
Payments during the year (67,050) (77,125)
Balance at the end of the year 48,878 54,518

Note 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Adjusted net loss for the year 22.1 (1,676,188) (523,690)
Shareholders’ equity at beginning of the year 14,964,091 15,559,266
Provisions at beginning of the year 4,763,820 4,031,320
Loans and notes payable 14,879,672 15,208,754
Other additions 1,995,283 2,204,311
Property and equipment and intangible assets (32,118,888) (32,582,125)
Other deductions (867,175) (1,731,606)
Total zakat base 1,940,615 2,166,230

Zakat is payable at 2.5 percent of zakat base.

22.1  CALCULATION OF ADJUSTED NET LOSS

22.3  PROVISION FOR ZAKAT

22.2   ZAKAT BASE CALCULATION
The significant components of the zakat base under zakat 
regulations are principally comprised of the following:

*Zakat charge for the year 2016 includes an amount of 
SR 97.2 million, which represents partial reversal of the 
excess zakat paid to GAZT as a result of the restatement of 

consolidated financial statements for the years 2013 and 
2014. The Company has submitted revised zakat returns for 
the said years during 2016.
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where appropriate, places any excess cash on short-term 
investments with reputable financial institutions.

Accounts receivable
The Group has established a credit policy under which 
credit assessment is being made to check the credit 
worthiness of major customers prior to signing the contract/
accepting their purchase order.

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past 
due nor impaired are being assessed by reference to 
customers with appropriate and strong credit history, with 
minimal account defaults and where the receivables are 
fully recovered in the past. The Group recognizes provision 
for impairment of accounts receivable that are assessed 
to have a significant probability of becoming uncollectible 
and considering historical write-offs. Credit and Collection 
Operations provide inputs on the aging of financial assets 
on a periodic basis.

The Group has two major customers representing 29% of 
total accounts receivable as at 31 December 2017  
(31 December 2016: 31% and 1 January 2016: 34%). The 
rest of the balances do not have significant concentration 
of credit risk, with exposure spread over large number of 
counterparties and customers.

As at 31 December, the age analysis of net accounts 
receivable is as follows:

23.3  RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use 
of financial instruments:

• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk

Risk management is carried out by senior management 
under policies approved by the Board of Directors. Senior 
management identifies, evaluates and hedges when 
appropriate, financial risks in close co-operation with the 
Group’s operating units.

23.3.1  CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a 
customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. The Group is exposed 
to credit risk principally from Cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts receivable, due from a related party and held to 
maturity investments.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the 
maximum credit exposure.

Cash and cash equivalents and held to maturity 
investments
Cash and cash equivalents and held to maturity 
investments are held with counterparties with sound credit 
ratings. The Group regularly updates its cash flow and, 

31 December
 2017

31 December
 2016

1 January
 2016

Financial assets at fair value:
Available for sale investments - unquoted equity shares 7,271 7,271 7,271
Total financial assets at fair value 7,271 7,271 7,271
Financial assets at amortized cost:
Accounts receivables 3,630,803 3,701,340 3,424,090
Due from a related party 52,419 69,568 36,508
Held to maturity investments 1,000,000 350,000 1,250,000
Cash and cash equivalents 1,192,181 866,109 497,570
Total financial assets at amortized cost 5,875,403 4,987,017 5,208,168
Total financial assets 5,882,674 4,994,288 5,215,439
Current financial assets 5,875,403 4,987,017 5,208,168
Non-current financial assets 7,271 7,271 7,271
Total financial assets 5,882,674 4,994,288 5,215,439

23  FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

23.1  FINANCIAL ASSETS

31 December
 2017

31 December
 2016

1 January
 2016

Financial liabilities at amortized cost:
Loans and notes payable 14,879,672 15,208,753 14,274,815
Accounts payable 4,808,002 4,521,432 6,535,866
Due to related parties 92,590 138,420 210,970
Total financial liabilities at amortized cost 19,780,264 19,868,605 21,021,651
Current financial liabilities 6,311,230 12,267,754 12,513,098
Non-current financial liabilities 13,469,034 7,600,851 8,508,553
Total financial liabilities 19,780,264 19,868,605 21,021,651

23.2  FINANCIAL LIABILTIIES

31 December
 2017

31 December
 2016

1 January
 2016

Current 576,791 688,293 355,096
Within two months 552,506 504,716 430,196
From two months to three months 168,925 156,827 119,765
More than three months 2,332,581 2,351,504 2,519,033

3,630,803 3,701,340 3,424,090

Available for sale investments - unquoted equity 
shares
Available for sale investments include unlisted securities 
amounting to SR 7.3 million (31 December 2016:   

SR 7.3 million and 1 January 2016: SR 7.3 million) carried 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses due to absence 
of an active market for the equity securities.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at amortized cost are not significantly different 
from their carrying amounts.
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Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 
rates. The Group’s transactions are principally in Saudi 
Riyals and US Dollars. The Saudi Riyal is pegged to the US 
Dollar.

The management closely and continuously monitors the 
exchange rate fluctuations. Based on its experience and 
market feedback, the management does not believe it is 
necessary to hedge the effect of foreign exchange risks as 
most of the transactions of foreign currency risk is relatively 
limited in the medium term. 

Profit rates risk
Profit rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market profit rates. The Group’s exposure to 
market risk for changes in profit rates relates primarily to 
the Group’s borrowings which were re-acquired to finance 
working capital requirements and capital expenditure. These 
borrowings are re-priced on a periodic basis and expose the 
Group to profit rate risk. The Group’s practice is to manage 
its financing cost through optimizing available cash and 
minimizing borrowings. 

24  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so 
as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and 
to sustain future development of the business. 

The Group monitors its capital base using a ratio of Net 
debt to Equity. Net debt is calculated as loans and notes 
payable less cash and cash equivalents and held to maturity 
investments.

funds, present and future commitments, operating and 
capital expenditure. Moreover, the Group monitors the 
actual cash flows and seeks to match the maturity dates of 
its financial assets and its financial liabilities.

The Group seeks continuously to comply with its legal 
obligations, including any, relating to its financing 
agreements.

The following represents the maturities of financial liabilities 
at the reporting date based on undiscounted contractual 
cash flows:

holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market 
risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing 
the return.

23.3.2  LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter 
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another 
financial asset. The Group’s approach in managing liquidity 
is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
Group’s reputation.

The management closely and continuously monitors the 
liquidity risk by performing regular review of available 

23.3.3  MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices 
such as foreign exchange rates, profit rates and equity 
prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its 

Less than
 one year

1 to 5
years

More than
 5 years

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

Carrying 
amount

At 31 December 2017
Loans and notes payable 2,201,319 10,321,059 5,799,298 18,321,676 14,879,672
Accounts payable 4,808,002 - - 4,808,002 4,808,002
Due to related parties 92,590 - - 92,590 92,590

7,101,911 10,321,059 5,799,298 23,222,268 19,780,264
At 31 December 2016
Loans and notes payable 10,219,011 7,047,740 1,918,157 19,184,908 15,208,753
Accounts payable 4,521,432 - - 4,521,432 4,521,432
Due to related parties 138,420 - - 138,420 138,420

14,878,863 7,047,740 1,918,157 23,844,760 19,868,605
At 1 January 2016
Loans and notes payable 6,282,150 11,609,149 - 17,891,299 14,274,815
Accounts payable 6,535,866 - - 6,535,866 6,535,866
Due to related parties 210,970 - - 210,970 210,970

13,028,986 11,609,149 - 24,638,135 21,021,651

The Group’s Net debt to Equity ratio at the end of the year 
are as follows: 

31 December
 2017

31 December
 2016

Loans and notes payable 14,879,672 15,208,753
Less: Cash and cash 
equivalents and held to 
maturity investments

(2,192,181) (1,216,109)

Net debt 12,687,491 13,992,644
Total equity 14,253,837 14,956,480
Net debt to Equity 0.89 0.94

25  STATUTORY RESERVE
In accordance with the Company’s By-Laws, the Company 
establishes at every financial year end a statutory reserve by 
the appropriation of 10% of the annual net income until the 
reserve equals 50% of the share capital. This reserve is not 
available for dividend distribution.

26  REVENUE

31 December
 2017

31 December
 2016

Usage 8,457,420 9,875,340
Activation and 
subscription fees 2,115,410 1,868,497

Others 778,471 825,560
11,351,301 12,569,397
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27  COST OF SALES

Note
31 December

 2017
31 December

 2016

Network access charges 1,666,480  2,036,157 
Rental and maintenance of network equipment expenses 1,333,061  1,170,272 
Cost of utilized inventories 626,430  682,578
Government contribution fees in trade earnings 679,395  709,731 
Frequency wave fees 154,019  142,291 
National transmission and interconnection costs 110,277  126,286 
License fees 49,339  51,561 
Provision for inventory obsolescence 10 (8,942)  20,804 
Others 210,935  204,432

4,820,994 5,144,112

30  FINANCE EXPENSES

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Financing cost 668,538 556,414
Unwind of discount 9,905 9,970

678,443 566,384

28  SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

31 December
 2017

31 December
 2016

Advertisement, promotion and sales commissions 466,500  592,527 
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 687,573  607,711 
Flagships rental expenses 80,030  69,930 

1,234,103  1,270,168 

29  GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Note
31 December

 2017
31 December

 2016

Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits 638,354 773,727
Provision for doubtful debts 11 233,896 551,692 
Maintenance 333,722 328,171 
Rentals 86,701 104,977 
Consulting and professional services 79,753 93,434
Management fees 22,524 36,681 
Travel and transportation 16,318 17,130 
Board of Directors’ remunerations and allowances 5,050 (649)
Others 267,450 232,656

1,683,768 2,137,819

32  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

32.1  Commitments

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee
The Group has entered into various commercial leases. The 
lease terms are between three and ten years. 

Future minimum rentals payable are as follows:

31 December
 2017

31 December
 2016

1 January
 2016

Within one year  706,719  784,891 840,378
After one year but not more than five years  890,488  1,126,405 1,362,323
More than five years  233,984  354,537 475,089

31  BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER 
SHARE
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss for the 
year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year.

The diluted loss per share is same as the basic loss per 
share as the Group does not have any dilutive instruments 
in issue.

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Loss for the year (708,941) (213,636)
Weighted average number of shares 770,000 770,000
Basic and diluted loss per share (in SR) (0.92) (0.28)
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Operating lease commitments – Group as lessor
The Group has entered into various commercial leases. 
These leases have remaining terms of between 1 month and 
15 years. 
 
Future minimum rentals receivable are as follows:

Capital commitments
The Group has capital commitments resulting from 
contracts for supply of property and equipment, which 
were entered into and not yet executed at the consolidated 
statement of financial position date in the amount of SR 
1.97 billion as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016:  
SR 2.4 billion and 1 January 2016: SR 4.5 billion). 

As a result of frequencies auction held by CITC, the 
Company has been notified that CITC intends to allocate 
2x5 MHz block after the Company meets the allocation 
requirements and pays the consideration for using the 
frequencies. 

Once the conditions attached to the auction and the 
procedures of granting licenses is completed the license 
to use frequencies will be granted to the Company. The 
Company will incur a cost of approximately SR 422 
million to acquire the right of using these frequencies, 30% 
of which has been paid on 10 September 2017 and the 
remaining 70% will be paid in equal annual installments 
over a 10 years period.

32.2  Contingent liabilities
The Group had contingent liabilities in the form of letters of 
guarantee and letters of credit amounting to SR 717 million 
as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: SR 658 million 
and 1 January 2016: SR 427 million).

The CITC’s violation committee has issued several penalty 
resolutions against the Group which the Group has opposed 
to in accordance with the Telecom regulations. The reasons 

no legal basis, they may have a material impact on the 
Company’s business in case of retroactive change in the 
regulatory framework which is difficult to assess.

The Group received additional claims from CITC during 
the year ended 31 December 2017 and has reassessed the 
provisions required against the claims as at 31 December 
2017 and has recorded an appropriate estimate of the 
amount that it may ultimately have to pay to settle such 
claims.

The Group is subject to litigations in the normal course of 
business. Management and Board of Directors believe that it 
has adequate and sufficient provisions based on the status 
of these litigations as of 31 December 2017. 

Furthermore, there are 176 lawsuits filed by some of the 
shareholders against the Group before the Committee 
for the Resolutions of Security Disputes and still being 
adjudicated by such committee. The Company has received 
2 preliminary verdicts and 141 final verdicts in its favor in 
these lawsuits and 13 cases have been either dismissed or 
abandoned and 20 cases are on-going as of 31 December 
2017.

of issuing these resolutions vary between the manner 
followed in issuing prepaid SIM Cards and providing 
promotions that have not been approved by CITC and/or 
other reasons.

Multiple lawsuits were filed by the Group against CITC 
at the Board of Grievances in order to oppose to such 
resolutions of the CITC’s violation committee in accordance 
with the Telecom regulations, as follows:

• There are (635) lawsuits filed by the Group against 
CITC amounting to SR 672 million as of 31 December 
2017.

• The Board of Grievance has issued (163) verdicts in 
favor of the Group voiding (163) resolutions of the 
CITC’s violation committee with a total penalties 
amounting to SR 467 million as of 31 December 2017.

• Some of these preliminary verdicts have become 
conclusive (after they were affirmed by the appeal 
court) cancelling penalties with a total amounting to  
SR 432 million as of 31 December 2017. 

In addition, 23 legal cases were filed by the Group against 
CITC in relation to the mechanism of calculating the 
governmental fees and other subjects in which (16) of them 
are specifically related to the governmental fees as of 
31 December 2017, out of which the Group received eight 
preliminary judgments and five final judgments in its favor. 
The remaining cases are still being adjudicated before the 
Board of Grievance. It is difficult to determine the amount 
of claims due to the difference in the calculation method. 
Although the Company believes that these claims have 

33  SEGMENT INFORMATION
Information regarding the Group’s operating segments is set 
out below in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments. 
IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the 
basis of internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the 
Group’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) and used 
to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their 
performance.

The Group is engaged in a single line of business, being 
the supply of telecommunications services and related 
products. The majority of the Group’s revenues, profits and 
assets relate to its operations in Saudi Arabia. The operating 
segments that are regularly reported to the CODM are 
Consumer, Business, Wholesale and Outsourcing.

The CODM used to receive other operational financial 
aggregates on a consolidated level. This is the measure 
reported to the Group’s Board of Directors for the 
purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment 
performance.

31 December
 2017

31 December
 2016

1 January
 2016

Within one year 877,624 773,466 601,615

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Consumer revenues 9,459,888 10,449,734
Business revenues 1,124,623 1,357,505
Wholesale revenues 676,982 696,565
Outsourcing revenues 89,808 65,593
Total revenue 11,351,301 12,569,397
Total cost of sales (4,820,994) (5,144,112)
Total operating expense (2,884,681) (3,356,780)
Depreciation and amortization (3,626,355) (3,781,829)
Total non-operating expense (666,802) (543,643)
Capital expenditures 2,268,293 3,212,232
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